PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

On Turkey's Missile Defense Strategy: The Four Faces of the S-400 Deal between Turkey and Russia **Mustafa KİBAROĞLU**

Understanding the Distinguishing Features of Post-Westphalian Diplomacy **Ebru OĞURLU**

Delinking the Migration-Terrorism Nexus: Strategies for the De-Securitization of Migration Suna Gülfer IHLAMUR-ÖNER

Contextualizing Peace-Building Environments from a Sustainability Perspective: Findings of a Pilot Study in North Macedonia Selver B. ŞAHİN & Levent OZAN

Humanitarian NGOs: Motivations, Challenges and Contributions to Turkish Foreign Policy Hakan MEHMETCİK

Book Review



stratejik araştırmalar merkezi center for strategic research

Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Dışişleri Bakanlığı Republic of Turkey Ministry of Foreign Affairs Autumn-Winter 2019 Volume XXIV Number 2-3 ISSN 1300-8641

PERCEPTIONS

Editor

Emre Erşen

Managing Editor

Mehmet Zeki Günay

English Language and Copy Editor

Erin Menut

Book Review Editor

Mehmet Zeki Günay

International Advisory Board

Ahmet Içduygu	Maria Todorova
Ali Resul Usul	Mesut Özcan
Burhanettin Duran	Murat Yeşiltaş
David Chandler	Mustafa Kibaroğlu
Ekrem Karakoç	Nuri Yurdusev
Ersel Aydınlı	Oktay F. Tanrısever
Gülnur Aybet	Ole Wæver
Ibrahim Fraihat	Özden Zeynep Oktav
Jaap De Wilde	Richard Whitman
Jang Ji Hyang	Talha Köse
Kemal İnat	Thomas Risse
Lee Hee Soo	Ufuk Ulutaş

Homepage: http://www.sam.gov.tr

The Center for Strategic Research (Stratejik Araştırmalar Merkezi- SAM) conducts research on Turkish foreign policy, regional studies and international relations, and makes scholarly and scientific assessments of relevant issues. It is a consultative body of the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs providing strategic insights, independent data and analysis to decision makers in government. As a nonprofit organization, SAM is chartered by law and has been active since May 1995.

SAM publishes Perceptions, an English language journal on foreign affairs. The content of the journal ranges from security and democracy to conflict resolution, and international challenges and opportunities. Perceptions is a bi-annual journal prepared by a large network of affiliated scholars. The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Center for Strategic Research.

PERCEPTIONS is a peer-reviewed journal and is included in the following databases and indexes: Columbia International Affairs Online, CSA Index, Current Contents of Periodicals on the Middle East, EBSCO, European Sources Online, Index Islamicus, International Political Science Abstracts (IPSA), Lancaster Index to Defense & International Security Literature, PAIS Index, Pro Quest.

To subscribe, write to the Center for Strategic Research, Dr. Sadık Ahmet Caddesi No: 8, Balgat / 06100

Ankara - TURKEY Phone: +90 (312) 292 22 30 Fax: +90 (312) 292 27 15 - 253 42 03 e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr ♥@sam_mfa Printed in Ankara by: KLASMAT Matbaacılık

> Printed in Ankara, December 2019 ISSN 1300-8641 e-ISSN: 2651-3315

PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS Autumn-Winter 2019 Volume XXIV Number 2-3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMMENTARY

159 On Turkey's Missile Defense Strategy: The Four Faces of the S-400 Deal between Turkey and Russia

Mustafa KİBAROĞLU

ARTICLES

175 Understanding the Distinguishing Features of Post-Westphalian Diplomacy

Ebru OĞURLU

195 Delinking the Migration-Terrorism Nexus: Strategies for the De-Securitization of Migration

Suna Gülfer IHLAMUR-ÖNER

225 Contextualizing Peace-Building Environments from a Sustainability Perspective: Findings of a Pilot Study in North Macedonia

Selver B. ŞAHİN & Levent OZAN

249 Humanitarian NGOs: Motivations, Challenges and Contributions to Turkish Foreign Policy

Hakan MEHMETCİK

BOOK REVIEW

279 Russia-EU Relations and the Common Neighborhood: Coercion vs. Authority



PERCEPTIONS - AUTUMN-WINTER 2019

The information and views set out in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of the Center for Strategic Research (SAM) and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Turkey.

COMMENTARY

On Turkey's Missile Defense Strategy: The Four Faces of the S-400 Deal between Turkey and Russia

Mustafa KİBAROĞLU*

Abstract

The S-400 deal signed between Turkey and Russia has sparked an intense debate in the international arena, where harsh criticisms have been leveled against Turkey. This paper explains the reasons behind Turkey's desire to build an elaborate air defense structure, and discuss how and why its successive attempts to reach this objective in collaboration with the allied countries have failed. It highlights the major arguments behind the severe criticisms in the West concerning Turkey's negotiations, first with a Chinese firm, and then with a Russian firm, and how this entire process has become a serious bone of contention between Turkey and the U.S., carrying a risk of a spill over into NATO. It also discusses why and how the severe sanctions threatened to be imposed on Turkish defense industries by the Trump administration will indeed damage the security and the defensive capability not only of Turkey, but also the U.S.

Keywords

Turkish foreign policy, S-400, missile defense, Russia, NATO.

Introduction

The S-400 deal signed between Turkey and Russia concerning the sale of four battalions of sophisticated Russian air defense systems, worth 2.5 billion U.S.

Received on: 09.03.2019 Accepted on: 17.06.2019

^{*} Prof., MEF University, Department of International Relations, Istanbul, Turkey. E-mail: mustafa. kibaroglu@mef.edu.tr. This is an edited version of the article that was first published as part of *SAM Papers* series (No. 16, April 2019). See http://sam.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/SAM-Papers-No.-16.pdf.

dollars, sparked yet another round of stiff debate in the international arena, where harsh criticisms have been leveled against Turkey mainly from the ranks of its NATO allies.

A number of issues have been raised in these criticisms, extending from whether Turkey needs to spend billions of dollars on buying an air defense system whose effectiveness has not yet been entirely proven across a spectrum of air-borne threats, to how Turkey's longstanding alliance relationship with the U.S. and its status in NATO as a prominent ally might be severely damaged due to the country's increasing degree of rapprochement with Russia, whose foreign and security policies toward the West constitute major challenges for the Alliance and to the rules-based system that has been put in place since the end of the Cold War.¹

Hence, this paper will, first of all, discuss the fundamental issues that have come to the fore, prior to and during the debate, by focusing particularly on the four faces of the controversial S-400 deal that was signed and sealed between Turkey and Russia. In this context, the paper will first highlight the reasons behind Turkish authorities' desire to build an elaborate air defense structure in the post-Cold War era, and then discuss how and why their successive attempts to reach this objective in collaboration with the allied countries have failed.

Second, the major arguments behind the harsh criticisms leveled against Turkey's negotiations for purchasing an air defense system, first from a Chinese firm, and then a Russian firm, and how this entire process has become a serious bone of contention between Turkey and its NATO allies, in particular the U.S. will be discussed.

Third, the impact of Turkey's acquisition of S-400 from Russia on its medium to long-term objectives to build an effective air defense architecture will be discussed under the shadow of the threatening statements pronounced by leading civil and military figures in the Trump administration, hinting at severe military and economic sanctions to be imposed on Turkey.

Fourth, the positive spin of the intense debate on the S-400 deal that has apparently become a politically motivating factor for Turks, particularly those from the younger generation, toward joining the defense industries sector will be elaborated.

Finally, the paper will conclude with remarks and recommendations with a view to finding a breakthrough in the strained relations between Turkey and its allies that resulted from its decision to buy the Russian S-400 air defense system.

Turkey's Strategic Environment and its Quest for Air Defense Capability

Due to its geographical location in the vicinity of the most volatile regions of the world, the deployment of an advanced air defense system against the threat posed by the missile and aircraft capabilities in the arsenals of a number of surrounding countries has become an urgent necessity for Turkey.²

The existing air defense systems in the country, such as the Stingers, Rapiers and the Hawks, not only have Due to its geographical location in the vicinity of the most volatile regions of the world, the deployment of an advanced air defense system against the threat posed by the missile and aircraft capabilities in the arsenals of a number of surrounding countries has become an urgent necessity for Turkey.

limited ranges (i.e. short and medium), but also limited lifespans. They are aging fast. Turkey's Nike Hercules missiles, which were deployed around the city of Istanbul during the Cold War years, have relatively longer ranges of about 140 km, but they cannot be relied upon any more, and many have been sent to retirement already.

Hence, it wouldn't be wrong to argue that Turkey's airspace is not being protected by proper land-based air defense systems, nor is the vast territory of 783,562 km² beneath it, where 82 million Turks live in their homeland.

In lieu of an effective land-based system, Turkey's airspace is patrolled by Turkish Air Force units consisting of F-16 fighter aircraft, which carry airto-air missiles, as well as early warning (i.e., AWACS) and refueling (Aerial Tanker) aircraft, with a view to achieving active protection against potential missile attacks and violations of Turkish airspace by enemy aircraft. This is by no means an acceptable situation from Turkey's standpoint for two reasons: First, the cutting edge technologies used in the land-based anti-ballistic missile defense systems are far more capable of engaging enemy missiles and aircraft while they are still hundreds of kilometers away from the homeland, and they are also much more reliable in eliminating them before they get danTurkey's desire back in the late 1990s was to have a share in the development of the ballistic missile defense technology, a proposal that was not warmly welcomed by the U.S. gerously close to the strategic assets in the country. Second, military aircraft in the inventory of the Turkish Air Force, such as F16s, which have to fly much longer hours due to airspace patrolling and protection missions than they would normally

do during periods of stable relations with neighbors, run the risk of aging more rapidly as a result of metal fatigue. The excessive stress load on the pilots is also a factor, although a certain proportion of these patrolling missions are being carried out by unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV), which have entered the Turkish Air Force inventory recently.³ Although the use of drones may reduce the strain on personnel, UAVs are far less effective than a land-based system would be. Turkey is therefore in dire need of deploying a proper air defense structure that would provide consistent coverage all over the country in order to meet the fundamental requirements of being a sovereign state, as well as protecting its population and its territorial integrity in a rather hostile environment.⁴

This issue has long been on the agenda of Turkish politicians, diplomats, and military personnel who have conducted a series of negotiations with their American counterparts since the temporary deployment of the U.S. "Patriot" air defense system in Turkey's southeast during the first Iraq war in 1991.⁵ Since then, Turkish authorities have been more than willing to deploy these elaborate air defense systems permanently in Turkey, especially in regions neighboring the Middle East. Despite the extended negotiations, however, no consensus could be found in order to go ahead with a joint project. Turkey's desire back in the late 1990s was to have a share in the development of the ballistic missile defense technology, a proposal that was not warmly welcomed by the U.S.⁶

A similar situation occurred in the triangular relations among Turkey, the U.S. and Israel with respect to cooperation on the development and deployment of the "Arrow-II" air defense system, which has never been realized. While the Americans put the blame on the Israelis as being the ones who did not want to share this new and sensitive technology with Turkey, Israelis pronounced almost exactly the same views regarding the attitude of their American counterparts.⁷ All in all, the project was shelved from the perspective of Turkey.⁸

Turkey's quest to develop an elaborate air defense capacity nevertheless continued during the second half of the 2000s, as Ankara widened the scope of potential suppliers to include new countries, such as China, Russia, and NATO allies France and Italy. Turkey issued a call in 2009 for the procurement of a "Long-range Air and Missile Defense System," dubbed T-LORA-MIDS, and collected offers in 2010.⁹ The U.S. firms Raytheon and Lockheed Martin responded to the call with Patriots, while the Chinese firm CPMIEC made its offer with FD-2000 (the export version of HQ-9), and the Russian firm Rosoboroneksport offered S-400. Later, the Franco-Italian consortium Eurosam offered SAMP/T.¹⁰

While the bid was still in the evaluation phase on the side of the Turkish authorities, the year 2010 was also critical in terms of developments in NATO air defense. During the Lisbon summit of the Alliance in November of that year, it was announced that the Ballistic Missile Defense (BMD) project that the U.S. had been developing for a couple of decades already, would be transformed into a NATO-wide air defense structure, also known as the "Missile Shield". Hence, the debate on Turkey's quest for deploying an elaborate air defense capability took a new turn, with comments and criticisms coming from experts and analysts underlining whether it would be a wise decision for Turkey to spend billions of dollars while there would be a NATO project underway that would soon take care of defending the allies against a spectrum of airborne threats originating from enemy territories.¹¹

Two issues that were either overlooked or hardly mentioned during that debate were highly critical from Turkey's perspective. First, if everything went according to plan, it would take about a decade for the "Missile Shield" project to become fully operational, if not longer, meaning that Turkey's airspace would remain unprotected by land-based air defense systems during that period. Second, no one mentioned publicly that even when the "Missile Shield" would become fully operational in the 2020s, large parts of Turkey's eastern and southeastern districts could not be covered and, therefore, would not be protected due to the technical and geographical limitations of the project.¹²

Authorities argued that the gap could be filled, theoretically, and if need be, with a temporary deployment of U.S. Aegis ashore systems in the eastern Mediterranean. This, however, would not be considered a highly convincing argument for a variety of reasons, such as the slow deployment of the Patriots

in Turkey's southeast in 2012 against the threat posed by Syria and their hasty withdrawal a couple of years later.¹³

Turkey's Air Defense Project Becomes a Bone of Contention with Allies

The lack of an effective air defense system in Turkey was felt vividly when Syria plunged into civil war in March 2011, which eventually led, among other things, to a reversal of the then gradually improving bilateral relations

The lack of an effective air defense system in Turkey was felt vividly when Syria plunged into civil war in March 2011. between Ankara and Damascus.¹⁴ In response to Syria's shooting down of a Turkish military reconnaissance aircraft in the international airspace of the eastern Mediterranean in June 2012, the issue was brought before the NATO Council. The Council discussed and eventually approved, in December 2012, the deploy-

ment of Patriot battalions in Turkey's southeastern cities along the Syrian border, namely Adana, Kahramanmaraş and Gaziantep, as a protective measure against possible attacks coming from Syria again.¹⁵

This incident revived the need for taking swift measures for deploying a permanent air defense structure in the country vis-à-vis the growing threat perceived from the ballistic and cruise missile capabilities in the arsenals of its neighboring states. Based on the lessons learned from earlier attempts in the 1990s and 2000s, the prevailing view among Turkish authorities was, this time, to acquire an elaborate air defense capability in such a way that:

- The system would provide an effective air defense shelter for Turkey against the threat of ballistic and cruise missiles as well as military air-craft;
- The first set of batteries could be deployed and become operational within a short span of time after the signing of the purchase agreement;
- The supplier firm would agree to share the technology with Turkey to allow co-production of the system, including its advanced versions in the near future; and
- The price should be affordable.

The Chinese firm CPMIEC, which had offered the FD-2000 (the export version of HQ-9) air defense system, came to the fore with a promise for an early delivery of the batteries as well as a price that was considerably lower than the price of the S-400, the Patriot, and the SAMP/T. Yet most of Turkey's allies in the West, the U.S. in particular, were quick to react harshly to Ankara's pick among the bidders, on the grounds that the Chinese system would not be compatible with the "Missile Shield" that was being erected across Alliance territory, with a major contribution from Turkey with the radar site in the Kürecik village near the city of Malatya in the southeastern part of the country. Critics of Turkey's decision to go ahead with the Chinese firm, from both inside and outside of the country, also argued that the FD-2000 air defense system, if deployed, would seriously jeopardize the integrity of NATO's sensitive command, control, and communication systems as well as its intelligence collecting capability.¹⁶ It was also emphasized in these criticisms that the Chinese firm CPMIEC was subject to sanctions of the U.S.

Turkish political and military authorities tried hard to convince their peers in Western capitals and military headquarters that it would be technically possible to find effective solutions for preventing such scenarios from occurring. Nevertheless, the political climate was not at all conducive for reaching a consensus between the parties. As one high-ranking NATO official once told the author at NATO Headquarters in Brussels, "even though effective measures could be put in place, technically speaking, in order to prevent leakage of sensitive information to the Chinese firm, it would be simply not acceptable for the Alliance, politically speaking, to agree to a Turkish-Chinese deal."¹⁷

While the Chinese deal was still on the negotiation table, the ever-increasing pressure exerted on Turkey by its allies apparently caused a certain degree of reluctance in Ankara's attitude to finalize the deal, which in turn, caused the Chinese firm to withdraw its offer. This development led to a new round of talks between Turkey and the other contenders to renew their offers, bearing in mind what may have made them fail in the previous round.

This time, the Russian firm Rosoboroneksport stood out with its S-400 "Triumf" missile system. Turkish and Russian authorities conducted negotiations, which culminated in the signing of an agreement.

Criticisms voiced by politicians, diplomats, and civil and military experts from the allied countries as well as from within the country, with respect Some have argued that the S-400 issue increased the possibility that Russia could take advantage of U.S.-Turkey friction to undermine the NATO alliance. to Turkey's choice of the Russian firm, were no less severe than those pronounced only two years before when the Chinese offer was on the negotiation table. This time, however, some of the allies, the U.S. be-

ing at the forefront, went beyond the limits of diplomatic niceties by issuing threatening statements, implying that they would impose severe military and economic sanctions should Turkey finalize the procurement of the Russian air defense system.

The S-400 deal raised a number concerns ranging from the technical aspects of military cooperation within NATO to broader political considerations. Some have argued that the S-400 issue increased the possibility that Russia could take advantage of U.S.-Turkey friction to undermine the NATO alliance.

During a press briefing in May 2018, a State Department spokesperson said, "Under NATO and under the NATO agreement... you're only supposed to buy... weapons and other materiel that are interoperable with other NATO partners. We don't see [an S-400 system from Russia] as being interoperable."¹⁸ In March 2018, Czech General Petr Pavel, who chairs the NATO Military Committee, voiced concerns about the possibility that Russian personnel helping operate a S-400 system in Turkey could gain significant intelligence on NATO assets stationed in the country.¹⁹

NATO Secretary General has consistently underlined that "decisions on acquisition of military capabilities is a national decision, but what is important for NATO is interoperability, that the different systems can work together."²⁰

Assistant Secretary of State Wess Mitchell, who spoke at a foreign relations subcommittee hearing at the U.S. Senate on June 26, 2018, explained that the U.S. would implement sanctions against Turkey through "Section 231 of the Countering America's Adversaries Through Sanctions Act." Mitchell also said that Ankara's decision to purchase the Russian missiles would lead Washington to cancel further delivery of F-35 stealth fighters.²¹

More recently, the "Unclassified Executive Summary" of the "FY19 NDAA Sec 1282 Report" published by the U.S. Department of Defense on the "Status of the U.S. Relationship with the Republic of Turkey," in its section on the "Impact of Turkey's S-400 Acquisition," states that "the U.S. Government has

made clear to the Turkish Government that purchasing the S-400 would have unavoidable negative consequences for U.S.-Turkey bilateral relations, as well as Turkey's role in NATO, including:

- Potential sanctions under Section 231 of the Countering America's Adversaries Through Sanctions Act (CAATSA);
- Risk to Turkish participation in the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter (JSF) Program (both aircraft acquisition and industrial workshare);
- Risk to other potential future U.S. arms transfers to Turkey, and risk of losing broader bilateral defense industrial cooperation;
- Reduction in NATO interoperability; and
- Introduction of new vulnerabilities from Turkey's increased dependence on Russia, including sanctioned Russian defense entities, for sophisticated military equipment."²²

The Report also states that "Turkish acquisition programs that could be affected include but are not limited to the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter, Patriot Air and Missile Defense System, CH-47F Chinook heavy lift helicopter, UH-60 Black Hawk utility helicopter, and the F-16 Fighting Falcon aircraft," and that the U.S. administration would reassess Turkey's continued participation as one of eight partner nations should they continue with their purchase of theS-400.²³

The severity of these sanctions goes without saying; if imposed on Turkey, they may cause serious damage to Turkey' defensive capacity and operational capabilities, at least in the short to medium term. These risks raise the most important question of all: Who will benefit from such a situation, and who will lose, if and when these sanctions are put in practice? The answer is in the following sections.

Impact of Turkey's Acquisition of S-400 on its Defensive Capacity

The bulk of criticisms in the West against Turkey's S-400 deal with Russia originates mainly from the deal's political implications due to the increasing degree of rapprochement between Turkey, a NATO ally, and Russia, NATO's long-standing archrival in particular in the aftermath of its illegal annexation of Crimea which has been perceived, from the allies' perspective, a signifi-

cant challenge to the Euro-Atlantic security and defense architecture. Critics at home instead question the military implications of the deal, basically on two grounds, one of which is whether the Russian deal would solve Turkey's need for deploying an elaborate air defense system, and the other is whether the whole controversy is worth the risk of being alienated within the NATO alliance, and being exposed to the severe military and economic sanctions of theU.S.²⁴

As for the first concern, it would be far-fetched to argue that the purchase of a Russian air defense system, consisting of only four S-400 battalions, no matter how sophisticated they may be, would provide effective deterrence or extensive protection for Turkey against enemy missiles and military aircraft in an actual conflict. Due to the limited number of battalions and the extent of the area each one of them would cover, the system could only operate on "stand alone" mode, and therefore, only the strategic locations of major cities, selected military installations, and critical infrastructure and industrial sites would be protected.²⁵ Given this possible scenario, once the S-400 system is deployed and became operational, which could be as soon early 2020, then the second concern, which questions whether the whole controversy is worth the risk of facing severe sanctions by the allies, gains currency.

It is not yet certain whether the U.S. will definitely impose the above-cited sanctions as a response to Turkey's purchase of the Russian S-400 system. But one must bear in mind that the sanctions mentioned here would damage not only Turkey's interests, but also those of the U.S. by way of crippling the defensive capacity and the operational capability of the North Atlantic Alliance as a whole, where Turkey is a major power neighboring one of the most volatile regions of the world.

Therefore, attempting to weaken Turkish military capacity and its economy would only play into the hands of the rivals and the enemies of Turkey, in particular, and of NATO, in general, thereby resulting in a lose-lose situation for both parties within the Alliance.

President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan told journalists, on return from a summit meeting with Russian President Vladimir Putin and Iranian President Hassan Rouhani, which was held in Sochi, Russia on February 15, 2019 that the purchase of S-400 was a "done deal."²⁶ Having heard this from Turkey's top political leader, and also knowing that nearly half of the price of the S-400

battalions has already been paid to the Russians, a reversal in the Turkish government's policy from this point onward would be only remotely possible, if not totally impossible. No sovereign state would logically take such a radical decision.

If political and military authorities in the U.S. have come to the point of discussing the imposition of severe sanctions on Turkey because of the S-400 deal, they should, before everything else, ask themselves how Turkey has Had the U.S. administrations so far agreed to the sale of the Patriot air defense system to Turkey under terms similar to those which some of their other allies have entertained, such as, for instance, the Netherlands and Spain, would Turkish authorities have looked for other suppliers from China or Russia? Most probably not!

come, or rather, has been pushed, to the point of negotiating such a deal with Russia. $^{\rm 27}$

Had the U.S. administrations so far agreed to the sale of the Patriot air defense system to Turkey under terms similar to those which some of their other allies have entertained, such as, for instance, the Netherlands and Spain, would Turkish authorities have looked for other suppliers from China or Russia? Most probably not! So, who is to blame for the current deadlock that Turkey and its allies have been experiencing lately because of the S-400 deal with Russia?

Impact of the Debate on Turkey's Quest for Air Defense on the Public

Turkey's missile defense procurement process has frequently made headlines in media outlets both at home and abroad over the last decade, which has indeed done a great deal of service for the country in many ways.

First and foremost, the intense debate has attracted the attention of young pupils from all over the country, sparking a keen interest in defense-related matters. Turkish citizens have also appreciated the value of becoming self-sufficient in this area by investing more in the defense industries sector.

Recently, a growing number of Turkish university students have in mind the goal of joining one of the companies operating in Turkey's defense industries sector, such as Roketsan,²⁸ Aselsan,²⁹ and Havelsan.³⁰ These young Turks constitute the hidden treasure of the country as well as the great potential for the rapid progress of the Turkish economy in the coming decades.

Second, Turkish governments have become much more conscious than ever about the significance of supporting and thus sponsoring domestic research and development projects in the field of defense industries. As an indicator of this acknowledgment, one might cite that the capacity of the Presidency of Defense Industries operating under the auspices of the Presidency of the Republic of Turkey³¹ has increased many folds, in less than a decade, in terms of skilled human resources, financial assets, and technical capabilities.³²

At a ceremony at the Turkish Scientific and Technological Research Council's (TÜBİTAK) Defense Industry Research and Development Institute (SAGE) campus in Ankara in October 2018, President Erdoğan stated that "Turkey is moving rapidly on the way to have a say in all fields of defense, aviation and space technologies." He noted "the locality rate in the defense industry [has] increased from 20 percent to 65 percent." President Erdoğan also emphasized that "Turkey will reach the target of an independent and strong country by uninterruptedly continuing its national defense moves that have been initiated in the defense industry."³³

These two extremely valuable developments alone, which have been taking place in the country almost simultaneously over the past several years, thanks to the reluctance of Turkey's allies to supply sophisticated weapons systems, indeed reflect the extent of change in the mindset of Turkish people from all ranks of society as well as the degree of transformation and determination of the government to become self-reliant in defense procurement matters.

It is hoped that Turkey's friends and allies will take note of this rapid change and the transformation in the country in a timely manner in order to be able draw up win-win scenarios in the alliance relationship that otherwise seem to be tilted toward lose-lose, due to careless speeches in Western capitals and military headquarters about imposing severe sanctions on their "staunch ally" Turkey.

Conclusion

The world is a dangerous place and, unfortunately, it's not likely to get any better in the foreseeable future for countries like Turkey that seek stability and peace in their neighborhoods. Hence, achieving collaboration and cooperation among like-minded states is more important than ever, in the face of threats posed by rival states and non-state actors.

Bearing these in mind, the U.S. and other concerned NATO countries should thoroughly revise their stance vis-à-vis Turkey's desire to build its own elaborate air defense architecture, preferably in close collaboration with them. Such an eventuality would certainly serve the national interest of both Turkey and the NATO allies.

Hence, the U.S. Raytheon-Lockheed Martin consortium and the Franco-Italian Eurosam consortium should both revise and refresh their offers to provide Turkey with an elaborate air defense capability that could be integrated to the Alliance-wide Missile Shield project once it becomes fully operational and then onwards.

Should this be the case, the co-existence of two separate air defense systems deployed on Turkish territory, one of them being the Russian S-400s that would be operational on "stand alone" mode, would not cause security problems for the NATO allies.

Politicians, diplomats, and civil and military experts from the allied countries who have harshly criticized Turkey for purchasing strategic weapons systems from Russia should feel the responsibility to prove that their governments were sincere in their statements suggesting that they would like to be the major supplier of the air defense system that used to be on the mind of Turkish authorities. They should also ask their government officials to act accordingly and swiftly catch up with the time that they unfortunately wasted so far.

Endnotes

- Can Kasapoğlu, "Turkey's S-400 Dilemma," *EDAM Foreign Policy and Security Paper Series*, No. 5, July 2017, http://edam.org.tr/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/s400en.pdf (Accessed 5 March 2019).
- 2 Vann H. Van Diepen, "Missile Proliferation in the Middle East," James Martin Center for Nonproliferation Studies, June 2018, https://www.nonproliferation.org/wpcontent/ uploads/2018/07/180711-us-israel-nonproliferation-dialogue-vann-van-diepen.pdf (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 3 Can Kasapoğlu and Barış Kırdemir, "The Rising Drone Power: Turkey on the Eve of its Military Breakthrough," *EDAM Foreign Policy and Security Report*, No. 4, June 2018, http://edam.org. tr/en/the-rising-drone-power-turkey-on-the-eve-of-its-militarybreakthrough (Accessed 5 March 2019).
- 4 Fadime Özkan, "Prof. Dr. Kibaroğlu: Hava Savunma Sistemi Türkiye İçin Acil İhtiyaç," *Star*, 7 August 2017, http://www.star.com.tr/roportaj/prof-dr-kibaroglu-hava-savunmasistemi-turkiyeicin-acil-ihtiyac-haber-1243684/ (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 5 Mustafa Kibaroğlu, "Turkey's Place in the Missile Shield Project," *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, Vol. 15, No. 2 (2013), pp. 223-236.
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 Conversations with American and Israeli military and diplomatic staff as well as academics on the sidelines of conferences in Turkey and in the U.S. who would not want to be named.
- 8 Mustafa Kibaroğlu, "Acceptance and Anxiety: Turkey (Mostly) Embraces Obama's Nuclear Posture," *Nonproliferation Review*, Vol. 18, No. 1 (2011), pp. 201–217.
- 9 Merve Seren, "Turkey's Quest for a National Missile Defence System," SETA Analysis, No. 26, April 2017. Fahrettin Altun, "Turkey's S-400 Strategy," Daily Sabah, 15 September 201, https://www.setav.org/en/turkeys-s-400-strategy/ (Accessed 5 March 2019). Mustafa Kibaroğlu, "Türkiye'nin S-400 Macerasının 4 Yüzü," Yörünge, 1 February 2018, http://www.yorungedergi. com/2018/02/turkiyenin-s-400-macerasinin-4-yuzu/ (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 10 Sertaç Canalp Korkmaz and Arda Mevlütoğlu, "Turkey's Air Defense Umbrella and S-400," ORSAM, 12 September 2017, http://orsam.org.tr//d_hbanaliz/213_eng.pdf (Accessed 3 March 2019).
- 11 Conversations with civil and military experts, academics and journalist in conferences convened both in Turkey and abroad.
- 12 Conversations with Friedrich Wilhelm Ploeger, who recently served as Deputy Commander of NATO's Allied Air Command, on the subject matter on the sidelines of a panel on the "Transatlantic Missile Defense Architecture" organized by the Atlantic Council based in Washington D.C., 30 June 2015. See https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/events/pastevents/globalmissile-defense-conference.
- 13 Mustafa Kibaroğlu, "NATO, AB Parantezinde Türkiye-Almanya İlişkileri ve 'İncirlik' Gerilimi," *Stratejist*, No. 2, July 2017, pp. 16-23, http://www.mustafakibaroglu.com/sitebuildercontent/ sitebuilderfiles/MK-Stratejist-2-Temmuz2017.pdf (Accessed 3 March 2019).

- 14 Turkey's coercive diplomacy in October 1998 compelled Syria to put a halt to the extensive support that it had provided to the PKK terrorist organization since the early 1980s. The two countries signed a memorandum, known as the "Adana Protocol," aimed at ceasing hostilities and advancing good neighborly relations.
- 15 BBC Türkçe, "NATO, Türkiye-Suriye Sınırına Patriot Kararını Onayladı," 4 December 2012, https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler/2012/12/121204_nato_patriot_update2.shtml (Accessed 5 March 2019).
- 16 Can Kasapoğlu and Sinan Ülgen, "Strategic Weapons Systems in the Turkey-Russia-US Triangle," EDAM Foreign Policy & Security Report, No. 2, 16 January 2019, http://edam.org. tr/en/strategic-weapons-systems-in-the-turkey-russia-us-triangle/ (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 17 Conversations with a high-ranking NATO official on the sidelines of the "Experts on Defence Issues from NATO Countries" roundtable discussions organized by the Public Diplomacy Division of NATO, 25 November 2013, Brussels, Belgium.
- 18 "Turkey: Background and U.S. Relations in Brief," *Every CRSC Report*, 6 June 2018. https://www.everycrsreport.com/files/20180606_R44000_931db862c7f8197428021742a6be57aa5d6e24ee. html#_Toc516147434 (Accessed 3 March 2019).
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 Remarks by NATO Secretary General Jens Stoltenberg at the Heritage Foundation in Washington, Washington D.C., 18 September 2018, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/ opinions_158078.htm (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 21 Jason Lemon, "US May Punish Turkey for 'Cooperating' with Russia, State Department Official Says," *Newsweek*, 27 June 2018, https://www.newsweek.com/us-punish-turkey-cooperatingrussia-state-department-officialsays-997517 (Accessed 2 March 2019).
- 22 Department of Defense, "Status of the U.S. Relationship with the Republic of Turkey," *Federation of American Scientists*, 26 November 2018, https://fas.org/man/eprint/dod-turkey.pdf (Accessed 8 March 2019).
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 Kasapoğlu and Ülgen, Strategic Weapons Systems in the Turkey-Russia-US Triangle.
- 25 See, in this respect, the tweets of a prominent Turkish expert on defense industry matters, namely Turan Oğuz, on 3 October 2017, https://twitter.com/trex_sss/status/915113268989108226, and on 15 December 2017, https://twitter.com/tyrannosurusrex/status/941591336934936582 (Accessed 1 March 2019).
- 26 "Erdoğan: Turkey's S-400 Missile Systems Purchase from Russia 'Done Deal,'" Arab News, 16 February 2019, http://www.arabnews.com/node/1452981/middle-east (Accessed 8 March 2019).
- 27 Barçın Yinanç, "End to Nuke Deal May Start 'Era Worse than Cold War': Expert," *Hürriyet Daily News*, 25 February 2019, http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/end-to-nuke-deal-may-start-era-worse-than-cold-war-141455 (Accessed 12 March 2019).
- 28 See http://www.roketsan.com.tr/en/.
- 29 See http://www.aselsan.com.tr/en-us/Pages/default.aspx.

- 30 See http://www.havelsan.com.tr/en/.
- 31 The Presidency of Defense Industries was formerly the Under-Secretariat of Defense Industries under the auspices of the Turkish Ministry of Defense until mid-2018.
- 32 See the website of the Presidency of Defense Industries of Turkey at https://www.ssb.gov.tr/ WebSite/contentlist.aspx?PageID=512&LangID=2.
- 33 "Turkey to Develop its Own Long-Range Air Defense System 'Siper,' Erdoğan Says," *Daily Sabab*, 31 October 2018. https://www.dailysabah.com/defense/2018/10/31/turkey-to-develop-its-own-long-range-air-defense-system-siper-erdogan-says (Accessed 2 March 2019).

ARTICLE

Understanding the Distinguishing Features of Post-Westphalian Diplomacy

Ebru OĞURLU^{*}

Abstract

Diplomacy is traditionally an instrument used by states to develop and sustain peaceful and predictable relations among themselves. This paper discusses the transformation of traditional diplomacy into global diplomacy by referring to modifications in four components of diplomacy: context, rules and norms, channels of communication, and actors and roles. After discussing the historical evolution of diplomacy, this paper argues that diplomacy has transformed in order to adapt itself to the newly emerging conditions of the 21st century. It has become a multi-actor and multi-level network phenomenon. However, this diplomatic transformation has not diluted the traditional sovereignty-based diplomacy. As states maintain their ultimate power and authority in the globalized system, so does state diplomacy.

Keywords

Diplomacy, sovereignty, old and new diplomacy, global diplomacy, network diplomacy.

Introduction

Diplomacy depends on the prior existence of human societies with basic needs for security as well as communication. The performance of these basic functions has differed from century to century and from society to society.

Received on: 29.01.2019 Accepted on: 01.06.2019

^{*} Assoc. Prof., European University of Lefke, Department of International Relations, Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus, E-mail: eogurlu@eul.edu.tr.

However, diplomacy has always been there, continuously adapting itself to the changing conditions. In this respect, the transformation of the Westphalian system with the end of the Cold War, which set up a completely new international system, resulted in radical impacts on the nature of state sovereignty and sovereignty-based state functions including diplomacy. Global developments since the late 20th century have altered the nature, actors, methods and practices of diplomacy. These changes have their roots in the transformation of the structure of power and authority with the collapse of the bipolar system. Consequently, the centuries-old established diplomatic machine was suddenly confronted with an increase in the numbers of its users and shifts in the functions of the concept itself.

The objective of this article is to discuss the historical evolution of diplomacy through a comparison between pre-Westphalian, Westphalian, and post-Westphalian diplomacy, and to analyze its transformation in the 21st century by focusing on the modifications of four components of diplomacy, i.e. context, rules and norms, channels of communication, and the actors and roles of diplomacy. In exploring this transformation, this article puts forward two arguments. First, diplomacy has become a multi-level and multi-actor network phenomenon in the 21st century. Second, although this transformation has the potential to put an end to the traditional understanding of diplomacy, contrary to expectations, the traces of Westphalian politics and state diplomacy are still substantial.

The Westphalian and Post-Westphalian International Systems

The basis of modern international relations was established by the 1648 Westphalian Peace Treaties, which mark the birth of nation states as the privileged and primary actors, replacing the medieval system of centralized religious authority with a decentralized system of sovereign states as the sole legitimate form of sovereign authority.¹ The Westphalian state-centric system was based on some new principles, including the sovereignty, sovereign independence and equality of the nation states, territorial integrity, the equal rights and obligations of the states, non-intervention in others' domestic affairs, and the conduct of inter-state diplomatic relations through embassies, among many others.² Power was at the center of this system to regulate inter-state relations in the absence of any higher systemic authority.

As Michael Vaughan argues, the Westphalian order was important for three reasons.³ First, it secularized international politics and anchored it on the

tenets of national interests. Second, it introduced the concept of sovereignty and the privileged status of the states without any higher authority standing above them, unless the state voluntarily assents to such an authority. Third, it accepted the states as sovereign supreme authorities within their borders with legitimate authority over all inhabitants living there, and promoted a conception of international society based on the legal equality of the states. Referring to this difference between internal and external sovereignty, domestic politics and foreign policy emerged as two distinct and independent domains for the nation states. Thus, the emergence of similar contrasts, i.e. between national and international, internal politics and foreign policy, world politics and world economics, inside and outside, etc., has become one of the characteristics of the Westphalian system.⁴

States as the basic, principal and sole legitimate actors in the international system continued their privileged status until the late 1980s when state sov-

ereignty and the state-centric Westphalian system had to face the challenges of a newly emerging international order. The collapse of the Soviet Union and the dissolution of the Eastern European communist governments, mostly through the nonviolent revolutions of 1989, transformed the international system by altering not only the rules governing superpower conflict but also the norms underpinning the

States as the basic, principal and sole legitimate actors in the international system continued their privileged status until the late 1980s when state sovereignty and the state-centric Westphalian system had to face the challenges of a newly emerging international order.

international system.⁵ Thus, the end of the Cold War symbolized the end of modern international relations and state-centric ideology along with the weakening of the core state-centered tasks. In this respect, the post-West-phalian international system can be conceived within the framework of three constitutive dynamics.

First, sovereignty has been eroding in the globalizing and more cosmopolite world. Nation states have become enmeshed in a complex network of global governance including regional and international organizations, trans-national and sub-national entities, multi-national corporations and non-governmental organizations, citizen movements and individuals that emerged as the independent actors with the assumed capacity to compete with states.⁶ Thus,

states can no longer hold exclusive sovereignty and have lost the privilege of being the basic and determining actors of power struggles. Their capacities have been restrained by global dynamics which forced states to share their power and sovereignty with all non-state actors.⁷

Second, the scope of international relations has expanded by reaching to new topic areas. Human rights, gender, women, the environment, democratization, population movements and energy politics, among many others, have been integrated into the field,⁸ which is no longer confined to the limits of the nation states, inter-state relations and state-centered tasks and topics.

Third, as Richard Haass argues, "international relations becomes twopronged: not just state-to-state, but between states on the one hand and sub-national and supra-national actors on the other,"⁹ along with its derivative impact on contemporary international diplomacy as state-centered conduct.¹⁰

Overall, in the post-Westphalian international system, as a result of the fragmentation and transformation of sovereignty, the nature of international relations has changed.¹¹ Its limits have been extended to embrace power and competition not only between states but also between cultures and civilizations.¹² The international system has become much more interdependent, owing to the emerging partnerships between states and non-state actors. Long-lasting contrasts coupled with the sovereignty principle disappeared suddenly. The difference between internal and external sovereignty has lost its validity. The distinction between domestic politics and foreign policy has become more uncertain than ever. Despite all of these changes, the discourse on the weakening of state power and the disappearance of states in the post-Westphalian system is only rhetorical.¹³ States continue to be important in a globalized world, although in a different way. Today, states have to open themselves to non-state actors, which has forced the former to recognize and co-exist with the latter in a multi-level and multi-centered structure.¹⁴ As a result, what happened in practice in the post-Westphalian era is that the conduct of certain activities and practices which were previously under the sovereign authorities of the states now take place through coordination and cooperation among a number of different actors. One of the most obvious areas of cooperation is diplomacy.

Diplomacy

One of the most striking impacts of the systemic and state-level transformation of the post-1989 era has become apparent in the field of diplomacy, which was traditionally supposed to be a state instrument. In a globalized system, diplomacy and diplomatic practices have transformed, along with modifications in state sovereignty and the sovereignty-based functions of states.

Diplomacy is typically understood as a means of implementing the goals

and objectives of the foreign policies of the states. Despite this common understanding about diplomacy, its definition has changed over time, which also proves the evolution and transformation of

In a globalized system, diplomacy and diplomatic practices have transformed, along with modifications in state sovereignty and the sovereignty-based functions of states.

diplomacy. Traditionally, diplomacy has been defined from a state-centric perspective until very recently. One of the leading thinkers in this field, Geoff R. Berridge defines diplomacy as "an essentially political activity and, well-resourced and skillful, a major ingredient of power ... to enable states to secure the objectives of their foreign policies without resort to force, propaganda, or law."15 In a similar way, Adam Watson defines the concept as a "process of dialogue and negotiations among the states to manage their relations and to reach to their objectives without resorting to force or power."¹⁶ One of the most striking definitions of diplomacy belongs to Sir Harold George Nicolson, who argues that diplomacy is "the management of international relations by negotiation, the method by which these relations are adjusted and managed by the ambassadors and envoys, the business or art of the diplomatist."17 As one of the most symbolic and leading figures on the topic, Henry Kissinger accepts diplomacy as the conduct of relations among states based on compromise rather than on power relations; he argues that the successful and effective implementation of diplomacy is dependent on international law, international institutions and institutionalization.¹⁸ Therefore, it is also important to define diplomacy from an institutional perspective. From this perspective, diplomacy is accepted as a package of rules and routines embedded in the activities, structures and cultures of state institutions as diplomatic actors, which define appropriate behaviors and acceptable norms for the states in their conduct of relations with each other in the international environment.19

Referring to the above-mentioned definitions, it is possible to argue that diplomacy has been recognized as a foreign policy tool which emphasizes communication rather than conflict, and compromise rather than competition, to achieve/maintain a peaceful, stable and predictable international system as the eventual objective. In this traditional understanding of diplomacy, diplomatic relations cover relations between states and have been conducted by state diplomats.²⁰ In line with the traditional interpretation of diplomacy, all diplomatic actors globally share a specific culture, language, operating procedures, norms and standards, and perform similar tasks and duties for their own states. These common characteristics of diplomats make them members of a global trans-national community. Moreover, they have also developed a professional identity shared at the global level by acting within similar institutional frameworks. Consequently, in essence,

diplomacy has a Janus-faced character with a national side anchored in particular sovereign states and a transnational side anchored in the set of interstate diplomatic principles and rules, trans-national values and identity; trans-nationally shared professional language, norms and behaviors as well as transnationally distributed working methods and standard operating procedures.²¹

The trans-national side of diplomacy was disclosed with the transformation of international relations and the globalization of the international system in the post Westphalian era. Then, the classical definitions of diplomacy became inadequate and were replaced by much more embracing and comprehensive definitions to explain the process of communication in a wider international system. Accordingly, post-Westphalian diplomacy has become a means of global communication and a dialogue mechanism among all systemic actors.²² The actors conducting diplomacy have proliferated and diversified, as traditional diplomats have been forced to share their diplomatic tasks and duties with others. Diplomatic relations and negotiations have extended greatly by covering relations among all actors, including states, regional and international organizations, civil society actors and international dialog channels.²³ Thus, states and ministries of foreign affairs have lost their exclusivity within the scope of wider diplomatic relations.

As explained by Michael Smith, the changing nature of diplomacy can be acknowledged by referring to three main functions of diplomacy, i.e. representation, communication and negotiation.²⁴ Accordingly, representation includes such activities as establishing a diplomatic presence in various more

or less institutionalized arenas, and maintaining a focus for the expression of interests or values. Communication includes activities relating to the gathering of information, evaluation and synthesis, and the projection of messages reflecting key interests and values. Negotiation encompasses a spectrum of bargaining and problem-solving activities, and can be carried out in a wide variety of more or less structured arenas. Although these diplomatic functions have been carried out predominantly by the diplomatic services of nation states, in today's globalized system there has been a proliferation of diplomatic and quasi-diplomatic actors that now perform those previously state-based functions of diplomacy.

The Historical Evolution of Diplomacy

Diplomacy is as old as humanity. As a set of practices, rules and procedures enabling regularized interaction and mediation between human collectivities, it has existed since the early days of humankind.²⁵ However, its form and manner have changed throughout history. It started with early quasi diplomatic practices, conDiplomacy is as old as humanity. As a set of practices, rules and procedures enabling regularized interaction and mediation between human collectivities, it has existed since the early days of humankind.

tinued with traditional diplomacy and evolved into the current global diplomacy.²⁶ This part of the paper will analyze the history of diplomacy under two categories: traditional state-centric and global multi-actor and multi-level diplomacy.

Traditional Diplomacy

Traditional diplomacy mostly refers to two different types of diplomacy, i.e. old and new. 'Old' diplomacy includes practices up until World War I. It was to a great extent bilateral and secret, and was conducted by sovereigns themselves or their representatives. 'New' diplomacy emerged with its new style under the League of Nations system. It was relatively open to the public and conducted to a great extent in multilateral settings. New diplomacy was implemented until the 21st century.

The earliest signs of diplomacy can be found in the second, or possible even in the late fourth millennium BCE when sovereigns sent their messengers endowed with a special status to other sovereigns to prevent wars, cease hostilities, or merely to continue peaceful relations and further economic exchanges.²⁷ In those earliest periods, diplomatic practices depended on some basic principles, including communication through messengers and merchant caravans, diplomatic immunity, ordinary codes of hospitality, and treaty observance by the related parties. However, the diplomatic activities of the early periods remained rudimentary, mainly because of the slow, challenging, unpredictable and insecure nature of communication.²⁸

The first examples of more mature diplomatic practices can be found in the correspondence between the Hittites and Ancient Egyptians, which were later developed further by the Greek city states; these paved the way for the institutional basis of diplomacy. It was the Byzantine Empire that, for the first time, developed diplomacy in institutional terms, introduced the status of diplomats/ambassadors, promoted their training and developed protocol rules.²⁹

In the Greek city states of the fourth and fifth centuries, conditions became favorable for a more sophisticated diplomacy with the help of a shared language and a largely common inheritance of culture and religion. The first examples of open diplomacy were experienced there.³⁰ Diplomacy could gain relative transparency owing to informing the public about the processes of negotiations and the signing of treaties. Moreover, diplomatic immunity became a much more established norm and resident missions began to appear, even if they employed local residents (known as proxenos) as different from today.³¹ In this sense, the Greek city state system contributed to the development of diplomacy to a great extent.

The Roman Empire did not use diplomacy as a means of maintaining its supremacy, but rather a means of transacting often very routine business. This may be the reason why diplomacy became a method of managing long-distance legal or commercial business, principally within the Empire, which was to constitute its more important legacy.³² The Empire did not have central institutions for the conduct of foreign policy or the maintenance of records. No records appear to have been kept, and thus no notion at all developed of a continuing diplomatic relationship with any other entity. However, Rome did contribute to diplomacy from the legal perspective through the development of the first basis of a simple diplomatic law, i.e. the *Code of Justinian*.

In medieval Europe, diplomacy was developed first by Byzantium, which used diplomacy as an art of negotiation, and then by Venice, which introduced new standards of honesty and technical proficiency. The former attributed great importance, sometimes primary importance, to diplomacy. The expansion of Byzantine techniques, its immensely long range and its persistence made it a forerunner of the modern system. Moreover, the close relationship with the latter provided a channel of transmission to the Western world.³³ Most of the Byzantium diplomatic system was based on information-gathering and diplomatic initiatives with the desire to avoid war. The system was directed to divide enemies and embroil them with each other, and thus induce them to undertake the fighting which the Empire wished to avoid. The Byzantine Empire used diplomacy more continuously, employed more of its devices and generally used it to play a more central role in imperial policies than had occurred in any preceding society. Byzantine diplomacy was striking and further developed by the Venice, which systemized what it learned from the Byzantine Empire.

Diplomacy reached a much more mature form at the beginning of the 15th

century. The Italian city state system of the fifteenth century provided more favorable conditions for the further development of diplomacy. Then, a more

Diplomacy reached a much more mature form at the beginning of the 15th century.

modern and permanent type of diplomacy appeared for the first time.³⁴ The highly competitive group of small city states, each directly bordering each other, were in constant competition and conflict with each other. Moreover, the repeated invasions of their peninsula by foreigners endangered the security of the Italian states. Continuous diplomacy conducted with little fanfare became the only means to ensure stability among the competing states. Consequently, the ad hoc envoys of the early periods were replaced by resident embassies with broad responsibilities. Thus it became possible to set up permanent and continuous diplomatic contact among units, which resulted in better familiarity with the conditions and personalities in the country concerned and fostered continuous negotiations with them. The practices and methods of the Italian system later evolved into the French system, which appeared as the "first fully-developed system of diplomacy and the basis of the modern diplomatic system."³⁵

France led diplomacy in the 17th and 18th centuries, which also witnessed the birth of the nation states and the emergence of a state-centric diplomacy which became one of the exclusive privileges of state sovereignty. The first Ministry for Foreign Affairs wat set up under the French system by Cardinal Richelieu in 1627. The Ministry was authorized to conduct foreign policy and to use diplomacy as its main tool. Thus, all diplomatic activities were centralized under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and conducted in secrecy and continuity via resident embassies. In the French system, the purpose of diplomatic negotiations was "not to trick the other side but, rather, to reconcile states on the basis of a true estimate of their enduring interests."³⁶ As different from the earlier diplomacy, in the French diplomatic system, ambassadors acquired higher social standing, and gradually became part of a profession which opened the way for the full professionalization of diplomacy in the 20th century. As a result of this professionalization, diplomats recognized that they had a professional identity as well as professional interests that united them as diplomats. Moreover, the multi-lateral conferences of the French system provided the basis for the emergence of multi-lateral diplomacy and conference diplomacy as one of its examples.³⁷ With this opportunity, common European problems and concerns became the subject of multilateral diplomatic relations³⁸ which provided an opportunity for the European states to strengthen and stabilize their relations. This method later became established and institutionalized as a means not only for solving common problems but also for sustaining peaceful relations among states.

The French diplomatic system, "best adapted to the conduct of relations between civilized States,"39 inspired other European countries. Embassies and delegations became more institutionalized all over Europe, and by the end of the nineteenth century, European-style diplomacy had been adopted throughout the world.⁴⁰ Based on the achievements of the French model of the 17th and 18th centuries, the 19th century saw the formalization and professionalization of diplomacy.⁴¹ For the first time, diplomacy was institutionalized and recognized as a profession with its own legal status and specified rules of profession provided by the 1814-15 Vienna Congress as well as the 1899 and 1907 Hague Conferences.⁴² In addition, the scope and geography of diplomacy expanded in this period. First, new areas of concern, including human rights and rules of war were included in the focus of diplomacy. Second, as a result of the increasing economic relations of the European states with other continents, European diplomacy extended to non-European territories. The inclusion of non-European states into the existing diplomatic system in the 19th and 20th centuries' foreshadowed the onset of global diplomacy which truly emerged in the 21st century.

In the early 20th century, the French system was modified but not transformed. As the number of states increased, the complexity of the problems confronting them multiplied, the urgency attending them grew, and the operating pace of the French system of bilateral diplomacy became too slow. This was realized during World War I and was demonstrated by the rash of conferences – many of them achieving permanent status – that were hurriedly organized to cope with the crisis. The end of WWI and the establish-

ment of the League of Nations opened a new era for international relations in general and diplomacy in particular. A new diplomacy emerged as the outcome of the new international system which was institutionalized by the League of Nations on the basis of the President Woodrow Wilson's 14 points. Wilson's first prin-

The end of WWI and the establishment of the League of Nations opened a new era for international relations in general and diplomacy in particular.

ciple introduced openness and transparency in diplomatic relations as a reaction to the secrecy of the old diplomacy: "Open covenants of peace, openly arrived at, after which there shall be no private international understandings of any kind but diplomacy shall proceed always frankly and in the public view."43 In the absence of any secret agreements, a new diplomatic style emerged to involve the public as fully as possible in the conduct of diplomatic negotiations and their specific outcomes.⁴⁴ Moreover, the League of Nations provided diplomats with the opportunity to sit and discuss the matters or problems of the period openly and in front of all other representatives. With this opportunity, state diplomats representing their states in those conferences also agreed to replace the bilateral alliances of the past with a universal or semi-universal association of states pledged to comply with a set of general principles embodied in international law, and agreed to the abandonment of power politics or the use of force for settling disputes among the states.⁴⁵ Thus, post-WWI diplomacy was successfully institutionalized under the League of Nations system. Summit diplomacy as a means of direct communication between heads of states also gained importance in this period.⁴⁶

The onset of the Cold War after World War II closely wedded diplomacy to grand strategy and was often seen as no more than an extension of war by other means.⁴⁷ Cold War diplomacy was restricted to direct diplomatic interactions not only between the U.S. and the Soviet Union as the two leading powers of the international system but also between/among their bloc coun-

tries, i.e. the Western and Eastern blocs led by the U.S. and the Soviet Union respectively. The United Nations, where the multilateral conferences were institutionalized, became the center of diplomacy through the practices of professional state diplomats in secrecy, mostly behind closed doors. Diplomacy was basically a symbolic indicator of the sovereign power of the states. This diplomatic understanding continued until the end of the Cold War when a new world diplomatic system, so-called global diplomacy, started flourishing as the outcome of the political, social, economic and technological developments of the 21st century.

Global Diplomacy

As emphasized above, diplomacy is one of the last bastions of state sovereignty. However, the impacts of the systemic and state-level transformations of the post-Cold War era have led to radical modifications both of state sovereignty and the sovereignty-based functions of the states. Under those conditions, a new diplomatic style, so-called global diplomacy, emerged as a multi-level and multi-actor phenomenon completely different from traditional diplomatic understanding and practices. Global diplomacy has become a transnational process of social relationship realized by an enlarged diplomatic community.

In the highly complicated and extremely unstable post-Cold War period, diplomacy has become "more complicated, fragmented and global"48 as a result of the emergence of economic, political, social and cultural relations beyond state boundaries. Global diplomacy involves a different set of diplomatic practices than those of the preceding periods.⁴⁹ Very basically, it is accessible to and performed by all systemic actors. Moreover, owing to technological progress in the information and communication sectors, it is practiced by diversified means and methods. As opposed to traditional diplomatic practices, global diplomacy is no longer the exclusive practice of sovereign states, governments or their representatives. Rather, an increasing level of interdependency among all systemic actors at all levels and on all topics has exposed governments to pressures coming from various channels of communication. Thus non-state actors, i.e. international/regional organizations, non-governmental organizations, interest groups, the media, think-tanks, academia, social movements and the public have become involved in the once exclusive territory of diplomats.⁵⁰

In their innovative and creative study, Brian Hocking and others show that the transformation of diplomacy can fully be acknowledged by focusing on four components of diplomacy, i.e. context, rules and norms, communication patterns, and actors and roles.⁵¹ As discussed below, the widening, deepening and accelerating of worldwide interconnectedness is influential in each component of diplomacy, which in turn results in the modification of the entire diplomatic understanding.

First, globalization has challenged diplomatic hierarchy⁵² and resulted in the emergence of a poly-centric diplomatic space which is no longer exclusively shared by the ministries for foreign affairs, but also by all other governmental representatives as well as non-governmental organizations, including thinktanks, universities, civil society bodies and media which have emerged as new actors in this space. Thus, the contexts of diplomacy have become more diverse and uncertain in a polycentric diplomatic space. Several patterns of diplomacy have emerged in the form of governmental input, from national policy communications and/or intergovernmental organizations through shared diplomatic arenas reflected in multi-layered and private categories, to loose couplings where government input is low.53 Moreover, these forms of diplomacy have been forced to co-exist, reflecting multiple spaces of authority and legitimacy, multiple diplomatic sites and domains, the more complex nature of diplomacy, and the diversified diplomatic actors involved. Thus, global diplomacy has become a "trans-national process of social relationship realized by an enlarged diplomatic community."54

Second, diplomacy is known as a rule-based practice. The roots of diplomatic rules can be found in two different but interrelated sources, i.e. individual national diplomatic communities and the trans-national diplomatic community. While traditional diplomacy was largely shaped by the former, the transformation of diplomacy has challenged its primacy. The changing nature of diplomacy and the conflicting expectations of the diversified actors of 21st century diplomacy have challenged the sovereignty-based rules of diplomacy. Openness, transparency and accountability have become the guiding principles of global diplomacy.⁵⁵

Third, in the 21st century, technological progress has changed the character of diplomacy, requiring advanced information technologies in modern communication. Today's information circulation and its accessibility have changed the dynamics of diplomatic work, requiring instant practices and faster reactions. Moreover, the modes of communication have accelerated and diversified with a direct impact on diplomacy. In particular, multi-directional flows of information underpinned by media and social networking have become influential in many areas of state activity, including diplomacy. Thus, the sources of diplomacy and the means of its implementation have proliferated.⁵⁶ Technological improvements have also resulted in personal initiatives in diplomacy as a quick and efficient way of dealing with inter-state problems. Progress in communication and transportation has empowered the heads of the governments and ministers of foreign affairs to travel to foreign countries easily and conduct diplomatic relations personally. Consequently, today's diplomatic re-

While official diplomats are disposed to building coalitions among states and base their power on political legitimacy, the new diplomatic actors delve into trans-national advocacy networks and base their power on moral legitimacy. lations are practiced by politicians as well as professional diplomats.⁵⁷

Fourth, the new international system of the 21st century is characterized by a proliferation of actors and enhanced interdependence among them. Thus, the new diplomatic environment is marked by the recognition of non-state actors not only as consumers of diplomacy

but also as producers of diplomacy through diplomatic negotiations. Given the inadequacy of traditional methods for dealing with newly emerging global concerns, it has become a necessity for the ministries of foreign affairs and diplomats to cooperate with other non/governmental institutions and various experts in the field.⁵⁸ This cooperation has necessitated acceptance of the role of non-diplomats in diplomatic relations, and the transfer of power from traditional actors to newly-recognized diplomatic actors. In this respect, the emergence of new diplomatic actors along with the traditionally accepted diplomats has forced the latter to share their power with the former and accept changes in their roles.⁵⁹ At the same time, the emergence of new actors has influenced the methods of diplomacy. While official diplomats are disposed to building coalitions among states and base their power on political legitimacy, the new diplomatic actors delve into trans-national advocacy networks and base their power on moral legitimacy.⁶⁰

The transformation of these four components of diplomacy has deeply affected diplomacy in the 21st century. However, what has truly changed is the methodology rather than the nature of diplomacy. The traditionally accepted hierarchical and state-centric diplomatic processes have evolved into a multi-stakeholder and multi-level network system⁶¹ which is much more global, flexible and open. Under these newly emerging conditions, states have recognized the significance of "soft power"⁶² in order to achieve their foreign policy aims and objectives. Thus, public diplomacy and cultural diplomacy, as examples of soft power, have appeared as the new diplomatic practices of the 21st century.

Public diplomacy is defined as "efforts by governments to promote their policies and interests abroad by influencing international public opinion through interaction with other polities, forging partnerships with civil societies, and using the media strategically."63 Another definition of public diplomacy is provided by Paul Sharp who defines it as "the process by which direct relations are pursued with a country's people to advance the interests and extend the values of those being represented."64 Both definitions emphasize the role of ordinary citizens in achieving the desired outcomes. It has been recognized that the public matters more than before; thus public diplomacy has gained a new prominence in the modern era, even if it has always been practiced as a specific means of diplomatic communication.⁶⁵ It also must be noted that despite the growing importance of public diplomacy as one of the roles of modern diplomats, it should only be considered as an additional diplomatic function which complements traditional diplomatic activities. On the other hand, cultural diplomacy, "a national policy designed to support the export of representative samples of that nation's culture in order to further the objectives of foreign policy,"66 forms an important component of public diplomacy. Cultural diplomacy is also practiced with the intention of influencing the citizens of foreign countries and draws attention to ordinary individuals for the intended foreign policy objectives of the state.

The emergence of individuals and citizens as important actors in the diplomatic practices of the states led to the introduction of a new concept: "Track-Two Diplomacy." The term was first used by Joseph Montville in 1981; he defined it as "unofficial, informal interaction between members of adversary groups or nations that aim to develop strategies, to influence public opinion, organize human and material resources in ways that might help resolve their conflict."⁶⁷ Today, track two diplomacy is commonly defined as "methods of diplomacy outside the formal governmental system – the non-governmental, informal, and unofficial contacts and activities between private citizens or groups of individuals aimed at de-escalating conflict by reducing anger, fear and tension and by improving communication and understanding."⁶⁸ Since its introduction, track two diplomacy has been commonly accepted as a complement to track one diplomacy, which basically refers to the official governmental diplomacy at the state-to-state level. In this context, track two diplomacy is not an alternative but a complement to track one diplomacy.

Overall, although diplomacy has transformed significantly in the 21st century, this transformation does not diminish its significance for states and does not mean that diplomacy is no longer needed. On the contrary, in a highly globalized and inter-connected world, the role of diplomacy has become much more crucial. Even if diplomacy has transformed, its scope and actors have diversified and new rules and methods have emerged in diplomatic relations, governmental diplomacy continues to have a crucial role.⁶⁹ States still prefer to use traditional diplomatic methods to resolve problems which directly concern their national interests and securities, while preferring global diplomacy to solve the global problems which concern them all and which they are unable to solve unilaterally.

Conclusion

Since the time of the Westphalia Peace Treaties, which represent a turning point in the history of international relations, diplomacy has been used as a foreign policy tool on the part of states to deal with their common concerns at the systemic level. The institutionalization and professionalization of diplomacy as a state-centric practice continued until the early 1990s, prior to which the states could keep their exclusive sovereignty and enjoy the privileges of being the only diplomatic actors in the international system. The early 1990s, on the other hand, were a period of paradigm changes in the ways in which international relations are conducted. The states have been losing their exclusiveness since then, and have been forced to recognize non-state actors and cooperate with them. More seriously, they have lost their monopoly on sovereignty and their exclusive privileges in some of the symbol areas of their sovereign power. Diplomacy is one of them, and has been moving from a being a tool of national foreign policies to a means of international communication and dialogue.

Since the end of the Cold War, the international system has changed considerably. Along with the systemic changes, diplomacy has also transformed and
become more diversified, multi-dimensional, volatile and intensive. However, what has changed so far is the façade of diplomacy. It seems that the basic functions of diplomacy will remain in demand in managing today's highly comAlong with the systemic changes, diplomacy has also transformed and become more diversified, multi-dimensional, volatile and intensive.

plex interactions at the national and global levels. So far, states have been able to adapt themselves to the changing conditions and keep their privilege of being the highest authority in managing the relations among all actors of the international system. As states have managed to maintain their persistency and resiliency, governmental diplomacy has also persevered in an increasingly globalized and interconnected world as a critically important instrument for states to conduct their foreign policies.

Endnotes

- 1 Gregory A. Raymond, "Westphalia," in Martin Griffiths (ed.), *Encyclopedia of International Relations and Global Politics*, London: Routledge, 2005, p. 856; Daniel Philpot, "Westphalia, Authority, and International Society," *Political Studies*, Vol. 47, No. 3 (1999), p. 578.
- 2 Stephan D. Krasner, "Compromising Westphalia," *International Security*, Vol. 20, No. 3 (1996), p. 115; Charles W. Kegley and Gregory A. Raymond, *Exorcising The Ghost of Westphalia Building World Order in the New Millennium*, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 2002, p. 132.
- 3 Michael Vaughan, "After Westphalia, Whither the Nation State, its People and its Governmental Institutions?" Paper for Presentation at the International Studies Association Asia-Pacific Regional Conference, 29 September 2011 (Accessed 16 December 2018); Kürşat Kan, "Globalleşmenin Uluslararası İlişkilere Etkisi," KMÜ Sosyal ve Ekonomik Araştırmalar Dergisi, Vol. 3, No. 20 (2011), p. 4.
- 4 Fuat E. Keyman, "Küreselleşme, Uluslararası İlişkiler ve Hegemonya," Uluslararası İlişkiler, Vol. 3, No. 9 (2006), p. 5.
- 5 Rey Koslowski and Friedrich V. Kratochwil, "Understanding Change in International Politics: The Soviet Empire's Demise and the International System," *International Organization*, Vol. 48, No. 2 (1994), p. 215.
- 6 Kan, "Globalleşmenin Uluslararası İlişkilere Etkisi," p. 6; Jayabrata Sarkar, "Debating a Post-Westphalian International Order," *Mainstream Weekly*, Vol. LIII, No. 15, April 2015 http://www.mainstreamweekly.net/article5577.html (Accessed 15 December 2018).
- 7 Vaughan, "After Westphalia."
- 8 Kan, "Globalleşmenin Uluslararası İlişkilere Etkisi," p. 6.
- 9 Richard N. Haass, "The Politics of Power," *Harvard International Review*, Vol. 27, No. 2 (2005), pp. 61-62.
- 10 Vaughan, "After Westphalia."
- Matthew S. Mingus, "Transnationalism and Subnational Paradiplomacy: Are Governance Networks Perforating Sovereignty?" *International Journal of Public Administration*, Vol. 29, No. 8 (2006), p. 587.
- 12 Keyman, "Küreselleşme, Uluslararası İlişkiler ve Hegemonya," p. 6.
- 13 Hüseyin Sevim, "Uluslararası İlişkilerde Küreselleşme Olgusu ve Ulus-Devlet Kavramını Yeniden Düşünmek," Uluslararası İlişkiler Dergisi, Vol. 3, No. 9 (2009), p. 116.
- 14 Keyman, "Küreselleşme, Uluslararası İlişkiler ve Hegemonya," p. 12; Sevim, "Uluslararası İlişkilerde Küreselleşme Olgusu ve Ulus-Devlet Kavramını Yeniden Düşünmek," pp. 92, 104, 114.
- 15 Geoff R. Berridge, Diplomacy: Theory and Practice, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010, p. 1.
- 16 Adam Watson, Diplomacy: The Dialogue between States, Abingdon: Routledge, 1982, p. xvi.
- 17 Harold G. Nicolson, *Diplomacy*, London: Oxford University Press, 1942, p. 15.
- 18 Henry Kissinger, Diplomacy, New York: Simon & Schuster, 1994.
- 19 James G. March and Johan P. Olsen, *Rediscovering Institutions: The Organizational Basis of Politics*, New York: The Free Press, 1989, p. 160.
- 20 In the international system, they are still the states more specifically the Ministries of Foreign Affairs – that use diplomacy most effectively. The embassies and consulates as the representatives of the states in other countries are among the leading diplomatic actors of the states.
- 21 Jozef Bátora, "Does the European Union Transform the Institution of Diplomacy?" Journal of European Public Policy, Vol. 12, No. 1 (2005), p. 45.

- 22 Didzis Klavins, "Understanding the Essence of Modern Diplomacy," The ICD Annual Academic Conference on Cultural Diplomacy 2011: Cultural Diplomacy and International Relations; New Actors; New Initiatives; New Targets, Berlin, 15-18 December 2011 (Accessed 15 December 2018).
- 23 Keyman, "Küreselleşme, Uluslararası İlişkiler ve Hegemonya," p. 14.
- 24 Michael Smith, "The EU as a Diplomatic Actor in the Post-Lisbon era: Robust or Rootless Hybrid," in Joachim A. Koops and Gjovalin Macaj (eds.), *The European Union as a Diplomatic Actor*, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015, p. 12.
- 25 Jozef Bátora and Brian Hocking, "Bilateral Diplomacy in the European Union: Towards 'Post-Modern' Patterns?" *Discussion Papers in Diplomacy*, Clingendael - Netherlands Institute of International Relations, April 2008, https://www.clingendael.org/publication/bilateral-diplomacyeuropean-union-towards-post-modern-patterns (Accessed 12 December 2018).
- 26 Deniz Tören, "Diplomasi ve Tarih Boyunca Geçirdiği Evrim," TUİK Akademi, 10 October 2011 (Accessed 18 March 2019).
- 27 Walter R. Roberts, "The Evolution of Diplomacy," *Mediterranean Quarterly*, Vol. 17, No. 3 (2006), p. 55.
- 28 Berridge, Diplomacy, pp. 1-2.
- 29 Ibid, p. 2; Nicholson, Diplomacy, p. 6
- 30 Keith Hamilton and Richard Langhorne, *The Practice of Diplomacy: Its Evolution, Theory and Administration*, London and New York: Routledge, 2011, p. 19.
- 31 Berridge, Diplomacy, p. 2; Nicholson, Diplomacy, p. 6.
- 32 Hamilton and Langhorne, The Practice of Diplomacy, p. 19
- 33 Ibid.
- 34 Yusuf Avar, "Devletler Arası İlişkilerin Gelişimi ve Diplomasi Tarihi", *TUİK Akademi*, 25 November 2016, http://www.tuicakademi.org/devletlerarasi-iliskilerin-gelisimi-diplomasi-tarihi (Accessed 18 March 2019).
- 35 Berridge, Diplomacy, p. 2.
- 36 Ibid, p. 106.
- 37 İskit, Diplomasi, p. 52.
- 38 Mehmet Gönlübol, Milletlerarası Siyasi Teşkilatlanma, Ankara: Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi Yayınevi, 1968, p. 17.
- 39 Harold G. Nicolson, The Evolution of Diplomatic Method, London: Constable, 1954, p. 72.
- 40 Roberts, "The Evolution of Diplomacy," p. 55.
- 41 Christer Jöhnsson and Martin Hall, Essence of Diplomacy, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005, pp. 37-38, 69; Watson, Diplomacy: The Dialogue between States, p. x.
- 42 Gönlübol, Milletlerarası Siyasi Teşkilatlanma, p. 47.
- 43 "President Woodrow Wilson's Fourteen Points," 8 January 1918, http://avalon.law.yale.edu/20th_ century/wilson14.asp (Accessed 5 December 2018).
- 44 Geoff R. Berridge and Alan James, A Dictionary of Diplomacy, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2003, p. 193.
- 45 André Géraud, "Diplomacy, Old and New," *Foreign Affairs*, January 1945, https://www. foreignaffairs.com/articles/1945-01-01/diplomacy-old-and-new (Accessed 7 December 2018).
- 46 Barış Özdal and Murat Jane, "La Der Des Ders'in Uluslararası Sistemin Yapısına Etkileri," Gazi Akademik Bakış, Vol. 7, No. 14 (2014), pp. 235-238.
- 47 Hamilton and Langhorne, The Practice of Diplomacy, p. 185.

- 48 Brian White, "Diplomacy," in John Baylis and Steve (eds.), The Globalization of World Politics: An Introduction to International Relations, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005, p. 393.
- 49 Demet Şefika Acar, "Küreselleşen Dünyada Diplomasi," Selçuk Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Meslek Yüksek Okulu Dergisi, Vol. 9, No. 1-2 (2006), p. 425.
- 50 John Robert Kelley, "The New Diplomacy: Evolution of a Revolution," *Diplomacy & Statecraft*, Vol. 21, No. 2 (2010), p. 299.
- 51 Brian Hocking, Jan Melissen, Shaun Riordan and Paul Sharp, *Futures for Diplomacy Integrative Diplomacy in the 21st Century*, Clingendael: Netherlands Institute of International Relations, October 2012, pp.12-19 (Accessed 12 December 2018).
- 52 Iver B. Neumann, "Globalisation and Diplomacy," Working Paper: Norwegian Institute of International Affairs, No. 724 (2007).
- 53 Hocking et al., Futures for Diplomacy, pp. 19-23.
- 54 Klavins, "Understanding the Essence of Modern Diplomacy."
- 55 Hocking et al., Futures for Diplomacy, pp. 31, 23.
- 56 Neumann, "Globalisation and Diplomacy."
- 57 Hüner Tuncer, "Eski ve Yeni Diplomasi," Ankara Üniversitesi SBF Dergisi, Vol. 37, No. 1 (1982), p. 253.
- 58 Ibid, p. 254.
- 59 Bátora and Hocking, "Bilateral Diplomacy in the European Union;" Bátora, "Does the European Union Transform the Institution of Diplomacy?" p. 50.
- 60 Kelley, "The New Diplomacy: Evolution of a Revolution," p. 293.
- 61 Smith, "The EU as a Diplomatic Actor in the Post-Lisbon Era," p. 13.
- 62 The concept is introduced by Joseph S. Nye as "the ability of a country to persuade others to do what it wants without force or coercion." For details, see Joseph S. Nye, *Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics*, New York: Public Affairs, 2004.
- 63 Daryl Copeland, *Guerrilla Diplomacy: Rethinking International Relations*, Boulder and London: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2009, p. 9.
- 64 Paul Sharp, "Revolutionary States, Outlaw Regimes and the Techniques of Public Diplomacy," in Jan Melissen (ed.), *The New Public Diplomacy: Soft Power in International Relations*, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005, p. 106.
- 65 Geoffrey Allen Pigman, Contemporary Diplomacy: Representation and Communication in a Globalized World, Cambridge: Polity Press, 2010, p. 7.
- 66 Jessica C. E. Gienow-Hecht and Mark C. Donfried "The Model of Cultural Diplomacy: Power, Distance and the Promise of Civil Society," in Jessica C. E. Gienow-Hecht and Mark C. Donfried (eds.), Searching for a Cultural Diplomacy, New York and Oxford: Berghahn Books, 2010, p. 13.
- 67 Joseph V. Montville, "The Arrow and the Olive Branch: the Case for Track Two Diplomacy," in John W. McDonald and Diane B. Bendahmane (eds.), *Conflict Resolution: Track Two Diplomacy*, Michigan: University of Michigan, 1987, pp. 5-20.
- 68 John W. McDonald, "Further Exploration of Track Two Diplomacy," in Louis Kriesberg and Stuart J. Thorson (eds.), *Timing the De-escalation of International Conflicts*, Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, 1991, p. 202.
- 69 Shaun Riordan, The New Diplomacy, Cambridge: Polity Press, 2003, p. 130.

ARTICLE

Delinking the Migration-Terrorism Nexus: Strategies for the De-Securitization of Migration

Suna Gülfer IHLAMUR-ÖNER*

Abstract

The notion of a "migration-terrorism nexus" is gaining political momentum, despite the lack of evidence to support it, and even the existence of evidence to the contrary. This paper, while assessing the validity of the supposed link between terrorism and migration, will seek to show why and how the crackdown on migration and liberties actually create conditions conducive to terrorism. The answer as to why we tend to easily associate migration with terrorism lies in the securitization of migration and asylum, which will be analyzed in this paper. The broader securitizing discourse constructing migration as a security and even a terrorist threat has been shaping migration policy-making for almost three decades. A series of policy practices with a very heavy human cost, such as borderization practices, interception at sea, push-back operations, and the building of fences or walls to stop the refugee influx, which prioritize border security over human lives, show how this securitizing discourse is effective or "successful". The paper argues that the over-securitization of migration has very negative implications for human lives and rights as well as for democracy and liberties. It seeks to make a case for delinking migration and terrorism and for policy strategies that could be pursued to move migration out of the security framework and ultimately desecuritize migration.

Keywords

Critical security studies, Copenhagen School, migration-terrorism nexus, securitization of migration, migration policy-making, desecuritization strategies.

Received on: 14.02.2019 Accepted on: 08.05.2019

^{*}Assoc. Prof., Marmara University, Department of Political Science and International Relations, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: sgulfer@yahoo.com.

Introduction

The "migration-terrorism nexus" is gaining political momentum; an increasing number of policy-makers, scholars and representatives of global media link the recent terrorist attacks in the Global North to the "migration/refugee crisis," particularly following the growing instability in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region and human mobility after the Arab uprisings.¹ Since the end of the Cold War, but particularly in the aftermath of September 11, the claim that migrants and asylum-seekers pose serious risks to security, national identity, and the way of life of receiving societies, and that through migration terrorists are infiltrating into Europe or the U.S., is insistently repeated and loudly expressed. The increase of mixed flows seeking entry to Europe or the U.S., consisting of irregular migrants, refugees and asylumseekers fleeing poverty, conflict, violence, and environmental degradation, turn migration into a highly politicized issue. The terrorist attacks in Paris in 2015 and other terrorist attacks in Europe in its aftermath transformed perceptions of security and migration, linking the "terrorism crisis" with the "migration/refugee crisis".²

As boats or dinghies carrying refugees and migrants keep sinking and people seeking safety and protection lose their lives, mainstream and radical right-wing political leaders and parties, the media, and the other actors push for border enforcement, detention of asylum-seekers, and the deportation of irregular migrants.³ These political figures and actors argue that migration is the main reason behind growing crime rates and fundamentalist terrorism, a discourse that serves to accentuate the perceived link between terrorism and migration. One of the main claims is that countries receiving large numbers of migrants, refugees and asylum-seekers are more prone to be exposed to terrorist attacks. Another important concern is the possibility of terrorists re-entering Europe through human smuggling networks, which is mainly due to the allegations that two of the suicide bombers in the November 2015 Paris attack entered into Europe among refugees. Even if there is still no significant evidence to support this claim or fear,⁴ it has negatively affected public perceptions of irregular migrants and refugees. Moreover, it is possible to observe that these claims are becoming more pervasive among European societies. A Pew Research Centre survey, conducted in ten European countries in Spring 2016, reveals that in eight of the countries more than half of the population believe that "incoming refugees increase the likelihood of terrorism in their country." According to the survey, a median of 59% of the populations in ten countries see a close link between refugee flows and terrorism.⁵

The populist right, which is on the rise in the world, particularly in Europe, skillfully transforms this perception into fear and increases its votes by claiming that mainstream political parties have so far failed to stop the mixed migration flows. Radical right politicians argue that there is a need for stepping up security measures, putting

Different set of actors construct migration, particularly irregular flows and border crossing offences, as a security issue and increasingly a terrorist threat to national security, national identity, public order and the European or American way of life.

emphasis on border enforcement and adopting more restrictive immigration policies. The same rhetoric was employed by President Trump in his election campaign. After getting elected, he continued to use anti-immigrant rhetoric and started to pursue a restrictive policy towards migrants and refugees. In January 2017, he issued an executive order introducing a travel ban for the nationals of seven countries (Iran, Iraq, Libya, Somalia, Sudan, Syria, and Yemen). He claimed to have taken the decision to temporarily block their entry into U.S. territory with a view to protecting American citizens from the terrorist attacks of foreign nationals.⁶ Another important promise President Trump made in his election campaign was that he would build a wall at the U.S.-Mexico border to curb irregular migration, and he remains committed to it. Disagreement between the President and the Democrats about the funding of the border wall paved the way for the longest government shut-down in U.S. history.⁷ This move by the President places the migration issue at the heart of the political agenda and the gridlock has even reached to a point where President Trump has threatened the Congress that he will declare a national emergency to fund the building of the wall.8

It is not only radical right parties or populist politicians that associate migration with terrorism or recent terrorist attacks however. It is possible to see figures from different parties or movements across the political spectrum expressing similar opinions or voicing similar concerns. Therefore, different set of actors construct migration, particularly irregular flows and border crossing offences, as a security issue and increasingly a terrorist threat to national security, national identity, public order and the European or American way of life.

Given the very negative implications of the over-securitization of migration for human lives, rights and democracy, this paper seeks to make a case for delinking migration and terrorism. With this goal in mind, the paper, while assessing the validity of the supposed link between terrorism and migration, will seek to show why and how the crackdown on migration and liberties actually creates conditions conducive to terrorism. As will be discussed in the following section, despite the lack of evidence to support a link between migration and terrorism, and even despite the existence of evidence to the contrary, the anti-immigrant discourse associating migration with terrorism and violent extremism is gaining currency. This has to do with the broader securitizing discourse that has been constructing migration as a security and even a terrorist threat for almost three decades. Therefore, after the deconstruction of the migration-terrorism nexus, the securitization of migration will be discussed and problematized. The last section will evaluate to what extent it is possible to desecuritize migration, which entails delinking the migration-terrorism nexus and moving migration out of the security and terrorism context.

Migration-Terrorism Nexus?

If we could assume the existence of a link between terrorism and migration, it is mainly that terrorism leads to more migration, particularly forced migration. A complex set of factors, including violent extremism and terrorist attacks targeting civilians, leads to forced human mobility.⁹ This has to do with the changing character of warfare in the post-Cold War period. As Mary Kaldor argues, the new wars are internal conflicts, mainly in less-developed states linked with identity struggles, ethnic differences, processes of state formation and struggle for control over economic assets. These wars are transnational and involve diaspora populations as well as foreign fighters and external powers' troops. Rather than seeking to gain territory, fighting factions aim to control the population through mass killings, ethnic cleansing, violence against civilians, forced displacement and resettlement.¹⁰

In many cases, population displacement is one of the strategies pursued by terrorist organizations. The higher the lethality of terrorism, the more outward migration is observed. As data reveals, the increase in the number of deaths due to terrorism in Afghanistan, Iraq, Syria and Pakistan led to an increase in the number of asylum-seekers from these countries in Europe. Counter-terrorism measures or operations also destabilize a region and displace people.¹¹ Drone strikes against the terror networks in Pakistan and Yemen killed and displaced the local populations.¹² In certain cases, such as the Assad regime in Syria, the civilian population was deliberately targeted to deprive the insurgents of the

logistical support they could get from the inhabitants. In Syria, the majority of the 6.5 million IDPs (internally displaced persons) were displaced by the regime's attacks rather than those of DAESH.¹³

There are certain situations that do link migration and terrorism. Some "professional jihadists" who cannot or are not willing to return to their country of origin, 'migrate' from one theatre of war or conflict to another (e.g. from Afghanistan to Bosnia, Iraq, Somalia, Syria, Libya). Some terrorist fighters returning to their countries of origin could be seen as "return migrants" and they may get involved in terrorist acts back home. But it has to be acknowledged that they are already radicalized before they leave or return.¹⁴

One way migrants or asylum-seekers might become entangled with terrorist organizations is through abduction. For instance, DAESH in Libya is abducting transit migrants from Sudan, Eritrea, and West Africa, and, while killing non-Muslims, is sending Muslim migrants to training camps to make them ready for combat.¹⁵ However, DAESH also abducts civilians in regions under its occupation. For instance, it abducted 1,000 children in two Iraqi provinces and Syria in 2015. There are concerns that they could be trained and brainwashed into being suicide bombers.¹⁶ Similarly, Boko Haram abducts civilians, particularly girls and women, imprisons, rapes and forces them to participate in armed attacks, even against their own towns or villages.¹⁷

There are also those who argue that rather than the incoming migrants or refugees, the focus should be on the members of the second or third generation, i.e. the children of immigrants born and raised in Europe, who have joined

terrorist networks. A recent report by Crone, Falkentoft and Tammikko states that EU citizens were behind most of the terrorist attacks committed in 2015 and 2016 in Europe.¹⁸ Therefore, rather than refugees and asylum-seekers, it is the migrant-origin EU citizens who are vulnerable to radicalization and recruitment by terrorist networks.

What are the factors behind so-

There are also those who argue that rather than the incoming migrants or refugees, the focus should be on the members of the second or third generation, i.e. the children of immigrants born and raised in Europe, who have joined terrorist networks.

called "home-grown" terrorism? Why are second generation youth more vulnerable to violent extremism? The descendants of immigrants may face

discrimination, and feel discriminated against or marginalized by the society they are living in. They face xenophobic and Islamophobic attitudes and are denied access to certain opportunities because of their ethnic or religious backgrounds. Growing Islamophobia in Europe has the potential to pave the way for extremism.¹⁹ Among the jihadists who joined DAESH in Syria and Iraq there are a number of European citizens, many of whom are second or third generation European Muslims. In their search for identity and meaning they may be radicalized or recruited by terrorist organizations. Resentment against a society unwilling and incapable of integrating and accepting people with migrant backgrounds might motivate some migrants or asylum-seekers, particularly their descendants, to radicalize.²⁰ By withholding citizenship, by not granting long-term residents the same rights as citizens, by restricting or denying migrants and refugees access to rights and services, states themselves may create a disenchanted community susceptible to radicalization.²¹

Religious terrorism should be understood within the framework of the crisis of the nation-state to accommodate ethnic and religious diversity or divisions. Both the terrorism and refugee "crisis" are in fact indicative of the internal crises of the nation-states.²² As migrants or their descendants

Religious terrorism should be understood within the framework of the crisis of the nation-state to accommodate ethnic and religious diversity or divisions. demand inclusion, they pose a challenge to the 'homogenous nation' myth of the nation-states and national identity. Their mobility challenges the fixed borders of the nation-states. Growing terrorism pushes nation-states to social exclusion, restricting mobility, enhancing borders, adopting martial law-type security measures,

bypassing democratic procedures and going beyond the limits of liberal democracy. Therefore, rather than a migration or terrorism crisis, it is possible to talk about a crisis of Europe.²³

What Europe should be concerned about is not limited to marginalization and should include the radicalization of second-generation youth. Similarly, a growing number of migrants and asylum-seekers are living in Europe without a clear status and with partial or no access to rights, a situation which goes against the founding principles of equality and liberty. The treatment they receive throughout their journeys to Europe, upon arrival and throughout their stay, affects their perceptions about the European way of life and its values, and leads them either to cherish or despise it.

More importantly, it has to be acknowledged that the overwhelming majority of migrants and refugees do not engage in terrorist acts and have nothing to do with terrorist organizations. Just a few cases make the headlines. Peter Neumann, the Director of the International Centre for the Study of Radicalization and Political Violence in London, stated that among the 600,000 Iraqis and Syrians who arrived in Germany in 2015, only 17 have been investigated for having links to terrorist organizations.²⁴ According to the Migration Policy Institute, among the 745,000 refugees who resettled in the U.S. from September 11 until 2015, only two have been arrested on terrorist organizations or were recruited after they migrated.²⁵ In the U.S., out of 85,000 Somali refugees who arrived in 2016, only 36 were suspected to have links to terrorism. An average of 0.2% or less is a clear indication that the fears and efforts to label refugees as terrorists are unfounded.²⁶

Sometimes refugee camps could turn into a recruiting ground for militant or terrorist groups, such as certain Afghan refugee camps in Pakistan or Somali refugee camps in Yemen. Living in horrendous conditions in refugee camps for long years due to the protracted refugee crisis could make some refugee youth more prone to radicalization and to violent extremism. Research shows us that not having access to education, not having the right or chance to work and the absence of freedom of movement are the main conditions conducive to radicalization.²⁷ Radicalization and recruitment by terrorist organizations also become more likely where fighters have access to refugee camps.²⁸

In certain cases, militant refugee groups can destabilize a country by engaging in cross-border attacks from the host state's territory or towards it, and sabotage cease-fires. Refugee camps may turn into recruiting grounds for militants and may have strategic importance for the control of food and health supplies. If a state is failed or weak, the presence of refugees may contribute to the further weakening of the state. Refugee warriors may ally themselves with certain political factions in the host state and become part of the internal power struggles.²⁹ However, these kinds of security implications of forced migration are more serious in the Global South than in the North, and they are entangled with underdevelopment, weak state institutions, and violent conflict.

86% of the world's refugees live in the Global South, in developing countries in Africa, the Middle East and Asia.³⁰ Hosting refugees in overcrowded camps or in make-shift shelters in the Global South is delegated to neighboring states where refugee crises erupt, while the countries in the North fund the refugee relief efforts. Moreover, threat perceptions are not always linked to the actual numbers of migrants or refugees. In the period between 2001-2005, despite a significant drop from 75% to 54% in the number of asylum applications in North America and Oceania, threat perceptions linked to the arrival of asylum-seekers increased.³¹

Fears about the infiltration of terrorists alongside irregular migrants who cross borders via transnational human smuggling networks, lead political leaders and policy-makers to push for border enforcement. It is possible to talk about a symbiotic relationship between criminality and terrorism. The "crime-terrorism nexus" existed long before the emergence of global terrorist organizations such as DAESH.³² Terrorist organizations establish links with

Fears about the infiltration of terrorists alongside irregular migrants who cross borders via transnational human smuggling networks, lead political leaders and policy-makers to push for border enforcement. criminal groups such as drug cartels to fund their operations or purchase arms. As the end of the Cold War led to a fall in state financial support for terrorism, we witnessed the growth of transnational crime and an accentuation of the crime-

terrorism nexus.³³ It has been revealed that DAESH had cannabis farms in Albania in 2016 and then started recruiting people from the organized crime networks in the area. It has also been revealed in reports about European recruits to the DAESH that the majority either had criminal records, were known to the police, or had a history of delinquency. A study conducted by the International Centre for the Study of Radicalization (ICSR) showed that many European-origin members of DAESH continued to use alcohol and drugs and commit crimes. This also applies to the DAESH members who committed the terrorist attacks in Paris.³⁴

As states adopt restrictive migration policies with a view to protecting their borders, territory and people, and shirk their international protection responsibilities, refugees and migrants arriving in the North through mixed flows are left with no other option but to resort to human smugglers. As there are many transnational criminal networks involved in human smuggling and trafficking, the right-wing populism seizes the opportunity to merge the crime-terrorism nexus with the migration-terrorism nexus to construct asylum-seekers as security threats or terrorists.³⁵

In this section, the claims about associating migration with terrorism have been discussed and evaluated. Despite all evidence to the contrary, the link between migration and terrorism is increasingly and immediately drawn by political actors, in the media and in public debate. The answer as to why we tend to easily associate migration with terrorism lies in the securitization of migration and asylum. In the next section below, securitization in general and the securitization of migration in particular will be discussed in detail.

Critical Security Studies and Securitization

The meaning of security has been taken for granted in traditional IR. Literally, it means being free from threats or, to put it rightly, having guarantee of protection against threats.³⁶ According to the military understanding of security, which dominated the IR discipline throughout the Cold War era, security is what states strive for. Security studies, as defined by Stephen Walt, is "the study of the threat, use and control of military force."³⁷ In this understanding, security basically means the survival of the state. Security in this sense is described more in terms of a zero-sum game, i.e. more security for one state means less security for the other.³⁸ This definition in geopolitical terms reflects the conservative understanding and desire to ensure the permanence of the established order and increase predictability.³⁹

Despite its frequent use in the discipline, the meaning of security has remained vague and ambiguous, making security an essentially contested concept.⁴⁰ What we experience in the post-Cold War era is a broadening of the definition of security, the enlargement of the security agenda, and the expansion of security questions which present new threats, vulnerabilities, risks and

enemies. Issues such as environmental degradation, aid and development, health, migration, and international terrorism became issues dealt with within the field of critical security studies. There

What we experience in the post-Cold War era is a broadening of the definition of security, the enlargement of the security agenda, and the expansion of security questions which present new threats, vulnerabilities, risks and enemies.

are different schools of thought, named for their place of origin within the critical security studies field, which have theorized the concept of security. The Aberystwyth or Welsh school is linked with Aberystwyth University, particularly with the work of Ken Booth and Richard Wyn Jones, who associate security with the goal of human emancipation. They focus on the conditions essential for ensuring individual security and for the individual to be free from broader threats such as poverty, political oppression, environmental degradation, violence or conflict. Ole Waever, Barry Buzan, and other scholars linked to the Copenhagen Peace Research Institute (COPRI) introduce a sectoral approach to security and study how the invocation of security affects particular issues. Scholars working at Science Po and connected to the academic journal *Cultures et Conflicts* edited by Didier Bigo developed a sociological approach analyzing the conduct of everyday security practices encompassing policing and border control. The Paris School focuses particularly on how security professionals do security and questions the distinction between internal (policing) and external (military) security.⁴¹

Buzan from the Copenhagen School of critical security studies provides a sectoral approach to security, which challenges the artificial division between high and low politics issues. Security can be divided into five sectors, each sector having its own referent object(s), namely, military, political, economic, societal and environmental security. The referent object refers to what is to be secured. Traditional approaches to security focus on military threats to the security of the state and therefore the referent object is the state itself.⁴² Military security is concerned with the military capabilities of states based on the perceptions of each other's intentions.⁴³ "Political security is about the organizational stability of social order(s)." Economic security is related to access to the resources that are essential to bolster the power and welfare of the state. Societal security, which is also designated as identity security, is about the protection of patterns such as language and cultural and/or national identity.⁴⁴ Environmental security is about the sustenance of environmental resources on which human survival and development depend.⁴⁵ In the military sector of security the referent object is the state, while in the political sector, the sovereignty and ideology of the state emerge as the referent object. In the economic sector, the referent objects are the firms or multinational corporations (MNCs) that are threatened by bankruptcy and rivalry, while in societal security it is collective identity such as that of a nation or religion. In the environmental sector, it is the maintenance of the biosphere and survival of the species. This list is not exhaustive, given the fact that different actors can securitize different referent objects.

It can be argued that existential threats and vulnerabilities do not exist objectively but emerge as a result of self-referential practice. Security has its roots in the speech act in language theory, according to which, saying something is doing something. This has moral, political or legal consequences depending on the context, as the context gives meaning to the act. Security could be understood as a particular rhetorical or grammatical structure: defining phrases such as "existential threat, point of no return, and a possible way out," appear in the particular dialects of different sectors.⁴⁶

It is not possible to ignore security, since it is an authorizing word which contributes to the construction of social life. Security practices organize the social life to eliminate the threats and insecurities to which social life owes its very existence. Security issues become 'security issues' through securitization. Security, according to the Copenhagen School, is a political and relational concept, which helps us to understand "how human collectivities relate to each other in terms of threats and vulnerabilities."⁴⁷ The construction of the political community is dependent on the definition of threats. Security as a thick signifier enables us to see how "security" expresses a particular way of organizing life. Therefore, it is not "an entirely objective matter of military force calculation" and it should be questioned in order to unveil what kind of political order is secured.⁴⁸ Through this approach, the security agenda is also constructed in search for a meaning of security. The signifier 'security' gains a performative role in ordering social relations into security relations.

The Copenhagen School's conceptualization of security is based on Carl Schmitt's definition of the "political". In Schmitt's work, the friend/foe distinction is at the heart of his concept of the "political". Schmitt argues that a political community would cease to exist without a friend-foe distinction. Securitization challenges the neutral political sphere that liberalism has established. It stands against the pursuit of liberal politics and ongoing process of rationalization by means of calling for immediate action against an existential threat in order to constitute a new political regime. Schmitt's political realism is against "the liberal neutral state". It represents a critique of liberal parliamentarism and democratic procedures.⁴⁹ The "political" in this regime is based on particularism and passion against universalism and reason. In this regime there is no universal ground, and thus conflict between the self and the enemy cannot be reconciled through reasoning.⁵⁰ Socially agreed-upon rules are left aside while social and political life are reconstituted based on the decision of the political authority, or rather the judgements of the sovereign, ready and courageous enough to face the enemy or the existential threat. Therefore, securitization introduces "exceptionalism" and "decisionism" to political life by activating what could be termed as Schmittian politics⁵¹ or, according to Huysmans, "the logic of political realism," which is "a technique of government" using the

fear of violent death to reorder social relations. "Decisionism" reduces the state to the decision, not based on reason and deliberation.⁵² In decisionism political life is "an act of free will, personified in authentic, passionate leadership," which unites the people with the leaders. Fear of the enemy would require a bold decision to eliminate the imminent threat by the (dictatorial) leader that would unite the people to the political community.⁵³

The securitizing agent or actor, by claiming something to be or labelling something as a security threat, defends dealing with the threat to eliminate it with extraordinary means, breaking or bypassing the rules,⁵⁴ levying extra taxes, limiting certain liberties, or channeling resources to certain specific tasks. In democratic politics, political decisions are implemented in accordance with strict procedural rules, which takes time and are subject to deliberation, dissent and revision. Securitization challenges democratic procedures by means of institutionalizing speed or limiting public or judicial review on bureaucratic processes. Therefore, the politics of securitization is undemocratic.⁵⁵ When an issue is securitized, the government can impose laws or restrictions on individual liberties which otherwise would face opposition. The presence of an enemy hierarchically organizes human activities and privileges certain ones for the sake of the survival of the state and nation.⁵⁶ The constructed enemy poses a threat, which creates an emergency and disrupts the routine or procedural policy-making and implementation. An emergency requires an exceptional response. Legitimizing actions for extra-ordinary procedures by using security rhetoric leads to the institutionalization of the emergency procedure and the formation of black security boxes in the political process. A "move from liberal democratic to exceptional politics" takes place when the possibility of war becomes the utmost priority of the state.⁵⁷

The political agencies that act on behalf of the referent objects cannot securitize an issue alone. They present the issues to the audience in the political arena and get their approval.⁵⁸ This means that those who have positions of power – whose voice is accepted as legitimate – and who make decisions about security within the grammatically structured field of security, do not have absolute power. Political agencies gain credibility and assert their position through imposing certainty and making the order they are acting in more meaningful and understandable.

Securitization of Migration and Asylum

The migrant has emerged as the "anchoring point of securitarian policies" and has been at the heart of fears about security and identity from the 1990s

onwards.⁵⁹ There have been two important junctures in the securitization of migration, i.e. the presentation of migrants and asylum-seekers as existential threats. Following the end of the Cold War, political actors began to frame the migration issue in terms of security; in the aftermath of September 11 with the "war against terrorism," the migration-terrorism nexus was created.⁶⁰

With the end of the Cold War, when asylum applications in the North spiked, EU member states responded by changing their national legislation to restrict the number of asylum applications and access to refugee status. During the Cold War years, the refugee movements could be used as ideological tools in proxy wars, as refugees were instrumental in anti-communist propaganda. From the 1990s onwards, the refugees lost their ideological or geopolitical value and refugee movements came to be seen as an international threat rather than an issue to be dealt with by individual states.⁶¹ Some analysts started to portray refugees as bringing instability into the host state, from the poorer, underdeveloped parts of the world to developed countries. Kaplan (1996) argued that forced mass migration could carry misery, crime, and destruction. Simultaneously, the EU bureaucracy formed an internal security field in which it categorizes and deals with issues such as labor migration, forced migration, drug trafficking, organized crime and border control. The threat perception of infiltration by communists during the Cold War years was transformed into a fear of the penetration of Islamic fundamentalism into Western societies in the post-Cold War era. Since the 1990s, migration and asylum have been constructed as "existential threats" to the state.⁶² Some analysts describe refugee movements not only as a threat to the sovereignty of the state but also to international peace and security.63

As migration transgresses borders, migrants pose a challenge to state sovereignty. Borders are markers of identity, both national and political. The challenges posed by migratory crossings to state sovereignty allowed for the linking of irregular migration with different types of

As migration transgresses borders, migrants pose a challenge to state sovereignty. Borders are markers of identity, both national and political.

crime, organized, petty or financial, drug trafficking or terrorism.⁶⁴ Alongside the securitization of irregular migration and labelling of asylum-seekers as "illegal" or "bogus" in the European context, the international refugee regime went through a significant transformation from the 1990s onwards.⁶⁵ This transformation consists of the shift from durable to temporary solutions and from protection to containment, the establishment of a temporary protection regime through a restrictive interpretation of the 1951 Convention, declaring certain countries to be "safe," delegating the responsibility of international protection to countries neighboring refugee crises, funding the containment of refugee crises where they occur, if necessary undertaking military interventions to prevent mass exodus from conflict zones, and shifting responsibility for processing asylum claims to transit countries.⁶⁶

The transformation of the international refugee regime within the post-Cold War context is related to the replacement of the bipolar friend-foe relationship, on which securitization was based during the Cold War, with the unipolar "cosmos-chaos" divide, which delineates the EU, NATO or the Global North from the turbulent ex-communist states and Global South.⁶⁷ The NATO and EU enlargements could be seen as attempts to enlarge the cosmos and bring stability to chaotic Eastern Europe first and later on to the Southern Mediterranean.

The securitization of migration and asylum gained new momentum after September 11 within the context of the "war against terrorism". Until the Terrorism Act of 2000 was passed in the UK, the main focus of terrorism legislation in the UK was the conflict in Northern Ireland and Irish terrorism. With this new legislation, the UK defined the terrorist threat to be international in nature.⁶⁸ Following September 11, the international character of terrorism has been accentuated.

Terrorism could be defined as a "political communication strategy for psychological mass manipulation" seeking to influence and intimidate governments and public opinion. Terrorism is basically "psychological warfare."⁶⁹ Terrorism affects the security of both the state and individuals, and it intends to instill fear in the population. This enables the sovereign state to exert more control over the population and legitimizes its moves to protect the population from terrorism. Therefore, the state can use the fear as an "asset". That is what the U.S. as the sole superpower did and other states followed suit. Like security, insecurity is also politically and socially constructed, that is what has happened through the "war on terrorism". In the aftermath of September 11, it was not necessary for states to explicitly define asylum or migration as a security threat. As the issue was already well-integrated into the policy frameworks related with policing and defense, it became easy to transfer security concerns from terrorism to migration and asylum.⁷⁰ This allowed states to prioritize national security interests, while downplaying their humanitarian obligations. States could detain asylum-seekers who are then forced to live in detention centers in prison-like conditions for long years.⁷¹

Frances Webber describes the process of criminalizing immigrants and asylum-seekers in Europe as "crimes of arrival". Mere arrival has become a criminal act for which people may be detained, and in fact imprisoned.

When people are subjected to continued fingerprinting, when they are locked up, when they are restrained by body belts and leg shackles and thirteen feet of tape, or forcibly injected with sedatives to keep them quiet as they are bundled on the aircraft, it seems reasonable to ask: what have they done? The answer is that they have tried to come to Western Europe, to seek asylum, or to live here with their families, or to work here, and the whole panoply of modern politics, with its associated rhetoric, is applied against them.⁷²

In the post-September 11 context, we see depictions of migrants as "barbarian hordes" seeking to destroy Western civilization overlapping with depictions of terrorists trying to destroy Western states. The EU's securitizing rhetoric, like that of right-wing populism, portrays migratory flows as "barbarians at the gates," a "barbarian invasion," and even "barbarian warfare" threatening the

EU.⁷³ Hungarian Prime Minister Viktor Orbán at the 2017 Malta congress of the European People's Party argued that the EU's refugee policies during and after 2015 helped terrorists, and stated that "migration turned out to be the Trojan horse of terrorism." This speech came one week after a new law came into force

In the post-September 11 context, we see depictions of migrants as "barbarian hordes" seeking to destroy Western civilization overlapping with depictions of terrorists trying to destroy Western states.

in Hungary, requiring the detention of asylum-seekers in camps while their applications are processed.⁷⁴

The radical right parties and leaders are very successful in agenda setting and placing migration high on the political agenda of European states. It is however not solely the radical right actors that associate migration with terrorism or recent terrorist attacks in Europe. It is possible to see conservative, social democratic, liberal or left-wing political figures using a securitizing rhetoric. In Germany, Christian Social Union and Bavarian Finance Minister Markus Söder saw a link between the November 2015 attacks in Paris and the refugee influx to Europe. Sahra Wagenknecht, a German left-wing politician, economist and author, argued that due to growing migration poor Germans may have to compete for accessing food.⁷⁵ A leading German feminist Alice Schwarzer, following the sexual assaults on New Year's Eve in Cologne in 2015-16, argued that "Young men of Arab or North African descent are playing war in the middle of Cologne," which became possible due, according to Schwarzer, to "misplaced toleration" and "failed immigration" in Germany.⁷⁶

Within this securitizing discourse migrants are portrayed as dangerous or constructed as threats so that "we" can be made secure. A series of policy practices such as the temporary reintroduction of border controls in the Schengen area, the building of fences or walls to stop the refugee influx, and border policing or push-back operations in the Mediterranean that have led to the drowning of migrants and refugees, show how this securitizing discourse is effective or "successful".⁷⁷ This goes against democratic politics, as some are provided with security at the expense of others' security, breaching the principle of equality.⁷⁸ In the documentary, "The Other Traveler" by Pieter Boeles, Emeritus Professor of Migration Law, one of the members of the research team, Tamara Last, collecting data on the deaths at the border, shares what an Afghan man told her in Lesbos: "They are your borders, it's you they are defending;" they [the migrants/refugees] are dying for you."79 As result of the securitization of migration, the security, well-being and even lives of migrants and refugees are at risk. The European and American people, in whose name the securitizing acts are done, are not feeling more secure either. Securitization, rather than eradicating threats as it promises, breeds more insecurity and fear.

Securitization is the Problem, Not the Solution

The securitization of irregular and forced migration has reached to the point that it can be described as over-securitization, which creates more threats where there were none, while putting the lives of migrants and refugee protection at risk. It is time we consider whether this is the best way to deal with migration problems and provide security. Why should we give up securitizing migration and asylum?

First and foremost, it does not work. When the September 11 attacks took place, al-Qaeda had 300 *mujahedeen* in Afghanistan. In the 15 years of "war on terrorism" al-Qaeda and its successor terrorist organizations and most

recently DAESH have recruited thousands of militants. 30,000 foreign fighters from 100 countries joined the war in Syria. In 2001, there were a handful of training camps in Afghanistan; in 2014 and 2015 DAESH took entire provinces in Iraq and Syria under its control and claimed to be a state, challenging the borders and sovereignty of many countries in a region extending from Nigeria to Afghanistan and the Philippines. In 15 years-time, in 61,000 terrorist attacks 140,000 people have died and we feel nowhere safe on earth any longer.⁸⁰ The war on terrorism, or securitization of international terrorism, did not make us more secure.

Following September 11, the link between terrorism and asylum-seekers were accentuated more and more, even if none of the committers of the attack were asylum-seekers. It is not clear why asylum-seekers are deemed to be more prone to commit terrorist acts as compared to a country's nationals. Moreover, terrorists do not enter a country only through the asylum system or as migrants, actually they tend to enter through other ways, with business, tourist or student visas.⁸¹

It was the two decades of EU policy-making and borderization practices aimed at restricting migration that led to the construction of the so-called "Mediterranean migration crisis".82 Borderization practices, interception at sea, and similar push-back operations prioritizing border security over human lives would not stop people fleeing persecution and generalized violence. The British poet Warsan Shire in her poem "Home" states that "you have to understand, that no one puts their children in a boat unless the water is safer than the land."83 Despite the non-arrival regime in the North, many people fleeing poverty and persecution take enormous risks to cross the borders. Economic globalization facilitating the flow of capital, goods and cultural globalization facilitating the dissemination of ideas and values are the main reason behind this urge to migrate. As Castles argues, growing inequality between the North and South, growing instability in the South, and the cultural attraction of the Northern lifestyles are among the main factors that lead to voluntary and forced human mobility.⁸⁴ The impact of neoliberalization, the removal of control over multinational corporations and social safeguards in the Global South, enhance inequalities and create incentives for migration. New military humanism, as Noam Chomsky calls it, exacerbates the problems.⁸⁵ Following military intervention in the name of the protection of human rights or civilians, a political and economic system in line with the interests of the North is imposed on those countries.

These interventions create fertile ground for local conflicts, terrorism and forced migration.⁸⁶ As long as local and global disparities exist and they are exacerbated by global processes of inclusion and exclusion such as border controls, deportations and detentions will not stem the tide of irregular migrants and asylum-seekers. Moreover, linked with restrictive migration policies, human trafficking and smuggling becomes a "high yield low risk" business and part and parcel of the globalization process.⁸⁷

Through border enforcement, a new form of state sovereignty is being constructed. A new form of sovereignty with flexible rather than fixed and even expanding or shifting borders is taking shape. In a way, sovereignty becomes deterritorialized. Borders are "spatially and temporally produced" through state practices such as policing. As states seek to protect their order and borders they also yield violence. As criminological research shows there is a "symbiotic relationship" between policing and terrorism. Strict policing measures against terrorism limiting civil liberties have the potential to alienate individuals or groups seeking safety and protection.⁸⁸ Refugees seeking international protection are increasingly exposed to borderization practices and policing efforts and are now portrayed as posing a threat to national security. As crime and national security issues are increasingly intertwined, the border between internal and external becomes blurred and national security issues spill over into internal policing domains.⁸⁹ In this process, law enforcement and border enforcement come to overlap and border policing becomes a high politics issue. As a result, policing functions extend beyond national territory toward the neighboring and sending countries as well as transit zones, particularly to detention centers in other countries. For instance, the border policing functions of the Australian Federal Police extends beyond Australia to Indonesia.⁹⁰ Within this context, forced migration is no longer seen as a humanitarian issue but a security threat. This turns refugees into the target of policing activities against transnational organized crime (human smuggling).⁹¹

Second, the securitization of migration is self-defeating and counterproductive. Restricting and regulating migration as a measure against terrorist attacks or threats is increasingly used. However, the securitization of migration to curb irregular migration leads to an increase in irregular migration. Moreover, it hurts "bona fide migrants and legal foreign residents more than mala fide terrorists" by strengthening xenophobic attitudes. Many refugees and asylum-seekers become victims of racist attacks. The arson attacks in asylum centers in Europe could also be defined as acts of terrorism. In 2015, there were 900 xenophobic incidents in Germany.⁹² Data from Germany's Federal Criminal Police Agency show that refugee centers throughout Germany suffered near daily attacks in the first nine months of 2017 (211 attacks plus 15 additional attacks until October 23).⁹³

The securitization of forced migration in public discourse and academic works in the last two decades has turned into a "self-fulfilling prophecy". Exclusionist and restrictive measures, racial profiling, and prioritizing security at the expense of human rights lead to growing political tension among communities. It is highly unlikely that forced migrants running away from war, conflict, situations of generalized violence, or persecution would choose to attack a country that provides them with international protection, safety and a chance for a new start. They use their energies in building up their lives

from scratch and are more interested in bringing up their children in a secure environment far away from violent extremism. However, "panic politics" leads to feelings of anxiety

The securitization of forced migration in public discourse and academic works in the last two decades has turned into a "self-fulfilling prophecy".

and rage against the receiving state and society, and alienates the migrant populations and newly arriving migrants.⁹⁴ Marginalized or alienated communities, particularly youth deprived of rights to education and empowerment will pose new security threats.⁹⁵

Joshua Seidman-Zager argues that within the UK context, the association of refugees with terrorism in public discourse did not lead to an increase in human security, but rather to an increase in the host society's fears of asylum-seekers and refugees. Therefore, the securitization of refugees is "selfdefeating".⁹⁶ One of the fundamental aspects of security, particularly human security, is "freedom from fear". A much broader definition of human security also includes "freedom from want," extending the concept to issues such as the right to education, health, protection from poverty, etc.⁹⁷ As a result of securitization, rather than an increasing sense of security, fears of terrorism and along with it of asylum-seekers have increased.⁹⁸ If securitization and heightened security measures do not reduce but rather lead to increasing fears, this poses a threat to human security. Migration control as a counterterrorism measure, which is used to control a country's citizens, might in turn hurt them, rather than making them feel more secure.⁹⁹ Third, fueling anti-immigrant or refugee sentiment detracts attention from real priorities. Many DAESH militants are returning back to their countries, and their rehabilitation is an important issue. The formulation of better integration or harmonization policies and models for newly arriving migrants, asylum-seekers and refugees is another priority so that migrants and their children will not be vulnerable to extremist propaganda.¹⁰⁰

Fourth, the securitization of migration hurts the very values that we want to protect. Over-securitization undermines the basic premises of liberal democracy and strengthens authoritarian tendencies. If individuals compromise their freedom in return for invasive security measures, this could not be considered a positive development.¹⁰¹ As Webber rightly states: "In the name of the defense of our way of life and our enlightenment values from attack by terrorists or by poor migrants, that way of life is being destroyed by creeping authoritarianism, and those values – amongst which the most important is the universality of human rights – betrayed."¹⁰² Therefore, it is actually the citizens of the receiving countries that should challenge the curbing of the rights and freedoms of migrants, refugees and asylum-seekers. Citizens of liberal democracies will have to acknowledge the fact that it is their freedoms that will eventually be limited by counter-terrorism measures.¹⁰³ They will have to make a decision to stick to democratic norms and principles of equality and inclusion, or abandon them in search for more security.¹⁰⁴

Desecuritization of Migration: The Way Forward?

If the securitization of migration creates more problems than it promises to resolve, we have to ask ourselves: "Do we have to "associate the good life with policies nurturing insecurity towards strangers?"¹⁰⁵ If the answer is no then we have to search for ways of desecuritizing migration and asylum.

Desecuritization hitherto has been "undertheorized". Furthermore, efforts to conceptualize it to date have been "unsystematic or even contradictory".¹⁰⁶ Desecuritization simply means taking issues out of the security frame, not phrasing them as security issues, and moving them into the public sphere, i.e. back into the sphere of "normal politics".¹⁰⁷ Briefly, it is a move from "panic politics" to "normal politics".¹⁰⁸

Both Huysmans and Aradau argue that desecuritization represents an ethico-political choice in organizing the political. It is a "political strategy" offering an alternative basis for political community¹⁰⁹ against a move away from democratic politics to exceptional politics. Desecuritization, like

securitization, also constitutes a speech act, offering an alternative viewpoint or way to deal with migration, diversity or other issues.¹¹⁰ Desecuritization, however, cannot take place by merely uttering the phrase "I hereby declare this issue to no longer be a threat." Desecuritization cannot materialize simply when the members of the political community agree not to "speak security," as securitization does not occur when the word "security" is uttered. Therefore, desecuritization is "performative".¹¹¹

Desecuritization requires choice, which is as highly political as securitization. If securitization is a political choice, moving away from this choice and moving issues to the public sphere to be genuinely debated and negotiated is also a political choice. With choices comes responsibility. Therefore, we have to display "a morally committed agency". This is why, rather than advocating a strategy of desecuritization valid for all times and places, the Copenhagen School puts emphasis on the unique contexts which require actors to make choices.¹¹²

Here, how desecuritization can be successful in a securitized environment is the key question. Cherishing diversity is essential. However, it would not be sufficient for the desecuritization of the migration issue. The migration issue cannot be desecuritized through multicultural policies alone either.¹¹³ Certain cases, such as the case of Greece, show that if the securitization of an issue is successful and if the public starts to perceive that issue as a security threat, it becomes quite difficult to desecuritize it. Over two decades Greece, which had been defined as a country of emigration, went through a migration transition and became a country of immigration. Alongside a growing migrant population, the securitization of migration framed the migration issue as a "cultural and personal security threat". In the early 2000s the political elites sought to desecuritize the migration issue, which means that rather than criminalizing migrants the emphasis turned to integrating migrants. The ambiguous stance of the politicians, emphasizing both the social inclusion of documented migrants and the need to expel undocumented migrants, was the reason behind the failure to "move the issue off the security agenda" and "return the issue to its former status."114 A move away from "panic politics" requires consistent political leaders with the will to redefine the issue outside of the security framework. Desecuritization, however, does not take place only when the dominant elite discourse and policies are changed. In the Greek case, one has to take the newly emerging conditions of increasing fear and uncertainties into consideration, such as the 2007-8 financial crisis and the influx of refugees from 2015 onwards.¹¹⁵ More importantly, for desecuritization a "genuinely open or progressive debate" is necessary.¹¹⁶ As some forms of political deliberation may serve to further securitize the issue by operating as a platform for exclusionary ideas about the "other," "progressive" debate is essential.

Desecuritization, to be successful, has to offer an alternative way of organizing social relations based on the principle of equality, accommodating diversity and opening up channels for different voices, particularly of those who have been silenced or rendered vulnerable, to be expressed and heard. For this to occur, "dangerous others" have to be considered as "legitimate" participants in dialogue. Therefore, the principle of equality should guide the desecuritization process, where women should not be viewed as women but equal citizens and migrants not as migrants but workers with equal rights.¹¹⁷

Desecuritization, to be successful, has to offer an alternative way of organizing social relations based on the principle of equality, accommodating opening diversity and up channels for different voices, particularly of those who have been silenced or rendered vulnerable, to be expressed and heard.

Balibar argues that emancipation has to be defined with reference to universal values or already existing constitutional rights, which means that the struggle for emancipation has to show that there is a contradiction between the officially declared principles and what is actually happening.¹¹⁸ Emancipation entails the struggle of those integral parts of the political community against the state's securitizing or discriminatory practices. Those who are not members of the political community cannot pursue an emancipatory strategy. Those who are waging an emancipatory struggle have to come up with ways to link the "other(s)" to the political

community. This is possible through a "strategy of dis-identification from securitizing institutional practices such as the anti-war "not in my/our name" movement. The desecuritization of migration requires developing a new solidarity with migrants such as the "no one is illegal initiative" or fighting against extraordinary measures such as deportation, detention camps or push-back operations.¹¹⁹

Desecuritization, though not impossible, is practically quite difficult as the discussion above reveals. Still, there are different strategies that could be followed. A deconstructivist desecuritization strategy requires fragmentation of the "unified cultural alien" into many shifting identities. Roe suggests the

option of "moderate securitization" or the management of securitization, which means the establishment of deliberative institutions or mechanisms that would reduce the need for emergency politics. Reconstructionist strategy, suggested by Matti Jutila, puts emphasis on the reconstruction of identity in order to change how one sees the other.¹²⁰

A desecuritization strategy could involve prioritizing individuals as referent objects, rather than states, by emphasizing the human security concept, which includes both the physical and psychological well-being of individuals, and the humanitarian obligations of the state to refugees.¹²¹ The desecuritization of forced migration would not only mean the reinstitution of asylum but also ensuring better protection for refugees and asylum-seekers.¹²² Therefore, we would be able to provide protection for, and not from, refugees. The Welsh School puts forward an alternative to state-centered security based on the concept of emancipation. Emancipation could be defined as security at the individual level: the absence of hunger, fear or poverty. However, the Welsh School's reconceptualization of security amounts to replacing one referent object with another, rather than providing us with the means to desecuritize an already securitized issue.¹²³

Hansen identifies four forms of desecuritization. The first form is that of *change through stabilization*. In this form, despite successful desecuritization, the conflict looms in the background. Desecuritization may take the form of loosening of the friend-foe division as was the case with the end of the Cold War, when the evil Soviet Empire was no longer seen as an enemy.¹²⁴ A case of successful desecuritization could also be found within the context of the Cold War during the détente period, when Western bloc countries and institutions sought to convince the Eastern bloc political elites that political change is possible through political dialogue, which led to the onset of Helsinki Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE) process. This constitutes an example of the *change through stabilization* type of desecuritization. Desecuritization achieved during the détente period was a slow process. A key point is that the actors involved recognized each other as legitimate parties and opted to move away from the securitizing logic.¹²⁵

In the case of *replacement*, which is the second form of desecuritization, when an issue is desecuritized and moved out of the security context, another issue that is securitized would replace it. *Rearticulation* is the third form of desecuritization; it entails a fundamental redefinition and therefore transformation of the identity and interests of the actors involved. One

important example is the way in which Gorbachev recast the Cold War rivalry and East-West (friend-foe) divisions and relations. Actors who once viewed each other as enemies may opt for collaboration and negotiation rather than conflict. In this case rearticulation was voluntary, but there are other cases of involuntary rearticulation, such as the EU putting pressure on candidate states for further democratization or protecting minority rights through desecuritization, which reveals that there are power dynamics involved in the process of rearticulation.¹²⁶ One last form of desecuritization in Hansen's terms is *silencing*. While the speech-act is constitutive of securitization, the silencing of security speech might be considered desecuritization.¹²⁷ This however does not resolve the issue, but rather postpones it.

Different issues might require different desecuritization strategies. However, a certain set of preferences can still be identified, such as a preference for politics over violence, inclusion over exclusion, and deliberation over emergency security measures. As Aradau argues, desecuritization entails making a decision about the type of policies we want. Presumably, desirable policies would be ones linked with democracy or further democratization, more freedom, inclusivity, transparency, and accountability.¹²⁸ Huysmans suggests that desecuritization entails "a more pluralistic understanding of the political," which would allow the production of security knowledge in a more pluralistic political context, or alternative understandings of the political. Desecuritization would mean not considering the friend-enemy dichotomy as the basis of political unity. Therefore, it means seeking alternative approaches to political community and what constitutes it.¹²⁹ Arendt's idea of politics is not based on a friend-foe distinction, but on the ability of members of the political community to engage in debate as equals and act to create a common political realm. Reconstitution of the public sphere would also require the involvement of a much more diverse and wider range of actors than the actors involved in securitization.¹³⁰

Within this logic, the desecuritization of migration entails not seeing or defining migrants and asylum-seekers as existential threats. Desecuritization questions the "validity of security knowledge" in understanding migration and asylum.¹³¹ It is a call to see security issues from a much broader perspective, which would allow us to better understand global, transnational and local political, socio-economic and cultural dynamics at play.

Rather than portraying irregular migration as an invasion, the focus could turn to the very experience of irregular migrants, the harsh conditions and local and global inequalities that make them set out on a dangerous journey to their destinations, the transformation of welfare regimes that increase the demand for migrant labor, the structural dependence of certain sectors on migrant labor, the ageing of the population in the North, etc. Remembering that migration and asylum were not securitized in the 1950s and 1960s might provide us with certain insights, even if the dynamics at play are quite different and more complex. When Europe needed migrant labor for its growing economy, asylum-seekers had practical and ideological value. Therefore, labor migration could be regulated in accordance with the requirements of the labor market. Refugees could be perceived as human beings with rights, and therefore from a human rights perspective.¹³²

The securitization of migration becomes possible when it can capitalize on everyday fears, such as the fear of growing crime rates with growing

migration. For desecuritization to be successful it has to establish itself in everydayness.¹³³ Huysmans suggests the "sociology of everydayness" as a starting point which contextualizes issues or events in a wider social, economic and political context.

The securitization of migration becomes possible when it can capitalize on everyday fears, such as the fear of growing crime rates with growing migration.

Migrant riots could be understood and analyzed with reference to the deterioration of the living conditions of migrants, their segregation in ghettos, their growing unemployment, the discrimination they face in everyday life, etc. Contextualizing migration-related issues would serve to humanize migrants and show that they have concerns, desires and goals similar to those of the members of the receiving society.¹³⁴ Desecuritization in this way could actually lead to a state of security for all.¹³⁵

Endnotes

- 1 Khalid Koser and Amy E. Cunningham, "Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism: Myths and Realities," *Global Terrorism Index 2015: Measuring and Understanding the Impact of Terrorism*, Institute for Economics and Peace, 2015, p. 84 (Accessed 8 November 2017).
- 2 Thomas Nail, "A Tale of Two Crises: Migration and Terrorism after the Paris Attacks," *Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism*, Vol. 16, No. 1 (2016), p. 158.
- 3 Stephen Castles, "The International Politics of Forced Migration," *Development*, Vol. 46, No.11 (2003), pp. 172-173.
- 4 Cameron Sumpter and Joseph Franco, "Migration, Transnational Crime and Terrorism: Exploring the Nexus in Europe and Southeast Asia," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 12, No. 5 (2018), pp. 40-41.
- 5 Richard Wike, Bruce Stokes and Katie Simmons, "Europeans Fear Wave of Refugees Will Mean More Terrorism, Fewer Jobs," Pew Research Center, 11 July 2016, http://www.pewglobal. org/2016/07/11/europeans-fear-wave-of-refugees-will-mean-more-terrorism-fewer-jobs (Accessed 5 January 2019)
- 6 Seung-Whan Choi, "Does Restrictive Immigration Policy Reduce Terrorism in Western Democracies?" *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 12, No. 4 (August 2018), p. 14.
- 7 Niall McCarthy, "The Current Government Shutdown has Become the Longest in U.S. History," *Forbes*, 14 January 2019, https://www.forbes.com/sites/niallmccarthy/2019/01/14/the-currentgovernment-shutdown-has-become-the-longest-in-u-s-history-infographic/#579221757945 (Accessed 14 February 2019).
- 8 Michael Warren, "Why Trump's Threat to Declare a National Emergency Freaks Out Republicans," CNN, 12 February 2019, https://edition.cnn.com/2019/02/12/politics/trump-national-emergency-gop/index.html (Accessed 14 February 2019).
- 9 Koser and Cunningham, "Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism," p. 84.
- 10 Kaldor cited in Castles, "The International Politics of Forced Migration," p. 183.
- 11 Alex P. Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration: An Exploration," *International Centre for Counter-Terrorism Research Paper*, The Hague, May 2016, pp. 3-4.
- 12 Lisa Schirch, "9 Costs of Drone Strikes," *The Huffington Post*, 28 June 2012 https://www.huffing-tonpost.com/lisa-schirch/drones_b_1630592.html (Accessed 12 November 2017).
- 13 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 4.
- 14 Ibid, p. 43.
- 15 Ibid, p. 45.
- 16 "ISIS Terrorists Kidnaped up to 1,000 Children in Iraq & Syria," Alalam, 31 May 2015, (Accessed 10 November 2017).
- 17 "Nigeria: Abducted Women and Girls Forced to Join Boko Haram Attacks," Amnesty International, 14 April 2015, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2015/04/nigeria-abducted-womenand-girls-forced-to-join-boko-haram-attacks/ (Accessed 10 November 2017).
- 18 Manni Crone, Maja Felicia Falkentoft and Teemu Tammikko, "An Extraordinary Threat: Europe's Refugee Crisis and the Threat of Terrorism," *Danish Institute for International Studies*, Copenhagen, 2017, p. 20, http://pure.diis.dk/ws/files/910914/Report_05_Europes_Refugee_Crisis_Web.pdf (Accessed 5 February 2019).
- 19 Sumpter and Franco, "Migration, Transnational Crime and Terrorism," p. 45.
- 20 Koser and Cunningham, "Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism," p. 86.

- 21 Choi, "Does Restrictive Immigration Policy Reduce Terrorism in Western Democracies?" p. 16.
- 22 Nail, "A Tale of Two Crises: Migration and Terrorism after the Paris Attacks," p. 159.
- 23 Ibid, p. 160.
- 24 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 45.
- 25 Koser and Cunningham, Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism," p. 84.
- 26 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 44.
- 27 Ibid, p. 4; Koser and Cunningham, "Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism," p. 84.
- 28 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 36.
- 29 Anne Hammerstad, "Securitization as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy: Refugee Movements and the North-South Security Divide," *Political Association Annual Conference*, Swansea, 1-3 April 2008.
- 30 International Crisis Group, 12 April 2016 cited in Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 6.
- 31 Hammerstad, "Securitization as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy."
- 32 Sumpter and Franco, "Migration, Transnational Crime and Terrorism," pp. 43-44.
- 33 Ibid, pp. 36-37.
- 34 Ibid, pp. 39-40.
- 35 Ibid, pp. 41, 45.
- 36 Simon Dalby, "Security, Modernity, Ecology: The Dilemmas of Post-Cold War Security Discourse," *Alternatives*, Vol. 17 (1992), p. 97.
- 37 David Baldwin, "The Concept of Security," Review of International Studies, Vol. 23 (1997), p. 21.
- 38 Columba Peoples and Nick Vaughan-Williams, Critical Security Studies: An Introduction, London: Routledge, 2015, pp. 4, 22.
- 39 Dalby, "Security, Modernity, Ecology," p. 98.
- 40 Baldwin, "The Concept of Security," p. 10.
- 41 Peoples and Vaughan-Williams, Critical Security Studies, pp.9-10.
- 42 Ibid, p. 4.
- 43 Barry Buzan, People, States and Fear: An Agenda for Security in the Post-Cold War Era, London: Harvester Weatsheaf, 1991.
- 44 Barry Buzan, Ole Waever and Jaap de Wilde, Security: A New Framework for Analysis, Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1998, pp. 141, 120.
- 45 Trine Flockhart, "Visions and Decisions: A New Security Order," in Trine Flockhart (ed.), From Vision to Reality: Implementing Europe's New Security Order, Colorado: Westview Press, 1998, p. 1.
- 46 Buzan, Waever and de Wilde, Security, p. 26.
- 47 Ibid, p. 10.
- 48 Dalby, "Security, Modernity, Ecology," p. 107.
- 49 Jef Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit: Desecuritisation and Aesthetics of Horror in Political Realm," *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*, Vol. 27, No. 3 (1998), pp. 579-580; Claudia Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene: Desecuritization and Emancipation," *Journal* of International Relations and Development, Vol. 7, No. 4 (2004), p. 393.
- 50 Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," pp. 585-586.

- 51 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," p. 392.
- 52 Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," pp. 571, 582.
- 53 Ibid, pp. 586-587; Lene Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation: The Normative-Political in the Copenhagen School and Directions for How to Apply It," *Review of International Studies*, Vol. 38, No. 3 (2012), p. 529.
- 54 Joshua Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum: Protecting UK Residents," *Refugee Studies Centre Working Paper Series*, No. 57, University of Oxford, January 2010, pp. 9-10.
- 55 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," pp. 391, 401.
- 56 Jef Huysmans, The Politics of Insecurity: Fear, Migration and Asylum in the EU, Routledge: London, 2006, pp. 128-129.
- 57 Ibid, p. 133,135.
- 58 Buzan, Waever and de Wilde, Security, p. 31.
- 59 Ayşe Ceyhan and Anastassia Tsoukala, "The Securitization of Migration in Western Societies: Ambivalent Discourses and Policies," *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political*, Vol. 27 (2002), p. 22.
- 60 Peoples and Vaughan-Williams, "Introduction," pp. 6-7.
- 61 Julie Mertus, "The State and the Post-Cold War Refugee Regime: New Models, New Questions," International Journal of Refugee Law, Vol. 10 No. 3 (1998), p. 336.
- 62 Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," p. 569.
- 63 Hammerstad, "Securitization as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy"
- 64 Ceyhan and Tsoukala, "The Securitization of Migration in Western Societies," p. 25.
- 65 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," p. 13.
- 66 Castles, "The International Politics of Forced Migration," p. 180, 182; Mertus, "The State and the Post-Cold War Refugee Regime," p. 336.
- 67 Ola Tunander, "Post-Cold War Europe: A Synthesis of a Bipolar Friend-Foe Structure and a Hierarchic Cosmos-Chaos Structure?" Ola Tunander, Pavel Baev and Victoria Ingrid Einagel, *Geopolitics in Post-Wall Europe: Security, Territory and Identity*, London: Sage Publications, 1997, p. 18.
- 68 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," pp. 13-14.
- 69 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 14.
- 70 Huysmans, The Politics of Insecurity, pp 2, 3-4.
- 71 E. Ulziilkham, "Australian Refugee Discourse: 'Case for De-securitization of Refugees'?" The Mongolian Journal of International Affairs, No. 15-16 (2008-2009), p. 118.
- 72 Frances Webber, "Crimes of Arrival: Immigrants and Asylum-seekers in the New Europe," *State-watch*, 2000, http://www.statewatch.org/analyses/crimes-of-arrival.pdf (Accessed 10 November 2017).
- 73 Nail, "A Tale of Two Crises," pp. 164,162, 163, 158.
- 74 Jim Brunsden, "Europe Refugee Policy is 'Trojan Horse of Terrorism' Says Orban," *Financial Times*, 30 March 2017, https://www.ft.com/content/538b2a0a-154e-11e7-80f4-13e067d5072c (Accessed 9 January 2019)
- 75 Ibid, pp. 4-5.
- 76 Spiegel, "Chaos and Violence: How New Year's Eve in Cologne Has Changed Germany," 8 January 2016, http://www.spiegel.de/international/germany/cologne-attacks-trigger-raw-debate-on-immigration-in-germany-a-1071175.html (Accessed 9 January 2019).

- 77 Martin Beck, "Securitization of the Recent Influx of Refugees from the Middle East to Europe," *Center for Mellemøststudier*, University of Southern Denmark, September 2017, p. 2.
- 78 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," p. 399.
- 79 "The Other Traveler: A Documentary by Pieter Boeles," YouTube, 16 December 2018, https:// youtu.be/T4fut1OJhrk (Accessed 21 January2019).
- 80 Schmid, "Links Between Terrorism and Migration," p. 11.
- 81 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," pp. 15, 19.
- 82 Alison Mountz and Jenna M. Loyd, "Constructing the Mediterranean Region: Obscuring Violence in the Bordering of Europe's Migration 'Crises," ACME: An International E-Journal for Critical Geographies, Vol. 13, No. 2 (2013).
- 83 Warsan Shire, "Home," Facing History, https://www.facinghistory.org/standing-up-hatred-intolerance/warsan-shire-home (Accessed 10 November 2017).
- 84 Castles, "The International Politics of Forced Migration," pp. 181-182.
- 85 Noam Chomsky, The New Military Humanism: Lessons from Kosovo, London: Pluto Press, 1999.
- 86 Castles, "The International Politics of Forced Migration," p. 187.
- 87 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 15.
- 88 Sharon Pickering, "Border Terror: Policing, Forced Migration and Terrorism," Global Change, Peace & Security, Vol. 16, No.3 (2004), pp. 226, 222-223.
- 89 Ibid, p. 212-213.
- 90 Ibid, pp. 214-215, 217.
- 91 Ibid, p. 213.
- 92 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 40.
- 93 "Refugee Centers in Germany Suffer Near Daily Attacks," *Deutsche Welle*, 6 November 2017, http://www.dw.com/en/refugee-centers-in-germany-suffer-near-daily-attacks/a-41250754?maca=en (Accessed 7 November 2017).
- 94 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 48.
- 95 Hammerstad, "Securitization as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy."
- 96 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," p. 4.
- 97 Buzan, People, States and Fear, p. 37.
- 98 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," p. 5.
- 99 Schmid, "Links between Terrorism and Migration," p. 5.
- 100 Koser and Cunningham, "Migration, Violent Extremism and Terrorism," p. 85.
- 101 Seidman-Zager, "The Securitization of Asylum," p. 21.
- 102 Frances Webber, "Border Wars and Asylum Crimes," Statewatch, November 2006, p. 34.
- 103 Schmid, "Links Between Terrorism and Migration," p. 49.
- 104 Nail, "A Tale of Two Crises: Migration and Terrorism after the Paris Attacks," p. 166.
- 105 Huysmans, The Politics of Insecurity, p. 124.
- 106 Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," p. 527.
- 107 Edin Fako, "Strategies of Desecuritization," unpublished MA Thesis, Department of International Relations and European Studies, Central European University, Budapest, Hungary, 2012, p. 10.

- 108 Matt McDonald, "Deliberation and Resecuritization: Australia, Asylum-Seekers and the Normative Limits of the Copenhagen School," *Australian Journal of Political Science*, Vol. 46, No. 2 (2011), p. 291.
- 109 Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," p. 527; Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," pp. 573, 576-577.
- 110 Aradau, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," pp. 393, 396.
- 111 Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," pp. 530, 533.
- 112 Ibid, pp. 529, 531,534, 536.
- 113 Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," p. 589.
- 114 Jonathan Swarts and Neovi M. Karakatsanis, "Challenges to Desecuritizing Migration in Greece," *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, Vol. 15, No. 1 (2013), pp. 97,101.
- 115 Ibid, pp. 106, 109.
- 116 McDonald, "Deliberation and Resecuritization," p. 284.
- 117 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," pp. 401-402.
- 118 Balibar cited in Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," p. 403.
- 119 Ibid, pp. 404-405, 407.
- 120 Fako, "Strategies of Desecuritization," p. 13, 16.
- 121 Ulziilkham, "Australian Refugee Discourse," p. 123, 125.
- 122 Hammerstad, "Securitization as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy."
- 123 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," pp. 397-398, 401.
- 124 Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," p.533.
- 125 Ibid, pp. 536-537, 539.
- 126 Ibid, pp. 541-543.
- 127 Ibid, pp. 544-545.
- 128 Fako, "Strategies of Desecuritization," pp. 30, 35.
- 129 Huysmans, The Politics of Insecurity, pp. 125, 130.
- 130 Hansen, "Reconstructing Desecuritisation," pp. 530, 533.
- 131 Huysmans, The Politics of Insecurity, pp. 127, 143.
- 132 Ibid, pp. 144, 129.
- 133 Aradau, "Security and the Democratic Scene," p. 400.
- 134 Huysmans, "The Question of the Limit," p. 588.
- 135 Fako, "Strategies of Desecuritization," p. 48.

ARTICLE

Contextualizing Peace-Building Environments from a Sustainability Perspective: Findings of a Pilot Study in North Macedonia

Selver B. ŞAHİN^{*} & Levent OZAN^{**}

Abstract

Sustainability constitutes a key element of peace, which denotes not only the absence of war but also the presence of social conditions and capacity that enable the attainment of development outcomes in areas vital to basic human needs. Under this premise, this study explores how and which areas of sustainability may contribute to efforts to establish lasting peace in conflict-affected, fragile settings. It draws upon the framework of "circles of sustainability" to provide a preliminary trends analysis of the peace-building environment in North Macedonia. We have cross-referenced relevant policy documents with the public opinion of the citizens. The results obtained from this method yielded both similarities and differences, such as the fact that the economy was ranked second in both policy documents and public opinion. Differences emerged with regard to the prioritization of ecological and cultural aspects, with policy documents privileging ecology and public opinion heavily focusing on cultural factors. In light of the latest manifestations of cultural tensions during the referendum process on changing the country's name, it becomes both an urgent and challenging task for policy-makers to consider which cultural aspects are important to the public and how they can be addressed.

Keywords

North Macedonia, sustainability, peace-building, capacity, circles of sustainability.

Received on: 02.06.2019 Accepted on: 09.09.2019

^{*} Assist. Prof., Bilkent University, Department of International Relations, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: selver. sahin@bilkent.edu.tr.

^{**} Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Turkey. The opinions expressed in this article solely belong to the author and do not represent the views or opinions of the institution with which he is affiliated

Introduction*

Sustainability implies a lasting capacity within society that enables the satisfaction of its current and future needs without jeopardizing life support systems on Earth.¹ Its relationship with peace is recognized in the contemporary peace-building policy agenda, which was formally introduced by the United Nations (UN) in the early 1990s as part of the world body's efforts to "identify and support structures which tend to strengthen and solidify peace to avoid a relapse into conflict."2 In this strategic approach, peace is conceptualized as opposed to conflict which may take a violent form, especially when the basic human needs of society (e.g. physical safety, food security, access to regular income, freedom from oppression and discrimination) go unmet by governing authorities.³ The specific experiences of many "post-conflict" countries also point to the fact that the formal end of armed clashes through political settlements does not necessarily indicate transition to durable peace.⁴ It has been documented by development agencies that countries where citizens remain vulnerable to economic, political and environmental shocks (e.g. financial crises, military takeovers and disasters) due to weak or corrupt governance and public service delivery systems are prone to repeated cycles of violence.⁵ Consequently, it has become a widely-shared consensus in international policy circles that lasting peace requires longer-term engagement with the development of self-sustainable structures and mechanisms that have the potential to support the capacity of society to manage its internal tensions and cope with external challenges.⁶

The inclusion of a sustainability perspective within peace-related policy frameworks in the international arena represents an understanding that sustainability refers to an ongoing process. It entails strengthening society's structures and relationships that allow for a more effective management of natural, human, and institutional resources. In this process, producing domestic assessments of sustainability may help identify potential vulnerabilities, and consequently contribute to the taking of preventive measures against their potential or actual "adverse impacts on social and natural systems that are fully focused on people's needs."⁷

^{*} This study is one of the outputs of a research project, entitled "Policy and Practice of Integrated Security and Development as a Sustainable Peace-Building Strategy," supported by Turkey's Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK) under its Post-Doctoral Returns Program.
This paper aims to offer a preliminary trend analysis of sustainability in a conflict-affected, fragile setting. It reports on a pilot study undertaken in North Macedonia, which has experienced an inter-ethnic peace-building process since the signing of the internationally brokered Ohrid Framework Agreement (OFA) in 2001. The study was conducted between July 2015 and December 2016 and sought to address two basic questions: (1) How does sustainability appear in the official policy documents the Macedonian state authorities have produced to consolidate peace in the post-Ohrid era? and (2) How does it appear in people's perceptions? The analysis of both policy documents and citizen attitudes draws upon the concept of "circles of sustainability," which Scerri and James developed as an integrated analytical model to examine sustainability as an overarching social condition that has economic, political, ecological and cultural aspects.⁸

The case of North Macedonia is both interesting and relevant to the objective of understanding the contextual dynamics of the planning and implementation of internationally promoted peace-building frameworks for at

least two major reasons. Firstly, North Macedonia, which, despite differing from Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH) and Kosovo in terms of the timing and intensity of ethnic conflict and the degree of international involvement, illustrates the basic

The case of North Macedonia is both interesting and relevant to the objective of understanding the contextual dynamics of the planning and implementation of internationally promoted peace-building frameworks.

parameters and inherent limits of the international community's approach to conflict transformation: i.e., sustainable peace-building through democratic state-building. Prior work by Susan Woodward, for instance, suggests that varieties of state-building processes have come into existence in the Balkans because of the diverging treatment towards the states that emerged from the former Yugoslavia. Woodward asserts that the model of independent states in the cases of BiH, Macedonia and Kosovo "was drafted by outsiders, either U.S. government lawyers (from the State Department and the National Security Council) or U.S. and EU diplomats" who did not write the required foundational documents in the countries' native languages. In fact, according to Woodward, "they were not even translated into local languages at the time and [are] in some provisions, not even translatable."⁹ The aim of these externally drafted constitutions was solely "to end wars between parties (three in Bosnia and Herzegovina, two in Kosovo and two in Macedonia)" and accept the sovereignty claims of the favored parties while also enforcing a fait accompli of minority rights on the rest of the populations.¹⁰ Disregarding the ethnic and cultural nuances of the region, problems of ethnic divisions were merely shoved aside during the state-building process, resulting in three states that have been struggling to reach sustainable societal harmony.

Secondly, despite its seemingly multicultural democracy, North Macedonia has continued to be affected by turbulent politics ranging from corruption scandals to the contested conclusion of the almost three-decade long name-dispute with Greece. It has also been plagued by ethnic and cultural divides that have run even deeper in the post-Ohrid era.¹¹ Given the potential effects of this state of affairs on the fragile conditions of peace in the country, (and elsewhere, such as BiH, where there has been increasing emphasis on ethnicity as once again reflected in the results of the recent elections,¹² and Kosovo, where talks of a land swap between Serbia and Kosovo may reignite deep-seated ethnic disputes),¹³ it becomes fair to ask: To what extent can cultural and ethnic tensions be excluded from the formal processes of creating and maintaining the types of social systems and relationships that are conducive to the sustainable management of resources? We would like to note that it is our intention to conduct similar research in the future in BiH and Kosovo, which appear to have common structural and institutional foundations.

The paper begins with a brief discussion of sustainability as a means of peace and elaborates on the "circles of sustainability" concept. Using the "circles of sustainability" framework, the next section provides an analysis of the relevant policy documents and social attitudes on sustainability in North Macedonia. Our findings demonstrate a sharp contrast between the understandings of sustainability by the survey respondents and Macedonian policy planners. The policy implications of these findings will be discussed in the conclusion.

Social Sustainability as a Means for Durable Peace

Identifying and assessing the conditions of durable peace has been a key area of interest for both researchers and policy planners since Johan Galtung's seminal work on negative and positive peace.¹⁴ The distinction Galtung made between the two states of peace originates from the recognition that violence may take different forms and it cannot be equated with the "material manifestation of coercion" because the threat of violence as a "mechanism of social control" remains "latent in social relations."¹⁵ In other words, the absence of

direct or personal violence (i.e. negative peace) does not necessarily denote peace, because structural and indirect or cultural manifestations of violence (such as social injustices and inequalities) undermine its durability. A similar point has also been taken up by other researchers, who, by drawing attention to different types of inequalities, such as those relating to income distribution¹⁶ and access to resources by cultural groups,¹⁷ have sought to shed light on the dynamics of social and political stability.

Galtung's conceptualization of peace as a relational phenomenon has guided the UN's policy of peacebuilding introduced in the post-Cold War era with the objective of addressing the "root causes of conflict."¹⁸ In this policy framework, durable peace associated with conflict transformation is conditioned on the presence of institutions, structures and relationships that enable societies to meet their basic

Galtung's conceptualization of peace as a relational phenomenon has guided the UN's policy of peacebuilding introduced in the post-Cold War era with the objective of addressing the "root causes of conflict."

development needs and improve the quality of life of their members in an equitable and inclusive manner.¹⁹ A more recent example of the recognition that society's sustainability capacity and peace mutually reinforce each other is the *2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*, which identifies the promotion of peaceful and inclusive societies as one of the key components of the UN's *Sustainable Development Goals* (SDGs):

...The new Agenda recognizes the need to build peaceful, just and inclusive societies that provide equal access to justice and that are based on respect for human rights (including the right to development), on effective rule of law and good governance at all levels and on transparent, effective and accountable institutions.²⁰

Yet sustainability, which is about improving long-term human wellbeing, entails making choices as to which needs should be prioritized and how they should be pursued to promote social peace and prosperity.²¹ The concept of "circles of sustainability"²² may provide a helpful tool to investigate the requirements of sustainability that are dependent on subjective concerns and judgments. It aims to combine the analysis of both top-down policy planning processes and bottom-up community attitudes through use of a comprehensive "social life questionnaire". In this methodological model, sustainability The concept of "circles of sustainability" may provide a helpful tool to investigate the requirements of sustainability that are dependent on subjective concerns and judgments. is taken as a social condition that is shaped by different forms of social relations, practice and meaning across four conceptual domains: politics, economy, ecology and culture.²³ By treating sustainability as the "social" element that constitutes an overall category of enquiry, the "circles of sustainabili-

ty" approach aims to investigate the ways in which humans live and relate to each other and the environment, and highlight the prevailing objectives and ambitions at both the policy-making and community levels.²⁴ Political, economic, ecological and cultural characteristics all interact with each other within specific social contexts, and this integrated approach may help clarify the relationships between issues in different domains.²⁵ This is done by dividing the four domains into seven subdomains which give a coherent and meaningful sense of the social through outlining themes for each domain, as shown below.²⁶

Ecology	Politics					
 Materials and Energy Water and Air Flora and Fauna Habitat and Settlements Built-Form and Transport Embodiment and Sustenance Emission and Waste 	 Organization and Governance Law and Justice Communication and Critique Representation and Negotiation Security and Accord Dialogue and Reconciliation Ethics and Accountability 					
Economics	Culture					
 Production and Resourcing Exchange and Transfer Accounting and Regulation Consumption and Use Labour and Welfare Technology and Infrastructure Wealth and Distribution 	 Identity and Engagement Creativity and Recreation Memory and Projection Beliefs and Meaning Gender and Generations Enquiry and Learning Wellbeing and Health 					

Domains of Sustainability as a Social Phenomenon

Surveying policy documents to contextualize official discourses of sustainability, and mapping out community perceptions of sustainability are the two main components of the "circles of sustainability" approach we have incorporated into our study that aims to deliver a snapshot of North Macedonia's sustainability by bringing together analyses of relevant policy frameworks and community attitudes. We have used NVIVO (a qualitative data analysis software) to review the above domain themes in the policy documents Macedonian authorities have produced, and a "social life questionnaire" for capturing community attitudes. The questionnaire, composed of 50 questions (10 demographic questions and 10 for each of the four domains), was administered in Skopje and Tetovo. It was available in both paper and online versions and in Macedonian, Albanian, Turkish and English languages.

An Overview of the Peacebuilding Process in North Macedonia

Before outlining North Macedonia's sustainability profile, it would be worth providing some brief information on the background of the peacebuilding process in the country. North Macedonia was the only constituent part of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to gain independence without war. However, preexisting tensions between Slav Macedonians and ethnic Albanians escalated in the period post-independence from former Yugoslavia, particularly following the intensification of the armed clashes between separatist Albanians and the Serbian security forces in Kosovo in 1998, and NATO's military intervention a year later.²⁷ For many Macedonian Albanians, who, according to the 1994 census, comprised about 23% of the population,²⁸ the state structure was based on unfair institutional arrangements. For instance, the constitution designated Macedonian Orthodox Christianity as the state religion and Macedonian as the only official language of the country, while prohibiting the use of Albanian in parliament and higher education.²⁹ In addition, Albanians were underrepresented in local government, law enforcement and security institutions, and subject to systematic discrimination in day-to-day life.³⁰ While Albanians felt that they were treated as second-class citizens, Slav Macedonians feared that the Albanians' long-term objective was secession and even the creation of a "Greater Albania" through uniting with their co-nationals in the region.³¹

The mounting tensions, fueled by a widely-shared sense of exclusion and victimhood, escalated further in March 2001 when the newly formed paramilitary organization, the National Liberation Army (NLA), embarked on a rebellion in the largely Albanian-populated Northwestern part of the country. Clashes with the Macedonian army led to the displacement of more than

150,000 people – around 7% of the country's population.³² Compared to the Kosovo Liberation Army (KLA) which fought for independence from Serbia, the NLA had limited political objectives and achieved most of them through the internationally-brokered Ohrid Framework Agreement (OFA) signed in August the same year.³³ The OFA granted Albanian language an official status in municipalities where it is spoken by at least 20% of the population, stipulated its use in education and parliament, and introduced proportional ethnic representation in public administration and the formation of a power-sharing arrangement to better integrate Albanians and other ethnic minorities into a unitary state structure in exchange for the cessation of violence by all parties.³⁴ The OFA also assigned a disarmament and stabilization role to NATO, which deployed a small force of 3,500 troops to collect the weapons of rebels. The following year, the Democratic Union for Integration (DUI), founded by Ali Ahmeti, the NLA's political leader, joined the coalition led by the Social Democratic Union of Macedonia (SDSM), successor to the League of Communists of Macedonia. The inclusion of the DUI in the government met strong opposition from some ethnic Macedonians who viewed it as a dangerous concession to Albanian "rebels" and "terrorists."35 The 2006 parliamentary elections resulted in the victory of the conservative-nationalist Internal Macedonian Revolutionary Organization - Democratic Party for Macedonian National Unity (VMRO DPMNE) which chose the second largest Albanian party, the Democratic Party of Albanians (DPA), as its coalition partner. Nikola Gruevski's VMRO and Ahmeti's DUI formed a coalition shortly after the snap elections in June 2008 and dominated the country's politics until the December 2016 elections.

Even though the country has managed to avert renewed violence since the signing of the OFA, it has not been free from inter-ethnic tensions, political scandals, widespread corruption and weakness in the rule of law. Even though the country has managed to avert renewed violence since the signing of the OFA, it has not been free from inter-ethnic tensions, political scandals, widespread corruption and weakness

in the rule of law. For instance, the storming of the Parliament by VMRO DPMNE supporters in protest against the election of ethnic Albanian MP Talat Xhaferi, a former guerrilla, as speaker of the Parliament, made the world news in April 2017. Images showing SDSM leader Zoran Zaev, who report-

edly agreed to the recognition of a country-wide official status to the Albanian language as a precondition for the formation of a coalition, covered in blood, came as a shock for NATO Secretary General Jens Stoltenberg and other European leaders.³⁶ The attacks were indeed the latest in a prolonged political crisis facing the country since early 2015, when Zaev released recordings of phone conversations, which appeared to reveal that former prime minister Gruevski's government was illegally surveilling more than 20,000 citizens, including journalists, academics, civil society personnel and even members of its own government. Through mediation from the EU, a special prosecutor was mandated by the parliament to launch an investigation into the allegations of spying and corruption.

In May 2018, Gruevski was found guilty of abusing his powers over the purchase of a luxury vehicle.³⁷ Shortly after the Appeal Court's verdict later in October, which confirmed his two-year imprisonment, Gruevski fled to Hungary where he announced he had been granted political asylum by PM Viktor Orban, well-known for his staunch opposition to asylum.³⁸ A more recent example of the country's vulnerabilities may be seen in the escalating tensions during the name-change referendum as part of the Prespa Agreement concluded in June 2018 to resolve a long-standing dispute with neighboring Greece and pave the way for North Macedonia's membership in NATO and the EU.³⁹ While supported by ethnic Albanians, the deal received strong criticism from both the Macedonian and Greek opposition, highlighting lingering national sentiments in the region. Indeed, Macedonians who opposed the agreement linked their ethnic and cultural identity to the name 'Macedonia'. From their perspective, by agreeing to the name change imposed by Athens and Brussels, Zaev had humiliated the country. President Ivanov, for instance, described the deal as "historical suicide" and called for voters to boycott the referendum.40

Data Gathering and Presentation

The data for this pilot study was extracted from two kinds of sources: policy documents and reports in the framework of sustainability, and surveys conducted by Macedonian residents in 4 different languages (Macedonian, Albanian, Turkish and English). In order to combine top-down and bottom-up approaches, 64 policy documents/reports on sustainability available in English and 296 survey responses were used for the empirical evaluation of this study.

The data pool for the survey demonstrates a satisfactory gender ratio (47.1% female and 52.9% male), while there appears to be a gap in education levels, age and economic well-being. More than half of the survey participants indicated that they have bachelor degrees or higher academic qualifications. Approximately 65% of the participants were between the age groups of 20-29 and 30-39. Most participants also seemed to be comfortable with their financial situation; 52% of respondents indicated that they were "comfortable" and 34% chose the "well-off" option.

The following section clarifies the details on how the raw data was processed. Before explicating the details of the data and its results, the authors would like to emphasize that we are not testing any hypothesis in this analysis and are aware that it is not a representative sampling. Rather, our study is a preliminary trend analysis conducted for illustrative purposes only. The findings should therefore be considered as suggestive. We are planning to extend the research with a nationally representative sampling in the future.

For the aggregation of our data pool we used snowball sampling. This helped us find other participants during field research. ATLAS.ti's word cruncher was used to extract the count of words that were mentioned within the text of the documents. These raw word counts were added up manually for each domain of the circle of sustainability. Synonyms and related words were considered when adding words to these domains. For instance, "clean water," "water," and "drinking water" are all part of the water and air pillar of "ecology". Through this method, a simple content analysis of the policy documents was processed.

We compared the content of policy documents to that of the survey responses by identifying how much importance is focused on an issue. We also hand coded the survey responses by classifying each response after the demographic questions into two general categories of "significant" or "insignificant" issues.

Significant for

- "Strongly Agree" and "Agree"
- "Passionately Concerned," "Very Concerned" and "Concerned"

Insignificant for

- "Strongly Disagree" and "Disagree"
- "Not at All Concerned" and "Not Concerned"

From this data, we can gather that "culture" appears as the most important aspect of sustainability for the participants.

	Survey	Policy Documents				
Ecology	1,501 (24.06%)	23,120 (40.65%)				
Politics	1,496 (23.98%)	9,534 (16.76%)				
Economics	1,553 (24.89%)	17,526 (30.82%)				
Culture	1,689 (27.07%)	6,683 (11.75%)				

 Table 1: Emphasis on each circle of sustainability in the survey and policy documents

Findings

The findings of this pilot study reveal a sharp contrast between the understandings and requirements of sustainability held by the survey respondents and the country's policy planners. While "culture" is the most important aspect for participants, "ecology" was the most mentioned element of sustainability in policy documents, with "culture"-related content

mentioned the least. "Politics" is relatively similar in both, ranking at 3 in policy documents and 4 in survey responses. "Ecology" and "politics" rank higher in the policy documents, but "politics" has a relative similar ranking for both the survey and policy documents

The findings of this pilot study reveal a sharp contrast between the understandings and requirements of sustainability held by the survey respondents and the country's policy planners.

(ranking fourth and third respectively). For both the survey responses and the policy documents, "economics" and "ecology" are ranked closely to each other (second and third respectively for the survey and second and first respectively for the policy documents). This relative closeness in rank is also illustrated in the content of the policy documents.

One possible explanation for "culture"-related concepts to be less relevant in policy documents might be a rationalization by the country's policy-makers and bureaucrats that including cultural issues in strategic frameworks could inflame inter-ethnic tensions, which can easily turn into violent confrontation. In February 2011, for instance, around 100 ethnic Macedonians and Albanians were involved in clashes at the fortress in Skopje over the construction of a museum-church that resulted in the injury of eight people, including two police officers.⁴¹ The killing of five Macedonians in 2012, and the sentencing of the Albanian defendants to life imprisonment for "terrorism" two years later triggered a wave of violent protests in the capital.⁴² Furthermore, a police operation in ethnically mixed-Kumonovo in May 2015 left eight members of the security forces and fourteen Albanians, including former liberation fighters from Kosovo, dead.⁴³ The timing of the offensive, just days before the opposition's planned anti-government demonstrations in protest of the wiretapping revelations raised concerns among local and foreign political analysts.⁴⁴ Johannes Hahn, the EU's enlargement commissioner, was quoted in the media as stating that the violent event "cannot and should not distract from the very serious internal political situation" and it "should not be used to introduce a further complexity by injecting ethnic tensions into the situation."⁴⁵

An alternative explanation for the lesser emphasis on culture in the policy documents might be that the country's electoral politics makes transformative policy interventions in the area of culture too politically costly. The OFA, which ended the armed conflict in 2001, introduced proportional representation and power-sharing to generate sustained peace through facilitating the representation of minority groups in the political and institutional realm. The power-sharing model, designed to reconcile the Macedonian position on maintaining a unitary state structure with Albanian demands for greater exercise of parliamentary influence,⁴⁶ institutionalized ethnicity as the basis of the country's governmental and institutional structuring. Indeed, the governments (including those formed before the OFA) in North Macedonia have always been ethnic coalitions made up of a large Macedonian party and a minor Albanian party.⁴⁷ The introduction of proportional representation and power-sharing has only formalized this system, which gives the country's politicians little incentive to respond to the cultural demands of all Macedonian citizens. Hence, the policy focus on the overarching ecological, economic and political issues rather than cultural factors may be understood as a manifestation of the country's elites' tendency to keep culture as an exclusive area to use for political gains at the ballot box.

On the other hand, the public, according to the survey results, is concerned with the survival of their cultural beliefs and values. In a historically divided society with a recent experience of violent conflict such as North Macedonia this may not come as a surprising development. The majority Slav Macedonians who dominate state power tend to view the society as Macedonian in cultural terms, whereas the minority Albanians who emphasize the multi-cultural character of the society mostly live in the Northwest parts of the country.⁴⁸ Even in mixed areas such as Skopje or Kumanovo, Albanians and Slav Macedonians have maintained almost entirely segregated social and economic relations, living in different villages or urban quarters.⁴⁹ Due to the religious divide between Islam and Orthodox Christianity, inter-marriage is also a rare event.⁵⁰ The 2001 violence represents the clash of these two, completely different visions of the society.⁵¹ As evidenced by the persistence of ethnic political parties, the inability of ruling coalitions to pursue strategies around issues that cut across ethnic differences, incidents of ethnically motivated violence, and the lack of political will to address past human rights violations, North Macedonia has been "far from [an] integrated society."⁵²

Considering the developments in North Macedonia since the wiretapping scandal, the survey questions assigned to each circle are especially indicative of society's sentiments. One of the main problems that the leaked conversations brought back to the surface was the ethnic tensions that the OFA had sought to mitigate. The implementation of the OFA was modelled through ethnic power-sharing between the two biggest Macedonian and Albanian parties, VRMO-DPMNE and DUI, that had governed the country for almost a decade since 2008. However, rather than using the OFA as a strategic guideline to develop the foundations of a multi-ethnic society, the two parties "turned the agreement into an instrument for seizing state resources and expanding their patronage networks," which are difficult to dismantle.⁵³ At the same time, the power-sharing model provided the coalition partners with a scape-goat for the setbacks that citizens encountered.⁵⁴

In addition to revealing large-scale illegal surveillance and abuse of power by the Gruevski government, the wiretap recordings also contained some denigrating conversations between VMRO officials about ethnic Albanians that posed a serious political challenge to Ahmeti, whose years of coalition partnership with Gruevski had already significantly shattered his "old rebel credibility" and claim to promote community interests.⁵⁵ It appears that Zaev's SDSM, which increased its seats from 34 to 49 at the December 2016 elections, attracted at least twice as many Albanian votes as the DUI.⁵⁶ VMRO and DUI, which tended to use the ethnic makeup of the country to generate political power and leverage, were the two biggest losing parties in the elections.⁵⁷ In addition to the DUI, which won 10 seats, three other Albanian parties gained representation in the parliament – with the newly formed BESA Movement receiving 5, the Alliance of Albanians 3, and the Democratic Party of Albanians 2. As noted earlier, except for 2006-8, the ruling coalitions were formed between the Macedonian and Albanian parties that won the majority of the votes from their constituencies. During the 2014 elections, the VMRO had the majority of the parliamentary seats (61 out of 120) and its inclusion of the DUI was rather a procedural decision.⁵⁸ Even though they had fewer seats, the "Albanian camp" had better bargaining power and chance to push their agenda as their support was crucial for the formation of a new coalition led by the VMRO or SDSM.⁵⁹

Shortly before Gruevski received a mandate to form a government from President Ivanov in January 2017, the DUI initiated a platform with the BESA Movement and DPA and encouraged the adoption of a series of demands as preconditions for the formation of a government. These demands put little emphasis on tackling corruption and the rule of law weaknesses that underlie North Macedonia's deep-rooted political crisis, and were largely focused on essentially difficult-to-accept ethnicity-based preconditions such as the extension of the official status of Albanian across the country and the start of talks to change the flag and national anthem.⁶⁰ In making these demands, Ahmeti had sought to promote the idea that VMRO and SDSM have the same attitude toward Albanians and ensure the return of Albanian votes during the 2017 elections.⁶¹

As a result, it is essential to briefly consider how the exploitation of ethnic tensions, along with the facts of the political scandals, may have affected the public's perceptions of the government and their responsibility for sustainability. To start with attitudes on cultural safety, half of the respondents (51%) feel either "satisfied" or "very satisfied" with the safety of communities and freedom of cultural expression in their locality, while 19% of the respondents fall on the opposite end of the spectrum. Even though it is difficult to identify the ethnic breakdown of survey respondents, as some of the participants completed the English version, the share of negative responses, somewhat close to the ratio of the Macedonian Albanians in the population, may reflect the minority Albanians' safety concerns due to these rising tensions. However, the survey results, regardless of participants' ethnic background, indicate that there are mixed-to-positive feelings toward ethnic and cultural freedom. Over three fourths of the respondents (79%) feel that people living in their locality are free to celebrate their own rituals and commemorations publicly. While

there is a significant consensus that ethnic minorities can practice their traditions freely, it does not mean that those specific minorities agree on this statement. Since our survey did not ask for ethnic identity beforehand, there is no means of proving that ethnic traditions are satisfyingly practiced. Future research may add ethnicity as a controlling variable and highlight these ethnical and cultural relations more precisely. Currently, even official documents make reference to culture only minutely.

Cross-referencing with the government documents, only 11.75% of the content is comprised of the circle of culture (See Figure 1), the lowest out of all within the documents. This somewhat reinforces the idea that ethnicity and culture are merely touched on to avert criticism towards corruption and authoritarianism. From another perspective it can also reinforce the idea that the ethnic matters of society were never formally considered as an aspect to improve upon, which might suggest that the majority Macedonian party was still deeply discriminating toward Albanians.

On a side note, the results suggesting that culture is less emphasized in governmental documents could be explained by North Macedonia's vulnerability to external pressure, specifically from the EU, which it aspires to join in the years ahead. Given the fact that North Macedonia's NATO accession process is on its way to being finalized, as more than half of the members, including Turkey,⁶² have ratified the accession treaty,⁶³ and that the EU has announced that the prospect of accession talks will be opened no later than October 2019,⁶⁴ North Macedonian government documents would naturally be inclined to highlight aspects that do not display issues of ethnic tension. Any implication in formal policy frameworks of ethnic dissonance within Macedonian society is likely to slow down or even halt the accession processes for both international organizations, as it may be used as a reference point for requiring additional governance reforms. Such a reaction from the EU could be discerned during the Kumonovo incident mentioned above.

The survey results also exhibit a consensus that the Macedonian state insti-

tutions are deeply flawed. This is illustrated by the 83% of the respondents who felt "concerned," "very concerned," or "passionately concerned" about the corruption

The survey results also exhibit a consensus that the Macedonian state institutions are deeply flawed.

of local institutions, and a meagre proportion of agreement (12%) on the government's capacity to make decisions and laws that are good for their lo-

cal lives. This feeling of public distrust in the country's politicians and institutions is not exclusive to ethnicity, which was only used by the governing authorities to create a smokescreen that diverts attention from more pressing issues such as unemployment, which reached 31% in 2012 and regressed to 22% in 2017, or the fact that around a quarter of the population lives under the poverty line.⁶⁵ Additionally, there is little hope among the public that they can influence the authorities surrounding them: 34% of respondents believe this is possible, while 27% disagree. These responses display an uncertainty and split in society's level of trust toward state institutions and authorities. In relation to the government documents, the circle of politics seems less of a concern, only constituting 17% of the total content. The lack of concern about stable institutions or a solid judiciary system could be credited to the system that the prior majority parties have set up.

When it comes to the economic aspects of sustainability, the circle of economics is the second-highest out of all the content of the policy documents (30.82%). Looking at the content of the gathered documents, matters pertaining to North Macedonia's economy appear to be one of the most important priorities of the government. The policy emphasis on economic issues notwithstanding, the survey responses suggest that the public is highly concerned about matters of living standards or slumps in the local economy. For instance, around two-thirds of respondents (67%) do not believe that wealth is distributed widely enough in their locality so that all can enjoy a good standard of living. Furthermore, a significant majority of the participants (79%) are, to various extents, concerned about a slump in the local economy. However, despite this negative outlook most of the respondents (70%) agree that economic growth can be compatible with environment sustainability, suggesting that the respondents do not think of this relationship as binary. This is also relevant to the environmental sensibility of the public as discussed below. Yet, trust in local or governmental institutions to mitigate economic fluctuations are at very low levels. Considering the corruption scandals, these negative public attitudes are not surprising at all.

Last but not least, ecology also displays significant disparities between the public and the government. In terms of participants' satisfaction with the environment they live in, positive responses (45%) outweigh negative ones (23%). However, only 21% of the participants expressed confidence in the ability of experts to find a solution to environmental problems, suggesting that citizens' reported levels of satisfaction with the environment might just

be based on personal attachment, not because governments and experts are effective at managing ecological and environmental issues. This pattern is also reflected in participants' views on the role of their surrounding environment in their identity, with 41% feeling that their identity is bound to the local natural environment and landscape in which they live.

Regarding data collection locations, we would like to note that we have chosen only Skopje, the nation's capital and biggest city, where Macedonians form the majority of the population, and the Northwestern city of Tetovo, mainly populated by ethnic Albanians. The ethnic composition of the cities and the status of the respective dominant communities may have impacted the respondents' perceptions about the weight of the cultural factors that were highlighted. Furthermore, using only two big cities could also explain why the respondents identified themselves as financially comfortable. People who are financially comfortable may be inclined to emphasize societal or "high-political" issues. The financial background of the respondents may become a limiting factor for the data when considering the possibility of the extent to which the responses of people living in rural places may differ from those of city-dwellers. At first thought, rural locations' responses would most likely differ in the areas of "environment" and "economy". Considering the scale of towns and villages, and their relative lack of urban infrastructure, some basic needs such as transport or access to electricity could be much more essential to survey respondents. Conversely, due to lower average incomes and the opportunity to grow basic produce for nourishment, most respondents would not assign as much significance to general economic issues such as growth or unemployment as city-dwellers might.

Another characteristic of the data collected is the fact that the resulting percentages of the circles are not drastically different from each other. This could be indicative of how the public perceives each circle as a fundamental component of the complete whole of the concept of sustainability. That is to say, each circle should be equal parts of a whole. Naturally, given its capabilities, each state can only show so much attention to each circle through specific policies. Our results suggest that the North Macedonian state seems to significantly favor one over the other, specifically ecology (40.65%) and economy (30.82%) over the others. While there are certainly going to be differences in each area, concerns may arise when an area of sustainability such as culture is primarily neglected in the content of policy documents (11.75%). As Luc Rychler points out, sustainable peace not only requires "the absence of violence" but also "the elimination of unacceptable political, economic and cultural forms of discrimination." Sustainability in North Macedonia can only become potent if the core of issues is tackled in a more comprehensive and integrated manner. Considering the historical background of the conflict in North Macedonia and the way in which ethnic issues have been addressed, much like in BiH and Kosovo, the limited attention given to culture in the policy documents is noteworthy. Nevertheless, as this is a pilot study designed to provide a preliminary trends analysis, further research may need to be undertaken, not just in North Macedonia, but also in similarly "peace-rebuilt" Balkan countries, in order to reach more decisive conclusions.

Notwithstanding such limitations, the study should provide further insight for policy-makers, for instance, with regard to the interaction between geographical context and the construction of identity and how these factors can have implications for the policy level. As noted earlier, ecology is the most mentioned circle within the policy documents, and culture is the least. The emphasis in the survey on the cultural aspects of sustainability and the respondents' perceptions of the relevance of the landscape to identity, on the other hand, draws attention to the point that outcomes in one circle are linked to processes in another. Interdependencies between circles require policies that are designed from a holistic perspective. In the context of ecological sustainability, for instance, the consideration and integration of local meanings, understandings and relations into policy frameworks may provide a useful guideline for policy planners in their efforts to better respond to the development needs of the community and improve its members' quality of life.

Conclusion

In this paper, we took sustainability as the center of our contextualized analysis of North Macedonia, which has been undergoing a peacebuilding process since the short-lived violent conflict in 2001. Our analytical approach, based on the "circles of sustainability" concept, sought to demonstrate how sustainability appears in policy documents and people's perceptions. By ranking each "circle of sustainability" for policy documents and survey responses through number of mentions and "significance" scales respectively. By juxtaposing the bottom and the upper echelons of the Macedonian political spectrum, we have concluded that the circle of "culture" is the most significant aspect for the survey participants, while the circle of "ecology" is the most important for policy documents. However, there is an alignment in ranking for the circle of "economics" which is ranked in second place for both the surveys and policy documents. Due to North Macedonia's economic and political handicaps, both the government and the people seem to be concerned on a similar scale.

However, it is difficult to say the same thing about the circle of culture, which is addressed in our survey but ranks lowest in the policy documents. Moreover, deducing from our survey responses, a majority of participants do not encounter ethnic and cultural discrimination, leading us to deduce that ethnic and cultural tensions, which were perceived by only a minority of the public according to our respondents, may have been incited by the earlier governing authorities. On the other hand, recent political developments such as the Prespa Agreement and the subsequent September 30th referendum indicate that bilateral relations are still heavily affected by ethnic and cultural factors. Under these circumstances, our study has merely touched the tip of the iceberg of the ethnic and cultural dynamics that pervade political life in the Balkans. With that being said, future analysis could introduce ethnicity to the survey responses, allowing the research to control for ethnic background, clarifying which ethnic groups perceive there to be ethnic strife. Such studies could also make use of integrated models of sustainability with the top-down/bottom-up approach applied in this research as basis for other cases, such as BiH's new internal politics or the direction of the Prishtina-Belgrade dialogue.

Perhaps most disturbingly, despite being the fuel of conflict in North Macedonia and the Balkans in general, ethnic and cultural factors are largely neglected in the policy documents. There are significant differences between the public's and government's perceptions of circles such as "ecology" or "culture," each ranking differently in survey responses and policy documents. Considering the region's historically fraught background in terms of ethnicity and culture, it may be advisable for policy planners to take into account the public's perceptions toward culture as revealed in this study. By encouraging future research to focus on the cultural- and identity-based aspects of sustainability, a more comprehensive understanding of ethnic tensions and their legitimate sources may also be established.

Endnotes

- World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED), Our Common Future, 1987, https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5987our-common-future.pdf (Accessed 20 August 2019); United Nations, Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, 1992, https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/ content/documents/Agenda21.pdf (Accessed 18 August 2019); National Research Council, Our Common Journey: A Transition toward Sustainability, 1999, https://www.nap. edu/catalog/9690/our-common-journey-a-transition-toward-sustainability (Accessed 12 August 2019).
- 2 United Nations, An Agenda for Peace: Preventive Diplomacy, Peacemaking and Peacekeeping, 1992, http://www.un.org/ruleoflaw/files/A_47_277.pdf (Accessed 12 August 2019).
- 3 John Burton, *Conflict Resolution and Prevention*, New York: St. Martin's Press, 1990; United Nations Development Programme, *Human Development Report*, 1994, http://hdr.undp. org/sites/default/files/reports/255/hdr_1994_en_complete_nostats.pdf (Accessed 4 August 2019).
- 4 World Bank, Post-Conflict Reconstruction: The Role of the World Bank, 1998, http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/175771468198561613/pdf/multi-page.pdf (Accessed 12 August 2019); Paul Collier et al., Breaking the Conflict Trap: Civil War and Development Policy, Washington, DC: World Bank and Oxford University Press, 2003; Barbara F. Walter, "Why Bad Governance Leads to Repeat Civil War," Journal of Conflict Resolution, Vol. 59, No. 7 (2015), pp. 1242-1272.
- 5 World Bank, World Development Report, 2011, http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/806531468161369474/pdf/622550PUB0WDR0000public00BOX361476B.pdf (Accessed 4 August 2019); OECD, States of Fragility Report, 2016, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264267213-en.pdf?expires=1566390470&id=id&accname=guest&checksum= 9989CB9487813F924DF0981F37170646 (Accessed 8 August 2019); Paul Collier and Anke Hoeffler, "Aid, Policy and Growth in Post-Conflict Societies," European Economic Review Vol. 48 No. 5 (2004), pp. 1125-1145.
- 6 Cedric de Coning, "From Peacebuilding to Sustaining Peace: Implications of Complexity for Resilience and Sustainability," *Resilience*, Vol. 4, No. 3 (2016), pp. 166-181; Elizabeth M. Cousens et al., *Peacebuilding as Politics: Cultivating Peace in Fragile Societies*, Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2001.
- 7 UNESCO, Resilient People, Resilient Planet: A Future Worth Choosing, 2012, https://en.unesco.org/system/files/GSP_Report_web_final.pdf, p. 13 (Accessed 20 August 2019).
- 8 Andrew Scerri and Paul James, "Accounting for Sustainability," *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (2010), pp. 41-53.
- 9 Susan L. Woodward, "Varieties of State-Building in the Balkans: A Case for Shifting Focus," in B. Austin, M. Fischer, H.J. Giessmann (eds.), Advancing Conflict Transformation: The Berghof Handbook II, Opladen / Framington Hills: Barbara Budrich Publishers, 2011, p. 324.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 George Vasilev, "Multiculturalism in Post-Ohrid Macedonia: Some Philosophical Reflections," *East European Politics and Societies and Cultures*, Vol. 27, No. 4 (2013), pp. 685-708.

244

- 12 "Serb Nationalist Wins Bosnia Presidency Seat in Ethnically Charged Election," *RFERL*, 7 October 2018, https://www.rferl.org/a/bosnia-herzegovina-presidency-election-russia-dodik/29530509.html (Accessed 11 August 2019).
- 13 Guy Delauney, "Kosovo-Serbia Talks: Why Land Swap Could Bridge Divide," BBC, 6 September 2018, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-45423835 (Accessed 6 August 2019).
- 14 Johan Galtung, "Violence, Peace and Peace Research," *Journal of Peace Research*, Vol. 6, No. 3 (1969), pp. 167-191.
- 15 Nicholas Onuf, "Centre-Periphery Relations: What Kind of Rule, and Does it Matter," *All Azimuth*, Vol. 6, No. 1 (2017), p. 10.
- 16 Alberto Alesina and Roberto Perotti, "Income Distribution, Political Instability, and Investment," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 40, No. 6 (June 1996), pp. 1203-1228.
- 17 Frances Stewart, Horizontal Inequalities: A Neglected Dimension of Development, QEH Working Paper Series, 2002; Gudrun Ostby, "Polarization, Horizontal Inequalities and Violent Civil Conflict," Journal of Peace Research, Vol. 45, No. 2 (2008), pp. 143-162.
- 18 United Nations, An Agenda for Peace; UN Brahimi Report 2000, https://www.un.org/en/ events/pastevents/brahimi_report.shtml (Accessed 29 August 2019).
- 19 Stewart, Horizontal Inequalities; Ostby, "Polarization, Horizontal Inequalities and Violent Civil Conflict;" Barbara F. Walter, Conflict Relapse and the Sustainability of Post-Conflict Peace, World Development Report Background Papers, Washington DC: World Bank, 2011.
- 20 United Nations, "Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015, A/RES/71, para. 35.
- 21 Joshua Fisher and Kristen Rucki, "Re-conceptualizing the Science of Sustainability: A Dynamical Systems Approach to Understanding the Nexus of Conflict, Development and the Environment," *Sustainable Development*, Vol. 25, No. 4 (July/August 2017), pp. 267-275.
- 22 Scerri and James, "Accounting for Sustainability."
- 23 Ibid. Also see Liam Magee, Andrew Scerri and Paul James, "Measuring Social Sustainability: A Community-Centred Approach," *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, Vol. 7, No. 3 (2012), pp. 239-261.
- 24 Liam Magee et al, "Reframing Social Sustainability Reporting: Towards an Engaged Approach," *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, Vol: 15, No. 1 (2013), pp. 225-243.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 ICG, The Albanian Question in Macedonia: Implications of the Kosovo Conflict for Inter-Ethnic Relations in Macedonia, 1998, https://www.crisisgroup.org/europe-central-asia/balkans/ macedonia/albanian-question-macedonia (Accessed 29 August 2019).
- 28 "Ethnic Tensions in Macedonia," Strategic Comments, Vol. 7, No. 3 (2001), pp. 1-2.
- 29 Ibid. Also see Sasho Ripiloski and Stevo Pendarovski, "Macedonia and the Ohrid Framework Agreement: Framed Past, Elusive Future," *Perceptions*, Vol. 18, No. 2 (Summer 2013), pp. 135-161.

- 30 ICG, *The Albanian Question*; Ripiloski and Pendarovski, "Macedonia and the Ohrid Framework Agreement."
- 31 "Ethnic Tensions" in Macedonia."
- 32 ICG, "Macedonia: Still Sliding," Balkans Briefing, 27 July 2001, https://www.crisisgroup.org/ file/3270/download?token=uFP64hTa (Accessed 29 August 2019).
- 33 Christopher K. Lamont, International Criminal Justice and the Politics of Compliance, London and New York: Routledge, 2016.
- 34 ICG, "Macedonia: War on Hold," Balkans Briefing, 15 August 2001, https://www.crisisgroup.org/file/3271/download?token=5DcCB4IO (Accessed 6 August 2019); Ripiloski and Pendarovski, "Macedonia and the Ohrid Framework Agreement"; Lamont, International Criminal Justice and the Politics of Compliance.
- 35 Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), Macedonia A Conflict Analysis, 2003, http://www.sida.se/contentassets/a4319f99cc124339800aecd53db36bfa/ macedonia-a-conflict-analysis_936.pdf (Accessed 20 August 2019).
- 36 "Macedonia Parliament Stormed by Protesters in Skopje," *BBC News*, 28 April 2017, https:// www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-39738865 (Accessed 8 August 2019); "Protesters Raid Macedonia Parliament Chamber over Albanian Speaker," *DW*, 27 April 2017, https:// www.dw.com/en/protesters-raid-macedonia-parliament-chamber-over-albanian-speaker/a-38618695 (Accessed 9 August 2019).
- Sinisa Jakov Marusic, "Macedonia Court Gives Gruevski Two-Year Sentence," *Balkan Insight*,
 May 2018, https://balkaninsight.com/2018/05/23/gruevski-sentence-05-23-2018 (Accessed 20 August 2019).
- 38 Shaun Walker, "Anti-Asylum Orbán Makes Exception for a Friend in Need," *The Guardian*, 21 November 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/nov/20/anti-asylum-orbanmakes-exception-for-a-friend-in-need (Accessed 12 August 2019).
- 39 Helena Smith, "Macedonia Changes Name, Ending Bitter Dispute with Greece," *The Guard-ian*, 18 June 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/17/macedonia-greece-dispute-name-accord-prespa (Accessed 11 August 2019).
- 40 Helena Smith, "Macedonia Facing Crisis after Name Change Referendum Hit by Low Turnout," *The Guardian*, 1 October 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/sep/30/ macedonia-to-vote-on-name-change-and-ending-greek-dispute (Accessed 8 August 2019); "Macedonia Referendum: Name Change Vote Fails to Reach Threshold", *BBC*, 1 October 2018, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-45699749 (Accessed 8 August 2019).
- 41 ICG, "Macedonia: Ten Years after the Conflict," *ICG Report*, No. 212, 11 August 2011, https:// www.crisisgroup.org/file/1505/download?token=Lne1koMa (Accessed 20 August 2019).
- 42 Sinisa Jakov Marusic, "Six Albanians Jailed for Macedonia 'Terror' Murders," *Balkan Insight*, 30 June 2014, https://balkaninsight.com/2014/06/30/macedonia-mass-murder-trial (Accessed 29 August 2019).
- 43 ICG, "Macedonia: Defusing the Bombs," *ICG Briefing*, No. 75, 9 July 2015, https://www.crisisgroup.org/europe-central-asia/balkans/macedonia/macedonia-defusing-bombs (Accessed 11 August 2019).
- 44 "Macedonia Violence Ignites Fears of Renewed Ethnic Conflict," *Financial Times*, 11 May 2015, https://www.ft.com/content/26688ba0-f7cb-11e4-9beb-00144feab7de (Accessed 11 August 2019).

- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Slavisa Orlovic, "Consociational Experiments in the Western Balkans: Bosnia and Herzegovina and Macedonia," *New Balkan Politics*, No. 17 (2015).
- 47 Mirjana Maleska, "What Kind of a Political System did Macedonia Get after the Ohrid Peace Agreement?" New Balkan Politics, No. 9 (2005).
- 48 Bashkim Iseni, "One State, Divided Society: The Albanians in Macedonia," in Sabrina P. Ramet et al (eds.), *Civic and Uncivic Values in Macedonia*, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2013, p. 176.
- 49 "Divided Macedonia," Strategic Comments, Vol. 5, No. 5 (1999), p. 1.
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 Iseni, "One State, Divided Society," p. 176.
- 52 Mirjana Maleska, "Multiethnic Democracy in Macedonia: Political Analysis and Emerging Scenarios," New Balkan Politics, No. 13 (2013), p. 10.
- 53 Shirley Cloyes Dioguardi and Roland Gjoni, "Crisis Brewing in Macedonia," Open Democracy, 23 September 2014, https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/opensecurity/crisis-brewing-in-macedonia/ (Accessed 8 August 2019).
- 54 Artan Sadiku, "Power and Corruption in Macedonia, or How to Ruin a Country," *Prishti-na Insight*, 16 March 2017, https://prishtinainsight.com/power-corruption-macedonia-ru-in-country/ (Accessed 11 August 2019).
- 55 ICG, "Macedonia: Defusing the Bombs."
- 56 Sinisa Jakov Marusic, "Macedonia's Albanians Urged to Reject Gruevski Coalition," *Balkan Insight*, 17 January 2017, https://balkaninsight.com/2017/01/18/ramadani-macedonia-albanians-must-resist-gruevski-s-tricks-01-17-2017/ (Accessed 20 August 2019).
- 57 Sadiku, "Power and Corruption in Macedonia."
- 58 Lura Pollozhani, "Albanian Parties May Potentially Become Kingmakers in Forming the Next Macedonian Government," Kosovo 2.0, 14 December 2016, https://kosovotwopointzero.com/ en/albanian-parties-may-potentially-become-kingmakers-forming-next-macedonian-government/ (Accessed 26 August 2019).
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Marusic, "Macedonia's Albanians Urged to Reject Gruevski Coalition."
- 61 Sadiku, "Power and Corruption in Macedonia."
- 62 For details of the ratification of the NATO Accession Protocol of North Macedonia by the Turkish Parliament on July 11, 2019, see https://www.tbmm.gov.tr/tutanak/donem27/yil2/ ham/b23303oylama.htm (Accessed 6 August 2019).
- 63 "NATO 'Ready to Welcome' North Macedonia as 30th Member," *RFERL*, 3 June 2019, https:// www.rferl.org/a/nato-ready-to-welcome-north-macedonia-as-30th-member/29978820.html (Accessed 29 August 2019).
- 64 Rikard Jozwiak, "EU Delays Decision on North Macedonia, Albania Membership Talks," *RFERL*, 18 June 2019, https://www.rferl.org/a/eu-delays-decision-on-north-macedonia-albania-membership-talks/30006858.html (Accessed 29 August 2019).

- 65 World Bank, "North Macedonia Country Profile," https://databank.worldbank.org/views/reports/reportwidget.aspx?Report_Name=CountryProfile&Id=b450fd57&tbar=y&dd=y&inf=n&zm=n&country=MKD (Accessed 7 August 2019).)7-61. p.)7-61. p.
- 66 Luc Reychler, "From Conflict to Sustainable Peacebuilding: Concepts and Analytical Tools," in Luc Reychler and Thania Paffenholz (eds.), *Peacebuilding: A Field Guide*, Boulder, London: Lynne Rienner, 2001, p. 12. As seen in Olga Skarlato et al, "Sustainability of Peacebuilding Interventions: The Experience of Peace and Reconciliation Community Projects Supported by the EU Peace III Fund and the International Fund for Ireland," *Peace Research*, Vol. 44, No. 1 (2012), pp. 37-61.

ARTICLE

Humanitarian NGOs: Motivations, Challenges and Contributions to Turkish Foreign Policy

Hakan MEHMETCİK*

Abstract

This study focusses on Turkish non-governmental organizations (NGOs) carrying out humanitarian assistance abroad. Particular attention is given to their motivations, challenges and contributions to Turkish foreign policy (TFP). Being a product of a larger research project dealing with Turkish humanitarian NGOs (HNGOs), this paper's findings are derived from a bulk of datasets consisting of interviews, observations, and other printed/on-line materials published by these humanitarian NGOs. The primary data used in the article is compiled from more than 25 semi-structured interviews with people who work for Turkish NGOs. What are the main reasons and motivations of these organizations to engage in humanitarian aid activities? What kinds of problems and challenges do they face while carrying out humanitarian aid? What do they think of TFP and to what extent do they affect TFP? If they do, in which ways? Such questions are the central questions this article seeks to address. While verifying some of them, the main findings challenge some of the conventional assumptions about Turkish NGOs and their activities, motivations, challenges and contribution to TFP.

Keywords

Turkish NGOs, Turkish foreign policy, non-state actors, humanitarian aid.

Introduction

This article deals with Turkish non-governmental organizations (NGOs) carrying out humanitarian and development aid around the world. Particular

Received on: 31.01.2019 Accepted on: 01.05.2019

^{*} Assist. Prof., Marmara University, Department of International Relations, İstanbul, Turkey. Email: hakan.mehmetcik@marmara.edu.tr. This paper is a product of a research project supported by Marmara University's BAPKO (project no: SOS-K-200318-0129). The content is solely the responsibility of the author and does not necessarily represent the official views of Marmara University.

Foreign aid has always been an important tool of soft power for states to generate influence over other states and communities.

attention is given to their motivations, the challenges they face and their contributions to Turkish foreign policy (TFP). This theme reflects a global trend in the field of development and humanitarian aid. Advances in communication and transportation technologies and increas-

ing financial capabilities have transformed the abilities of non-state actors, making them relevant in different contexts within International Relations and other related literature.¹ Foreign aid (both humanitarian and development aid) is no exception, and the balance between state and non-state actors in this field has shifted over the last 20 years. Until the nineteenth century, humanitarianism was viewed as a branch of religious, political and medical sciences and the practice was dominated by church and state.² Yet, the very definition of humanitarianism and the practice of humanitarian aid, as well as the actors in this area have changed significantly. Today a significant share of emergency relief, humanitarian aid, and development assistance is raised by/from private sources, and allocated by non-governmental actors, mostly by NGOs.³ Thus, the area is not exclusively dominated by states anymore and what we can call 'private aid' allocated by individuals, companies, corporations, foundations, NGOs, and community-based organizations merits more systemic analysis.

Foreign aid has always been an important tool of soft power for states to generate influence over other states and communities. There are substantial differences in principles, mandates and priorities for allocating development and humanitarian aid from country to country. These differences gain even more significance when it comes to private domains. Private flows in global development finance, which include private investment, private philanthropy, and remittances, have significantly increased over the last decades. It is now equivalent to over a quarter of all official development assistance (ODA).⁴ According to OECD data, net private grants doubled from \$14,822.6 million in 2005 to \$35,550.6 million in 2015. Private flows are not just created by private entities, but are also allocated by them. For instance, most of the money (more than 60 percent), which equals over half of the estimated private development assistance, is channeled through NGOs. In a similar way, the ODA channeled through private entities has tripled in the same period, rising from \$3,768.3 million in 2005 to \$14,481.2 million in 2015. This amount is equal to roughly 20 percent of total bilateral ODA.⁵ Private donations funding humanitarian action and allocations made by NGOs in order to cope with

humanitarian crises have become more vital given the fact that public funding for international development and humanitarian assistance has continually decreased and become even more contested in recent years. Yet, even though there is a large literature on bilateral and multilateral foreign aid, there is little about the development and humanitarian aid raised and allocated by NGOs based in Turkey.⁶

In addition to increasing interest in non-state actors at the global level, the role and effects of non-state actors in TFP have increased, which is a parallel development to the processes of deepening and broadening of TFP. Over the last fifteen years, Turkey's growing regional power capacity and global visibility have perhaps manifested most notably in the field of humanitarian assistance. Humanitarian aid has become a natural component of Turkey's position in the international arena. As of 2016, more than 60 percent of the Turkish ODA was reported as humanitarian aid. These figures have placed Turkey at the top of the list of the world's most generous countries. Again, as humanitarian and development aid became an important tool in the TFP tool-box, Turkish NGOs functioning in this area have become important non-state actors for TFP. In Turkey, humanitarian aid efforts are usually carried out through collaborative arrangements between the Turkish government, official/semi-official institutions and faith-based charities or foundations. There are several studies that fundamentally focus on Turkish aid practice in different contexts⁷ and the role of official/semi-official institutions such as the Turkish Cooperation and Coordination Agency (TIKA),⁸ the Turkey Diyanet Foundation, Turkish Red Crescent (Kızılay), the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Interior Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD), and Turkish Airlines (THY). However, there are very few systemic studies that deal with Turkish NGOs carrying out humanitarian and development assistance. Motivated by this gap in the literature, this article draws on a broad set of data acquired from semi-structured interviews with people working for Turkish NGOs to analyze their respective motivations, interests, challenges and contributions to TFP. To this end, the article first looks at the concept of private aid, and the practice of private humanitarian aid in general. Later it connects that discussion to Turkish aid practices. Finally, it presents its empirical analysis of the Turkish NGOs facilitating humanitarian aid by drawing on the data collected from interviews and other primary sources to explain their motivations, challenges and contribution to TFP.

Private Humanitarian Aid

The overall global aid structure has remained stable and simple for a very long time: a few developed countries with the help of several multilateral institutions as the main intermediaries have dominated the field (see the left-hand side of Figure 1 below).



Figure 1: Change in Aid Architecture⁹

However, the general trends in aid flows suggest that the simple aid architecture has been changing fast and becoming very complex and contested (the right-hand side of Figure 1 above). It is contested because of the emerging donor phenomenon. Emerging donors have brought many different sets of norms and practices into the aid architecture relying on their own development agencies, and different sets of multilateral organizations' norms and practices. As a result, there are more multilateral agencies, and a more diverse set of interests, rules and norms governing the practice in the field. Most aid is now allocated on a bilateral basis. In addition to structural changes, non-state actors and private aid have grown into something prominent in the realm of development assistance, making the structure more complex than it has ever been. Today, thousands of international, national and local NGOs, big and small private entities, foundations, and individuals are part of the global aid structure. This is a relatively new phenomenon in the global aid architecture.¹⁰

Alongside the increasing number of actors providing assistance and substantial changes in the aid structure, the volume of humanitarian assistance in particular has also increased significantly since the end of the Cold War. This can be seen from Table 1 below. Humanitarian aid is key to facilitating a return to daily life for people affected by various types of crisis and a preventive measure to address emergency issues. The definition and scope of interventions are based on several principles and constraints. While the principles governing humanitarian assistance (humanity, neutrality, impartiality, independence and accountability) remain constant, the actors, scope and content of the assistance vary across a number of different cases. It can be viewed from the data that humanitarian aid has risen notably faster than Humanitarian aid is key to facilitating a return to daily life for people affected by various types of crisis and a preventive measure to address emergency issues.

any other ODA input, with the proportion of total aid almost doubling from 6 percent in 2006 to 11 percent in 2016 (See the figure on the left-hand side of Table 1). According to the OECD data, total humanitarian aid accounted for more than \$23 billion in 2017. What is important here is that the share of humanitarian aid in total development assistance is increasing every year for almost every donor. This situation, among other reasons, mainly derives from the fact that people in countries such as Syria, Yemen, Iraq, Palestine, Myanmar and South Sudan, have been long in need of urgent and prolonged humanitarian assistance.

However, today, it is difficult for states to deal with major crises in various parts of the world. Here, humanitarian assistance provided by private sources with increasing amounts play an important role by offsetting the inadequacy of official humanitarian assistance.¹¹ Non-state or private funding and allocation is therefore growing in importance.¹² The funding from all private donors – individuals, trusts, foundations and corporations – has been rising over the last decade, reaching over \$40 million in 2016 (See Figure 2).

For development and humanitarian aid, many terms are used interchangeably to refer to private development assistance, including international private giving, international philanthropy, voluntary giving, private development aid, and private development cooperation. As such, private development assistance includes flows of private finance channeled through NGOs, foundations and corporate philanthropic activities along with other private flows such as direct investments and remittances. Humanitarian assistance from both official and private funds reaches people in need via multiple channels and transaction chains. Civil Society Organizations (COSs) are one kind of body through which humanitarian aid is raised and allocated or distributed. According to the terminology used by OECD, CSOs can be defined to include all non-market and non-state organizations. However, among these, NGOs play a vital role, and that role increases as their capacity increases, thanks to advances in communication and transportation technologies.



Figure 2: Net Private Grants 2004-2016

Source: OECD, DAC Stat.

Private funding and allocation from and through individuals, trusts and foundations, and companies and corporations are valued not just because of their sheer volume. These types of funding bring speed, flexibility and reliability into the field as they come with less earmarking and a longer time frame than funding from institutional or state donors. In general, it is believed that NGOs may provide better-targeted aid than official donors since the allocation of NGO aid is less distorted by the commercial and political mandates of state agencies, notably the promotion of exports and the formation of political alliances.¹³ NGOs often reach areas that are forgotten or left behind by government agencies. In some cases, governments do not recognize certain marginalized groups, or even render them illegal, while civil society groups reach and support them.¹⁴ Today most of the donor governments appear to share the view that NGOs have an important role to play in aid.¹⁵ Therefore, there is a global trend towards strengthening and encouraging NGOs in allocating both private and official development assistance. Figure 3 shows the official flows channeled to and through NGOs by OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) countries. Even though, in practice, aid from official flows is still the most important part of the aid structure at the international level, and is still widely allocated through bilateral or multilateral organizations as Figure 3 shows, development assistance channeled to and

through CSOs has become an important factor in the development aid field. From official flows, a vast amount (nearly 60 percent or more) goes to multilateral agencies (primarily UN agencies) in the first instance, while NGOs receive around 20 percent of the total.¹⁶ The majority of the amount going through NGOs goes to international NGOs. Thus, national and local NGOs get a small share of those official flows.



Figure 3: Share of ODA to and through CSOs by DAC Members, 2015.¹⁷ The value at each bar represents the share of aid to and through non-governmental organizations (%).

However, when it comes to private humanitarian aid, the vast majority of funding not only goes to and through NGOs, but is raised and allocated by national and local NGOs. Another important difference between official flows channeled to and through NGOs and private flows channeled through NGOs is the fact that official funds are channeled through NGOs and other private bodies to implement donor-initiated projects while private flows go to the NGO-initiated or private body-initiated projects. For instance, according to OECD data, in 2016, DAC members reported 12 percent of their ODA as aid through CSOs, and only 2 percent as aid to CSOs, i.e. aid for programs initiated by the CSOs themselves.¹⁸

Turkey as a Humanitarian State

Foreign aid plays an important role in the implementation of foreign policy and in the development of bilateral cooperation between countries. As such, it is a vital instrument that provides classical diplomacy with new opportunities in economic, social, cultural and humanitarian fields. Since the early 1950s, a group of developed countries has dominated the field of humanitarian assistance. The interest of developed countries in development aid has increased every year. In the 1950s, the U.S. and France were the leading countries, while Australia, Austria, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland joined the club in the 1960s, followed by Portugal and Spain in the 1970s. In the 1990s, Greece and Turkey, and in recent years, China, South Korea, India, Brazil and Mexico have been actively involved in development assistance activities.

Turkey's growing contributions are in line with broader trends reflecting the transformation of the world economy. The structure of foreign aid has undergone a transformation in line with the ascendance of emerging powers to prominent roles in global governance. In this regard, Turkey's growing visibility in this field, first and foremost, is another indicator of the emerging donor phenomenon.¹⁹ Turkey merits study as one of the major emerging donors.²⁰

Among emerging donors, Turkey is an important provider for several reasons. Development aid has two aspects: assistance received, and assistance provided. Turkey was a receiving country until the early 2000s. Thus, its transformation from an aid recipient to a major donor country is a very recent happening. In its transition to becoming a provider, Turkey's first foreign aid program was launched in June 1985 with an aid package of 10 million to the Sahel countries. At the height of the collapse of the Soviet Union from the mid and late 1980s until the late 1990s, Turkey operationalized its foreign aid policies to support its foreign policy objectives in the Caucasus and Central Asia.²¹ Turkey's humanitarian and development assistance was quite minimal until 2002. Since then, Turkey has made its way to becoming a major player in the field. From 2002 to 2017, aid volumes rose from \$67 million to \$3 billion with a nearly sixteen-fold increase as depicted in Figure 4 (See also the figure at the right-hand side of Table 1).



Figure 4: Turkey's Development and Humanitarian Aid (1997-2007) Source: TIKA

When we look at Turkey's bilateral aid, its main component has long been humanitarian aid. Turkey's emergency and humanitarian aid fund was around \$3.2 billion in 2015, \$6.4 billion in 2016, and surpassed \$8 billion in 2017, corresponding to 0.85 The rate of increase in Turkey's humanitarian assistance is tremendous. Turkey became the largest provider of humanitarian assistance in 2018 according to data gathered from OECD.

percent of the country's national dividend. With these numbers, Turkey is leading the world in humanitarian aid.²² This increase not only stems from a growing economy and a more international outlook, but also is due to a series of disasters on its doorstep, first and foremost the Syrian crisis. In the recent years, Turkey provided the largest share of its bilateral development co-operation to Syria, Somalia, Kyrgyzstan, Albania and Afghanistan. For almost all of these major crises, Turkey is among the top providers of humanitarian assistance.

Aid type	hist: humanitarian aid grants														
Fund flows	Net Disbursements														
Amount type															
Unit															
Year	2003	2004	<u>2005</u>	2006		2008	2009					2014	2015	2016	
Donor															
DAC Countries, Fotal	5,466.70	5,962.81	8,027.16	7,291.74	6,570.55	8,770.12	8,786.20	9,284.39	8,988.96	7,970.30	9,881.62	12,247.61	13,400.63	14,374.92	15,256.2
Canada	136.05	143.90	181.41	230.47	251.98	315.91	308.26	405.35	330.58	386.85	460.95	546.49	654.02	492.47	612.8
rance	36.16	19.84	28.33	47.12	31.03	19.02	32.85	77.05	70.78	54.49	35.07	42.44	36.36	153.10	66.4
Germany	181.46	199.00	327.11	364.50	256.27	262.19	325.35	297.10	368.47	364.24	509.64	753.31	813.94	2,025.48	2,364.8
lapan	29.92	621.15	512.84	189.84	100.76	241.13	223.29	490.09	715.84	502.01	760.89	792.82	1.212.44	771.68	734.9
Sweden	228 74	216 89	278 46	304.68	283.17	321 25	355.48	351.54	398.02	363 73	362.68	487.98	377 84	463 01	461.1
JK	605.92	487.17	575.18	732.45	408.74	564.37	704.14	548.31	639.78	605.55	1,161.44	1,547.33	1,750.39	1,753.56	1,860.4
Jnited States	3,183,59	3.103.63	4.108.32	3.550.71	3.426.68	4.917.98	4.875.47	5.350.22	4.617.87	4.156.90	4.922.84	6.124.90	6.220.84	6.286.21	6.612.1
Non-DAC Countries, Fotal	2.50	51 69	179.91	113 63	38 77	23 50	42 09	197 49	208 76	819.22	1.375.51	2 594 64	3 199 99	6 360 84	8 359 0
Furkey	2.50	51.69	179.91	113.63	38.77	23.50	42.09	114.23	208.76		1.288.83	2.041.75	2.662.95	5.865.80	8.063.1
		rkev					cted DAC C				, ,		-Doc Contrib	,	, .,
9,000					14,000										
8,000	12.000							2017			_				
7,000	10:000							2015			_				
6,000	8,000										-	-			
5,000					6,000		- 1 H			2011					
4,000					4,000					2009					
3,000					2,000							-			
2,000					0					2005					
1,000		_	- 11		1 2	3 4 5		9 10 11 12		16 2003	00 5.00	10.000.0	00 15.000.00	20.000.00	25.000.00
0	-	09 2010 2011 201	2 2012 2014 2011	2016 2017	Canada	Fran	ce 🛛 🖩 Gr rd Kingdom 🔳 Ur		Japan	0.		IAC Countries, Tota			25,000.00

Table 1: Humanitarian Aid (2003-2017)

Source: OECD, DAC Stat.

The rate of increase in Turkey's humanitarian assistance is tremendous. As shown in Figure 5, Turkey became the largest provider of humanitarian assistance in 2018 according to data gathered from OECD. Turkey is also well ahead of any other country in terms of the GDP-to-humanitarian-aid-giving ratio. As a matter of fact, Turkey has been the most generous country in the

world since 2016. According to recent reports on foreign aid, Turkey is the largest emerging aid donor (the largest non-Western and non-DAC country) and has been the most charitable nation three years in a row since 2016.²³



Figure 5: The Most Generous Donor (2017)

Source: TIKA, www.tika.gov.tr

Over the last decade, instruments such as public diplomacy, peace operations, economic interdependence, mediation, and cultural diplomacy, and foreign aid have dramatically expanded in TFP rhetoric and practice. However, Turkey has wittingly made humanitarian aid a defining feature of its foreign policy.²⁴ This has paved the way for a more institutionalized Turkish foreign aid structure, making it more sustainable and more reliable. For Turkey, humanitarian aid is an instrument of expanding its influence and position as a global actor.²⁵ Turkey's mission in providing development and humanitarian assistance as a regional power is to expand its regional and global influence by carrying out its due responsibilities toward particular geographies and the people of those geographies. In this sense, it is not surprising to see that its aid efforts have been characterized as a historical, cultural and ideological mission.²⁶ Turkey's aid goes to the Balkans and Eastern Europe, Central Asia, the Caucasus, the Middle East and Sub-Saharan Africa. At the global level, Turkey has initiated a number of global activities, such as hosting the first World Humanitarian Summit in Istanbul on May 23-24, 2016, and initiating a network among the national societies of the Organization of Islamic Cooperation (OIC) countries to establish a joint humanitarian aid platform in Istanbul to strengthen cooperation, all of which indicate Turkey's high profile in the field. As such, Turkey is conducting a "humanitarian foreign policy" in which a group of governmental bodies such as TIKA, AFAD, Kızılay, YTB and THY, collaborate and coordinate with civilian entities, firms, foundations and NGOs.



Figure 6: Turkey's Humanitarian Relief Aid (2004-2017)

Source: TIKA, www.tika.gov.tr

In this respect, Turkey offers a new model of foreign aid, a multitrack approach that promotes a greater involvement of non-state actors and resolute and fast implementation.²⁷ In this sense, Turkey's model of humanitarian relief efforts heavily relies on non-state actors, especially NGOs.²⁸ NGOs do not just cooperate and coordinate a "humanitarian approach"

Turkey offers a new model of foreign aid, a multitrack approach that promotes a greater involvement of nonstate actors and resolute and fast implementation.

through a targeted foreign aid program, they also raise and polish Turkey's humanitarian power brand.

Turkish Humanitarian NGOs

When it comes to development and humanitarian aid, the role of non-state actors has increased significantly over the last decades. Thousands of NGOs and private foundations work tirelessly to deal with humanitarian and development issues arising particularly in wars, conflicts and crisis situations. They operate in different geographies for different reasons and with different motivations, facing different sets of challenges. Figure 7 shows the trends at a global level with the increasing rate of grants by NGOs.



Figure 7: Grants by Private Agencies and NGOs (2000-2017, \$ million)

Source: OECD, DAC Stat.

Turkish NGOs are part of this global trend and their activities and accomplishments have increased in the last decade. However, in comparison to global trends, the development and humanitarian aid provided by Turkish NGOs is still relatively very small. There are several reasons for that and we will ad-

Turkish NGOs have been involved in humanitarian activities in more than 100 countries around the world, facilitating in many different sectors from training/ education and health to water well drilling. dress some of them in the following sections. Even though their share is small compared to global trends, from Figure 8, we can see that Turkish NGOs have become important actors in Turkish development and humanitarian aid. 2005 is the year when Turkish NGOs activities began to be reported in TIKA Official Development Reports. Before

2005, we do not have any available/reliable data. The development assistance made by Turkish Civil Society Organizations since 2005 shows a continuous increase. In this context, the amount of assistance provided by Turkish NGOs from their own resources amounted to \$56.7 million in 2005, while the amount reached \$707 million in 2017. From its humble beginnings, the contribution of Turkish NGOs to Turkey's humanitarian diplomacy has increased 12-fold, and it should be noted that these are locally raised funds. The projects realized by Turkish NGOs over the years have been primarily imple-

mented within the scope of education, health, water and water hygiene, social services and shelter, food supplies and emergency humanitarian aid of all kinds. Turkish NGOs have been involved in humanitarian activities in more than 100 countries around the world, facilitating in many different sectors from training/education and health to water well drilling. What is important here is that they have established an important know-how and institutional capacity over the last decade, allowing them to lead even more comprehensive humanitarian projects in the future on behalf of Turkish civil society.



Figure 8: Aid Given by Turkish NGOs (2005-2017)

Source: TIKA, www.tika.gov.tr

Turkish NGOs are recognized by the Turkish government as an important humanitarian and development aid instrument. Therefore, there is significant interaction between official state actors and non-state actors in the field of development and humanitarian aid. As Turkey improved its profile in humanitarian assistance, Turkish NGOs also started to play a vital role. Some studies even suggest that there is a high level of parallelism, if not complementarity, exhibited by the state and Turkish NGOs.²⁹ Indeed, the aid structure in Turkey is a mechanism where state, semi-state and non-state actors collaborate and cooperate in the business of humanitarian aid. Therefore, Turkish NGOs providing humanitarian aid merit more rigorous study. To this end, we brought together data acquired from 25 semi-structured interviews with people working for Turkish NGOs to analyze their motivations, interests, challenges and contributions to TFP. The rest of the article mainly draws on this data.

Motivations

In the semi-structured interviews, we had a specifically designed part to gather information about the main motivations, interests or drivers of the activities in humanitarian aid. To this end, we posed several questions with rank order scaling options. Among the questions in this part, one was "what is the main driver of providing aid to a particular region/ or country?" with five options: humanitarian and altruistic sentiments, operational limits, religious motivations, national sentiments and financial incentives.



Figure 9: Motivations of providing aid
Interviewees were asked to rank these options from 1-5, 1 being the most important driver, and 5 the least important driver of their activities. The general view about Turkish NGOs is that they are ideologically and religiously motivated since most of these organizations depend on religious grassroots. However, the results (see Figure 8) show that humanitarian and altruistic sentiments rather than religious motivations are the most important drivers of their activities. From the results of the statistical factor analysis on the data, we can argue that religion is, however, a more important factor than national sentiments (national sentiments were explained as Turkey's due responsibilities toward Ottoman geographies, or Turkic relatives in other geographies, while religious motivations refer to Islamic solidarity and *ummah* understanding; these explanations were provided before the interviewees answered the question). The survey shows us that operational limits (whether the activities can be done or not) come as one of the important drivers (more than religious of national sentiments), while humanitarian and altruistic sentiments are the most influential driver for the humanitarian aid activities. These findings challenge conventional assumptions about the role of religion in Turkish NGOs' motivations. However, when we compare our findings from the questions with rank order scaling and open-ended questions, there appears a nuance, which fundamentally derives from the fact that there are three common themes among almost all Turkish NGOs, which we can detect from our notes from the interviews: a) Muslim/Islamic solidarity, b) Ottoman legacy or responsibilities toward the Ottoman lands, and c) the representation of Turkey. Without exception, all of the interviewees mentioned/underlined these themes while answering open-ended questions. These findings suggest that Turkish aid agencies are indeed driven by humanitarian altruistic reasons, yet they also care about Islamic solidarity, the representation of Turkey, and Ottoman legacies, and they reflect these sentiments within their activities.

The second question in the interview is designed to gather information about motivations, interests and drivers. It states, "Which factors, and to what extent, affect the scope of your humanitarian aid activities?" with a ranking option from 1-4, 1 being the most and 4 the least. The factors were the need of the people, the aid recipient country, Turkey's priorities, and institutional priorities. The results derived from the answers to this question actually verify the results of the earlier question mentioned above. All the respondents identified the need of the people as the top priority while listing institutional priorities as the least important factor. However, this question reveals also that the name/profile of the country (which country they are providing the humanitarian aid) plays an important role in the decision to grant the humanitarian aid. In a similar vein, Turkey's priorities are considered in making humanitarian aid decisions. This is a very important finding, because it shows us that people carrying out humanitarian aid for these NGOs delicately consider Turkey's priorities, as set by the government and shared through official statements and speeches. That is also reflected in the open-ended questions.

Challenges

In the semi-structured interviews, participants were asked about the most important limiting factors for their humanitarian aid activities, with a rank order scaling option from 1-5, 1 being the most 5 the least limiting factor.



Figure 10: Challenges for NGOs

From the answers to this question, security appears as the most important challenge. Given the fact that Turkish NGOs are working directly in volatile and dangerous environments in distributing emergency relief, it is an expected answer. Bureaucracy comes next, while financial problems, human capital related challenges and logistical limits follow. However, from the open-ended questions part, coordination appears to be another important issue, mentioned by almost every participant. Coordination involves vertical and horizontal coordination steps. Vertical coordination means coordination between/among Turkish NGOs. Naturally, the activities of these NGOs significantly overlap both in terms of geography and sectors. Every NGO, except for a very few, does the same type of activities. There is very little specialization in activities among Turkish NGOs. In addition, these NGOs tacitly compete against each other in many cases, due to the fact that they represent different grassroots or communities. This leads to a significant number of duplications which limit the economic scale of their activities. Although not a reliable solution, the only available mechanism to overcome duplication and mismanagement is a personal relationship between NGOs' representatives and workers.

Horizontal coordination refers to coordination efforts between state institutions like AFAD, TIKA, Kızılay and Turkish NGOs carrying out humanitarian aid. When it comes to Syria and efforts to address the Syrian refugee crisis, Kızılay is officially responsible for coordinating these activities, and NGOs are duly responsible to inform and be guided by Kızılay. There is, however, not enough empirical evidence showing how and to what extent this coordination works. Nonetheless, the majority of the participants in our interviews did not prefer a coordination mechanism via state authorities, arguing that it would limit their independence and impartiality. They argued such a mechanism would politicize the Turkish NGOs' activities in humanitarian aid and render them disregarded. Nonetheless, coordination is a problem that has to be addressed in the short and medium terms.

Human capital is another important challenge of the Turkish NGOs. As the nature of their activities involves humanitarian relief, NGOs heavily rely on volunteers. This leads to at least two types of problems: a) inadequate numbers of vol-

As the nature of their activities involves humanitarian relief, NGOs heavily rely on volunteers. This leads to at least two types of problems: a) inadequate numbers of volunteers, and b) lack of training.

unteers, and b) lack of training; most of the volunteers do not possess the required skills and training for working on the ground. We asked the NGOs whether they provide vocational training for their volunteers; the majority of them said no, or not enough.



Figure 11: Human Capital

According to the data we acquired during our interviews, the NGOs' professional human capital is very limited. 40 percent of the 25 Turkish NGOs which offer humanitarian relief programs have fewer than 20 professional (paid and permanent) workers, which include board members, managers, accountants, office secretaries and other lower level staff. Interestingly, the rest have more than 60 such professional workers. More than 70 percent of NGOs work with more than 150 volunteers for their operations on the ground. Some of them recognized the lack of human capital. It is our understanding from the interviews that they do not pay due attention to this issue. We infer the number of volunteers to be enough as the scale of the activity is small for the time being. When the scale increases, they generally rely on local NGOs in the countries where they provide aid. However, almost all of them understand the importance of training and capacity-building efforts, and they accept that the state has a vital, irreplaceable role to play here. Several participants underlined the importance of raising the interest of young people in voluntary activities through special courses during primary and secondary education in Turkey. They also suggested that there should be higher level courses on NGOs in the curriculum of social sciences at Turkish Universities and special programs for NGOs at the master and doctorate level. These interpretations indicate an increased awareness of the importance of capacity-building and human capital. During our interviews with the Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD) officials, they revealed that they have provided capacity-building programs for NGOs in the past and they are planning to do more with the help of International Organizations in the near future.

Financial Problems are the most enduring and important challenges for the Turkish NGOs. In terms of economy of scale, funding resources, and accountability, Turkish NGOs have a long way to go. As Turkey's economy has grown, NGOs' funding resources have also grown, yet they are still not sus-

tainable and remain time- and event-dependent, while their resources rely heavily on domestic donations. Donations increase during special periods such as Ramadan and Eid al-adha (Feast of Sacrifice). However, these types of donations are subject to

As Turkey's economy has grown, NGOs' funding resources have also grown, yet they are still not sustainable and remain time- and event-dependent, while their resources rely heavily on domestic donations.

special activities like distributing food for fast breaking or Eid-meat. Even though Turkish NGOs reach millions of people worldwide, such activities become contested from time to time. In addition to special periods on the calendar, Turkish NGOs launch humanitarian aid campaigns during crisis situations such as the ones occurring in Somalia, Syria, Myanmar, Pakistan, Afghanistan or the Philippines. Here one of the main problems is that many Turkish NGOs have a core support base due to their constituency, which generally consists of a small community. However, this limits their actions, forcing them to focus only on one crisis at a time. In an era of a growing number of simultaneously acute humanitarian crises, that limitation is a vital one that can only be overcome by a larger donation and funding base.





The bilateral and multilateral funds originate from developed countries, private entities, individuals, and multilateral organizations are the biggest sources

of funds to international NGOs. They also rely on their own fundraising campaigns. Nonetheless, Turkish NGOs principally rely on funds and donations while receiving little from the conventional project base funding schemes of multilateral organizations for NGOs. That may increase their independence, yet it certainly curtails their economy of scale. As seen in Figure 11 above, Turkish NGOs raise more than 90 percent of their financial resources from their own domestic fundraising capacities. During interviews, participants overly emphasized that they do not see this as a problem because funds from developed countries and multilateral institutions are project-based and come with particular conditions attached. However, the conventional examples and importance of bigger funds for creating a larger impact on the ground is obvious, and Turkish NGOs have to adopt project base humanitarian activities, which would also introduce accountability. Accountability is one of the most important problem for Turkish NGOs. They tend to be responsible to their own constituency for their actions, yet we have witnessed several fraud and mismanagement allegations in the field. Turkish NGOs are in a better shape compared to their peers in developed countries in terms of administrative costs. On average, they spend 7 percent or less on administrative operations. However, we think that this phenomenon hugely intersects with the fact that their professional human capital is very limited.

Institutionalism/professionalism is another and well-averred problem among Turkish NGOs carrying out humanitarian aid programs. When we look at institutional design, many of the Turkish NGOs undertaking humanitarian aid missions are Islamic-oriented grassroots organizations established for the purpose of charity and supported by pious people. Therefore, there is an ideological similarity between the ruling AK Party, and Turkish NGOs relying upon Islamic grassroots movements. Even though they are independent, some of the NGOs in Turkey, due to their ideological links with the governing party, are characterized as GONGOs, (government-sponsored non-governmental organizations).³⁰ As can be seen from figure 11 above, according to our data derived from the interviews, they use little or no public funds, and when we asked why they did not, they underlined their independence. Even though there are similarities in terms of ideology and constituencies between the ruling government and Turkish NGOs, there are substantial differences when it comes to policy implications. This suggests that the majority of Turkish NGOs initiating substantial outcomes in the field of humanitarian aid are aware of the importance of independence as civil society entities.

Besides their lack of financial sustainability, these NGOs are very young. Some of them were established in the 1990s, (like IHH 1992, Deniz Feneri 1992, Yeryüzü Doktorları 2000); the majority were established in the 2000s. In this sense, the majority of Turkish NGOs are relatively very new civil society entities. Therefore, they still lack institutional consolidation and sustainability. In addition, many of the NGOs' workers, even among the highest level of managers, actually have other full-time jobs and do humanitarian aid work on a part-time base. Very few Turkish NGOs have a board of management relying on a professional division of labor. Many lack conventional managerial divisions such as CEO, COO and organizational planning. That constitutes a huge gap in terms of professionalism in the field. However, there are very good examples in terms of professionalism, and there is a fast-adaptation process through socialization and social learning among Turkish NGOs. This is likely to bring more professionalism in the near future.

Developed countries carry out most of their projects, programs and technical cooperation in recipient countries through NGOs. However, the support provided to Turkish NGOs by public institutions and organizations in Turkey remains limited. In addition, except for some exceptional foundations, the understanding of institutional cooperation between NGOs and the public has not yet been achieved. Turkish NGOs have incredible advantages in addressing emergency humanitarian crises. Yet the full potential of NGOs cannot be realized in terms of developmental and humanitarian assistance until they are supported by the public through capacity-increasing trainings.

Contributions to TFP

Foreign aid decisions are not taken in a vacuum. There are a number of factors and actors effecting it. In the Turkish case, state entities such as the Presidency, the current president, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, himself and related AK Party officials along with the foreign ministry are the most important actors. Under that upper level state body, there are several other state entities functioning at the lower level, such as related bodies from different ministries, TIKA, Diyanet, AFAD, Foreign Trade Directories, and the Turkish General Staff. TIKA functions as the coordination agency between different state entities at different levels. Public discourse and public opinion are also important drivers in making humanitarian aid decisions. Along with the public, non-state actors such as foundations, NGOs, private entities, business associations, and labor unions play an important role. These actors have a variety of different views about the nature and practice of humanitarian aid, including where to provide, how to provide and what to provide. All of these different views affect each other in an environment where events at the international level continuously unfold. Along with the understanding and practice of other international actors such as states and organizations, crises, wars, and natural and manmade disasters have substantial ramifications for the humanitarian aid decisions taken at the domestic level. From that complex calculus, which is reflected in Figure 12 below, a foreign aid decision is constructed.



Figure 13: Actors effecting Humanitarian Aid policy

The role of non-state actors is recognized in the foreign policy literature.³¹ Yet this role is generally characterized as primarily discursive in nature when it comes to humanitarian aid policies.³² However, we think that at least in three areas, Turkish NGOs carrying out humanitarian aid make practical contributions to TFP.

Branding Turkey, Public Diplomacy, and Soft Power

Even though there is very limited literature on the interaction between nation branding, soft-power, public diplomacy, and foreign aid, they are significantly interconnected.³³ Both official development aid at the state level and development and humanitarian aid at the civil society level have a direct effect

All of the activities of Turkish NGOs are perceived as "Turkey's helping hand" even though they do not officially represent the country. on Turkey's image as a regional and humanitarian power. All of the activities of Turkish NGOs are perceived as "Turkey's helping hand" even though they do not officially represent the country. Turkish NGOs use badges with Turkish flag along with their logos. In our interviews, we asked interviewees whether they feel that they represent Turkey: all of them without exception said yes. They said, "We provide aid abroad thanks to the donations coming from our nation, and we provide aid on the behalf of this nation and the Turkish people. Everyone knows that it comes from Turkey independent of who we are."³⁴ Or they said, "Sometimes there were rifts between states, and state bodies could not freely go to places where we can go. But, even in such places, when we work and provide humanitarian aid, no one says thank *you*, everyone says thanks to Turkey. Therefore, we represent Turkey every time we are on the ground."³⁵

Turkey has kept its position as being one of the largest aid providing countries, and the largest humanitarian aid providing donor with respect to national income. Especially, the increase in relief aid provided by Turkey (official and private flows) since 2004 is a showcase for Turkey's profile in the realm of humanitarian assistance. Turkey has launched several relief efforts from Syria to Somalia and from Myanmar to Bangladesh and the Philippines. In some instances, Turkey's assistance is purely motivated by humanitarian considerations. Yet, like many other middle powers, Turkey also tries to find a niche diplomacy area³⁶ in its foreign aid programs by focusing on carefully selected individual countries and regions.³⁷ Turkey as a middle power willingly makes humanitarian and development aid a niche diplomacy area by branding itself as a humanitarian/virtuous power.³⁸ Turkish NGOs execute humanitarian aid campaigns that yield public diplomacy outcomes,³⁹ and those activities support Turkey's soft power in recipient geographies and increase Turkey's nation branding efforts to be known as a "humanitarian power." Turkish NGOs are quite probably one of the biggest contributors to that notion in TFP.

Awareness of Local Factors and Experience towards Geographies

A second important foreign policy contribution by Turkish NGOs is that they bring local knowledge and awareness back to foreign policy practices. NGO volunteers and staff work in very different and very difficult environments, and they bring back awareness of local factors and first-hand experiences from little-known geographies. Foreign missions are generally not able to contact local populations due to security issues, whereas people working for NGOs are always on the ground with locals. Their interaction yields several useful insights. This critical information, if it is allowed to be shared, is very valuable in terms of foreign policy planning and implementation. During our interviews, we heard a number of stories that illustrated such cases. However, when we asked whether they have channels to share their practical experiences with the foreign policy decision makers, the answer was generally "not really" or "partly" through personal relations. Officials at TIKA and AFAD noted that from time to time they gather NGOs in conferences or workshops, or they request reports of their activities to take their views on several issues.

New Alignments and New Tools and Scopes

Breaking with the traditional inward-looking approach, Turkey has expanded its foreign policy ambitions beyond its immediate neighborhood. With a combination of new ideational, political and economic alignments, Turkey has become an important player in regional and global affairs. While Turkey's relations with the U.S., EU and NATO have maintained their traditional importance, Turkey has initiated serious political openings toward the Middle East, the Balkans and Africa, while deepening relations with Central Asia, the Caucasus, and Russia. Especially on the African continent, in the Far East Asia and Latin America, Turkey's efforts at the state and non-state levels can be regarded as South-South cooperation, which is a new horizon for traditional TFP. Turkey's humanitarian aid policy can be read as a new expression of a new foreign policy outlook with numbers of new dynamics, tools and scopes.⁴⁰ All of Turkey's missions and capabilities, including state apparatuses from the military to the Turkish Red Crescent, from the Ministry of Economics to TIKA, from Diyanet to Turkish Airlines, along with Turkish civil society are on the ground for the purpose of increasing Turkey's foreign policy influence through development and humanitarian aid. As a rising power, Turkey has been clearly seeking to use foreign aid in its quest to become a regional power by establishing linkages beyond its immediate geography. The cohesion and cooperation in the formation and implementation of foreign policy between different foreign policy actors is a very new phenomenon for traditional TFP that paves the way for Turkey's reorientation with a broader international outlook. NGOs' efforts and coordination contribute greatly to this new outlook. In this sense, Turkish NGOs are an important factor in writing Turkey's new story in recent decades. Although not reflected in the literature, numbers of Turkish NGOs have done spectacular things, primarily in terms of emergency humanitarian assistance, education and health care.

Conclusion

In the foreign aid (both humanitarian and development aid) area, one of the important global trends at least for the last 20 years is that the balance between state and non-state actors has shifted in favor of the latter. Private aid and non-state actors have grown in prominence in the development aid field. Especially, humanitarian aid channeled to and through NGOs has become a truly global trend. Turkey is no exception to these developments. Indeed, when it comes to Turkey, humanitarian aid and NGOs are even more important.

In parallel with Turkey's economic growth and increasing foreign policy ambitions, Turkey's contribution to humanitarian and development aid has significantly increased, which has allowed Turkey to deepen its ties with different countries in different regions. In more than 150 countries from Afghanistan to Haiti, Turkey continues to provide development and humanitarian assistance for the purpose of enhancing its bilateral economic, commercial, technical, social, and cultural relations. Within this context, humanitarian aid has become one of Turkey's most important forms of aid. Turkey has steadfastly addressed various crises, atrocities and natural disasters in countries including Somalia and Syria, and has extended its helping hand to other regions. Turkey's way of implementing and allocating aid reside in the collaborative relationship between the government, official/semi-official institutions and faith-based charities and NGOs. Therefore, Turkish NGOs have become more active and important as humanitarian and development aid has emerged as a significant tool in the TFP tool-box.

This study draws on a broad set of data acquired from semi-structured interviews with people working for Turkish NGOs to analyze their respective motivations, interests, challenges and contribution to TFP. From that comprehensive study, we can assess that conventional assumptions about the role of religion in Turkish NGOs' motivations is not verified. While Turkish NGOs use a rhetorical attachment to Islamic solidarity, Ottoman legacy or Turkish identity, the first and foremost motivation behind their humanitarian aid activities is humanitarianism/altruism. Human capital, institutionalization and professionalism, financial limits, along with security and bureaucratic drawbacks are the common challenges faced by Turkish NGOs. In addition to these challenges, both vertical and horizontal coordination is an important issue slowing down NGOs, which they cannot solve alone without state assistance. When it comes to contributions to foreign policy practice, we think that at least in three areas, Turkish NGOs carrying out humanitarian aid make a practical contribution to TFP: 1) branding Turkey, public diplomacy, and soft power; 2) awareness of local factors and experience toward geographies; 3) new alignments and new tools and scopes. Their activities in humanitarian assistance have directly and indirectly contributed to TFP in these areas.

Endnotes

- Daphné Josselin and William Wallace, eds., Non-State Actors in World Politics, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2001.
- 2 Michael Barnett, Empire of Humanity: A History of Humanitarianism, Cornell: Cornell University Press, 2011.
- 3 Tim Büthe, Solomon Major, and André de Mello e Souza, "The Politics of Private Foreign Aid: Humanitarian Principles, Economic Development Objectives, and Organizational Interests in NGO Private Aid Allocation," *International Organization*, Vol. 66, No. 4 (2012), pp. 571–607.
- 4 "Private Development Assistance: Key Facts and Global Estimates," *Development Initiatives*, 15 August 2016, http://devinit.org/post/private-development-assistance-key-facts-and-global-estimates/ (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 See for example Nihat Çelik and Emre İşeri, "Islamically Oriented Humanitarian NGOs in Turkey: AKP Foreign Policy Parallelism," *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 17, No. 3 (2016), pp. 429–48; Bülent Aras, "Medical Humanitarianism of Turkey's NGOS: A 'Turkish Way?'" *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political*, Vol. 42, No. 4 (2017), pp. 183-194; Bülent Aras and Yasin Duman, "I/NGOs' Assistance to Syrian Refugees in Turkey: Opportunities and Challenges," *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies* (2018), pp. 1-14, https://doi.org/10.1080/1944 8953.2018.1530382.
- See for instance Mehmet Özkan, "The Turkish Way of Doing Development Aid? An Analysis 7 from the Somali Laboratory," in Isaline Bergamaschi, Phoebe Moore and Arlene B. Tickner (eds.), South-South Cooperation Beyond the Myths, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2017, pp. 59-78; Pınar Akpınar, "Turkey's Peacebuilding in Somalia: The Limits of Humanitarian Diplomacy," Turkish Studies, Vol. 14, No. 4 (2013), pp. 735-757; Dilek Barlas, "Turkish Diplomacy in the Balkans and the Mediterranean: Opportunities and Limits for Middle-Power Activism in the 1930s," Journal of Contemporary History, Vol. 40, No. 3 (2005), pp. 441-464; Aybars Görgülü and Onnik Krikorian, "Turkey's South Caucasus Agenda: The Role of State and Non-State Actors," Eurasia Partnership Foundation (TESEV Foreign Policy Program), 2012, http:// www.academia.edu/download/31173768/SouthCaucasusAgenda.pdf (Accessed 20 February 2019); Dimitar Bechev and Joost Hiltermann, "Turkey's Forays into the Middle East," Turkish Policy Quarterly, Vol. 16, No. 3 (2017), pp. 49-59; Hakan Mehmetcik, "Turkey and India in The Context of Foreign Aid to Africa," in Emel Parlar Dal (ed.), Middle Powers in Global Governance: The Rise of Turkey, London: Palgrave Macmillan 2018; F. Stephen Larrabee, "Turkey Rediscovers the Middle East," Foreign Affairs, Vol. 86, No. 4 (2007), pp. 103-114; Mehmet Özkan, "Turkey Discovers Africa: Implications and Prospects," SSRN, 1 September 2008, https://papers.ssrn. com/abstract=1434740 (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 8 Hakan Fidan and Rahman Nurdun, "Turkey's Role in the Global Development Assistance Community: The Case of TIKA (Turkish International Cooperation and Development Agency)," *Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans*, Vol. 10, No. 1 (2008), pp. 93–111.
- 9 Homi Kharas, "Trends and Issues in Development Aid," SSRN, 1 November 2007, https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1080342 (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 10 Homi Kharas, Koji Makino and Woojin Jung (eds.), Catalyzing Development: A New Vision for Aid, Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press, 2011.

- 11 "Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2018," *Development Initiatives*, 19 June 2018, http://devinit.org/post/global-humanitarian-assistance-report-2018/ (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 12 Chloe Stirk, "Humanitarian Assistance from Non-State Donors: What Is It Worth?" *Development Initiatives*, April 2014, http://devinit.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Humanitarian-assistance-from-non-state-donors-2014.pdf (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 13 For a counter argument with empirical evidence, see Axel Dreher et al., "NGO Aid: Well Targeted to the Needy and Deserving?" 20 May 2008, https://www.uni-goettingen.de/en/ngo-aid-%E2%80%93-well-targeted-to-the-needy-and-deserving---axel-dreher-dirk-jan-koch-rainerthiele-and-peter-nunnenkamp/121074.html (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 14 OECD, Development Co-Operation Report: Joining Forces to Leave No One Behind, 2018, https:// doi.org/10.1787/dcr-2018-en (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 15 Peter Nunnenkamp, Janina Weingarth and Johannes Weisser, "Is NGO Aid Not So Different After All? Comparing the Allocation of Swiss Aid by Private and Official Donors," *European Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 25, No. 4 (2009), pp. 422–38.
- 16 Turkey's multilateral ODA accounted for only 2 percent, while the rest goes through bilateral forms. See "Turkey's Official Development Assistance (ODA)," OECD, http://www.oecd.org/ dac/stats/turkeys-official-development-assistanceoda.htm (Accessed 4 December 2018).
- 17 "Share of ODA to and through CSOs by DAC Members, 2015," OECD iLibrary, 2015, https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/development-co-operation-report-2017/shareof-oda-to-and-through-csos-by-dac-members-2015_dcr-2017-graph24-en (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 18 OECD, Development Co-Operation Report 2018.
- 19 Şaban Kardaş, "Turkey's Development Assistance Policy: How to Make Sense of the New Guy on the Block," GMFUS, 4 February 2013, p. 4.
- 20 Reşat Bayer and E. Fuat Keyman, "Turkey: An Emerging Hub of Globalization and Internationalist Humanitarian Actor?" *Globalizations*, Vol. 9, No. 1 (2012), pp. 73-90; E. Fuat Keyman, "A New Turkish Foreign Policy: Towards Proactive 'Moral Realism," *Insight Turkey*, Vol. 19, No. 1 (2017), pp. 55-70.
- 21 Musa Kulaklikaya and Rahman Nurdun, "Turkey as a New Player in Development Cooperation," *Insight Turkey*, Vol. 12, No. 4 (2010), pp. 131-45.
- 22 Nur Özkan Erbay, "TIKA President Serdar Çam: Turkey Keeps Breaking Records in Humanitarian Aid and Development Assistance," *Daily Sabah*, 9 December 2018, https://www.dailysabah. com/politics/2018/12/10/tika-president-serdar-cam-turkey-keeps-breaking-records-in-humanitarian-aid-and-development-assistance (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 23 "Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2018;" "Humanitarian Aid Spending Makes Turkey Most Charitable Country," *Daily Sabah*, 20 June 2018, https://www.dailysabah.com/turkey/2018/06/21/humanitarian-aid-spending-makes-turkey-most-charitable-country (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 24 Alpaslan Özerdem, "İnsaniyetçilik ve Türk Dış Politikası," Uluslararası İlişkiler, Vol. 13, No. 52 (2016), pp. 129-149.

- 25 Gönül Tol, "The Rise of Turkish Foreign Aid," *Middle East Institute*, 30 September 2015, https:// www.mei.edu/publications/rise-turkish-foreign-aid (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 26 Mehmet Özkan, "Turkey's Involvement in Somalia," SETA, 2014, http://file.setav.org/Files/ Pdf/20141021155302_41_somali_eng-web.pdf (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 27 Bülent Aras, "Medical Humanitarianism of Turkey's NGOs: A "Turkish Way?" Alternatives: Global, Local, Political, Vol. 42, No. 4 (2017), pp. 183-194; Mehmetcik, "Turkey and India;" Özkan, "The Turkish Way;" Jamal Osman, "How Turkey is Winning Hearts and Minds in Somalia," New Internationalist, 1 April 2018, https://newint.org/features/2018/04/01/turkey-somalia-humanitarian-aid (Accessed 20 February 2019); Barçın Yinanç, "Turkish Aid Model Combines Humanitarian Relief with Development Aid," Hürriyet Daily News, 27 November 2017, http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkish-aid-model-combines-humanitarian-relief-with-development-aid-123073 (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 28 Federico Donelli, "The Total Performance Principle as Key of Turkish Activism in Somalia," SISP, 2014, https://www.sisp.it/files/papers/2014/federico-donelli-2042.pdf (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 29 Çelik and İşeri, "Islamically Oriented Humanitarian NGOs in Turkey."
- 30 For the use of the term see Moises Naim, "What Is a GONGO?" Foreign Policy, 13 October 2009, https://foreignpolicy.com/2009/10/13/what-is-a-gongo/ (Accessed 20 February 2019); Reza Hasmath, Timothy Hildebrandt and Jennifer Y J Hsu, "Conceptualizing Government-Organized Non-Governmental Organizations," Association for Research on Nonprofit Organizations and Voluntary Action Annual Conference, Washington DC, 2016, p. 20, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/310766970_Conceptualizing_Government-Organized_Non-Governmental_Organizations_in_International_Affairs (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 31 Josselin and Wallace, Non-State Actors in World Politics; Thomas Risse-Kappen, Bringing Transnational Relations Back In: Non-State Actors, Domestic Structures and International Institutions, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- 32 Çelik and İşeri, "Islamically Oriented Humanitarian NGOs in Turkey."
- 33 James Pamment and Karin Gwinn Wilkins, Communicating National Image through Development and Diplomacy: The Politics of Foreign Aid, Cham: Springer, 2018.
- 34 Interview with Serdar Eryılmaz, Aziz Mahmut Hüdayi Foundation, İstanbul, 10 January 2019.
- 35 Interview with Bilal Vardı, Beşir Foundation, İstanbul, 10 January 2019.
- 36 Russell Solomon, "Niche Diplomacy: Middle Powers after the Cold War," *Political Science*, Vol. 50, No. 2 (1999), pp. 312-314; Andrew F. Cooper, *Niche Diplomacy: Middle Powers after the Cold War*, Cham: Springer, 2016.
- 37 Gizem Sucuoğlu and Jason Stearns, "Turkey in Somalia: Shifting Paradigms of Aid," South African Institute of International Affairs, 2016, http://cic.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/publication_turkey_somalia_shifting_paradigms_aid_sucouglu_stearns_final_web.pdf (Accessed 20 February 2019).
- 38 "Virtuous Power New Defense Doctrine: Turkish President," Hürriyet Daily News, 6 April 2012, http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/virtuous-power-new-defense-doctrine-turkish-president.aspx?pageID=238&nID=17784&NewsCatID=338 (Accessed 20 February 2019).

- 39 Senem B. Çevik, Efe Sevin and Banu Baybars-Hawks, "State–Civil Society Partnerships in International Aid and Public Diplomacy: The Case of Turkey and Somalia, in James Pamment and Karin Gwinn Wilkins (eds.), *Communicating National Image through Development and Diplomacy*, Cham: Springer, 2018, p. 170.
- 40 Özkan, "The Turkish Way."

BOOK REVIEW

Russia-EU Relations and the Common Neighborhood: Coercion vs. Authority

By Irina Busygina

London and New York: Routledge, 2018, 228 pages, ISBN: 9781138215467 / 9781315443966 (e-book)

Irina Busygina, who currently works in the Department of Applied Politics at National Research University Higher School of Economics in St. Petersburg, studies comparative politics, regional politics, Russian foreign policy and EU-Russia relations. Her recent book is an exceptional one in terms of both her analysis of forms of power and power relations in global politics. Also, the application of this theoretical analysis to Russia-EU relations in the context of a common neighborhood makes it a novel one. The structure of the book provides an easy-reading framework as the first chapter gives the necessary theoretical background to the readers. Thus, it facilitates an understanding of the next four chapters on the formation and main practices of the EU and Russian foreign policy. The last four chapters distinguish four cases by focusing on the common neighborhood countries as an area of competition between Russia and the EU.

As major powers of international relations, the EU and Russia adopt different modes of behavior in their foreign policies. According to Busygina, both actors are not status quo powers, which means that the ultimate borders of these entities are not clear. However, they differ in the application of their foreign policies. The EU employs the *power of authority* while Russia employs the *power of coercion*. In David Lake's formulation, countries using relational authority construct their relations over three pillars: legitimacy, voluntariness and commitments. On this basis, the subordinate surrenders its freedom to a certain amount in exchange for a political order that is created and maintained by the superordinate. However, countries using coercive authority prefer either to use force or the threat of force, which also includes the use of economic sanctions. Busygina, unfolding her theoretical framework, proves that using coercion in Russia's foreign policy is quite optimal since state-building and nation-building followed the market reforms of the Yeltsin era. Russia, differing itself as a *sovereign democracy* from other democracies, determined an oppositional stand against the West (the U.S. and the EU). Thus, Russia became the only global defender of conservative values, which embraces service (*sluzhenie*) to higher goals as its main purpose rather than consumption. Although these assumptions of the Russian ruling elite do not correspond to Russian reality, the author states that they were enough to obtain necessary public support for Russia's coercive foreign policy maneuvers in Georgia (2008), Crimea (2014), Eastern Ukraine (since 2014) and recently in Syria since September 2015.

The EU, as an unconventional power, has a multilateral authority system which necessitates sharing authority across an institutionalized, hierarchically-structured set of actors. Decision-making by consensus gives each member veto power and places constraints on foreign policy. Busygina, in this respect, refers to the EU's structural limitations in taking tangible external action against Russian ambitions in Caucasus, Ukraine and so on. However, the EU prefers relational power in its foreign relations, especially in the case of close neighborhood countries, through mechanisms such as the Black Sea Synergy, the Middle East Process, the Northern Dimension, the European Neighborhood Policy and the Eastern Partnership. The existence of Russia as the former leader of the socialist camp worried Eastern European countries and made it easier for the EU to launch authority-type Europeanization. Following the enlargements of 2004 and 2007, the conditionality principle acquired special importance as the Union got closer to Russian borders and target countries felt Russian coercive power within earshot. Moreover, new members joined the Union with the fifth enlargement, implementing intensive pressure within the Union to have special relations with the Eastern neighbors. Thus, the ENP (European Neighborhood Policy) was launched after the 2004 enlargement to export good governance, democratic governance and decentralization to countries in Eastern Europe, in the Caucasus, Middle East and North Africa. However, targeting this large geographic area and its many countries made it clear that this move was not for enlargement but rather for a double-edge sword of a prize. Furthermore, Busygina states that the basic rationale behind the EU's concern here was to gain greater security without paying a heavy price after 2004's unprecedented enlargement.

Eventually from March 2014 onwards, EU-Russia relations were based on mutual coercion since Russia annexed Crimea, located in the area of the Common Neighborhood (CN) of both powers. CN, consisting of Ukraine, Moldova, Belarus, Armenia, Azerbaijan and Georgia, emerged as an area of competition to which both powers needed access in terms of their economic relations and their value in forming a coalition to reach great power status. However, once more the 'desired future' presented by Russia and the EU are incompatible. The EU aims to attract these countries by offering them economic and political cooperation without the 'golden carrot' of membership. Thus, the EU expects instability during the first phase of Europeanization and stability in the aftermath.

On the contrary, Russia expects assurances of 'eternal love' from CN countries and follows a policy of 'managed instability' in case eternal love is not forthcoming. In order to bring a target country in line, Russia's ruling elite can apply many instruments, ranging from providing financial support or imposing trade embargos, to energy supply interruptions, manipulation using pricing policy, leveraging existing energy debts, creating new energy debts, and hostile takeovers of companies.

Busygina, making her work distinct from others, states that authority cannot be a response to coercion, while coercion can be a response to authority, at least in the short run. In fact, she believes that this is a competition between two rival narratives. For her, the EU's relational authority cannot be an answer to Russia's coercive power and this is proven by the annexation of Crimea, changing the rules of the competition radically.

After bringing forward the theoretical framework and the stance of the EU and Russia in their foreign policies, the author devotes the next four chapters to four country cases: Belarus, Georgia, Ukraine, and Turkey.

Belarus seems an exceptional case among CN countries as a country free from major crisis with Russia. However, the author maintains that this is not something given, but only an imitation of relational authority. The country is bound by economic, military and energy relations with Russia and the EU has almost no *points of entry* due to Russian influence. Georgia and Ukraine, which are exposed to direct Russian military intervention in their territories and even lost South Ossetia, Abkhazia and Crimea respectively, experienced coercion as their main means of interaction with Russia. The possibility that color revolutions would create a domino effect in CN directed Russia to apply coercion against the EU's relational power initiatives such as signing the AAs. Especially in the case of Ukraine, for Russia there is no such strategically important country perhaps within the whole post-Soviet space due to energy transfer lines and the presence of the Russian Black Sea Fleet in Crimea.

Turkey differs from the other countries in the study. Thanks to its territorial size, key geographic location, and economic and military capabilities, both Russia and the EU are aware of their limits in attempting to establish authority type relations with Turkey. That is why Russia pursues a selective use of coercion, while Turkey defines EU membership as its final goal, although both the EU and Turkish leaders are very well aware of its impracticability. Nevertheless, the unique position of the country between the EU and Russia gives it the chance to play between them.

Adnan Seyaz

PhD, Lecturer

Kırklareli University, Department of International Relations

Style and Format

Articles submitted to the journal should be original contributions. If another version of the article is under consideration by another publication, or has been or will be published elsewhere, authors should clearly indicate this at the time of submission. Manuscripts should be submitted to: e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr The final decision on whether the manuscript is accepted for publication in the Journal or not is made by the Editorial Board depending on the anonymous referees' review reports.

A standard length for PERCEPTIONS articles is 6,000 to 8,000 words including endnotes. The manuscript should begin with an indented and italicised summary up to 150 words, which should describe the main arguments and conclusions, and 5-7 keywords, indicating to main themes of the manuscript. A title page should be attached to the manuscript, including the title of the manuscript, full name (s) of the authors, academic and/or other professional affiliations if any, complete mailing address, fax and phone numbers of the author to whom proofs and correspondence should be sent. The author is also expected to give a brief biography in a footnote at the beginning of the article. Perceptions also publishes reviews of new books or reports; 'book reviews' are usually around 700-1,500-words."

Manuscripts should be single-spaced written by Times New Roman regular font, 11 point throughout. Justified margins; top and bottom 3 cm, left and right 2.4 cm are required. Manuscripts should be numbered consecutively throughout the paper. Only the first letters of title words should be 'upper case'. Quotations should be placed within double quotation marks ("....."). Quotations larger than four lines should be indented at left margin and single-spaced. Use endnotes and avoid bibliography. British punctuation and spelling should be used throughout. Dates should be in the form 3 November 1996; 1995-1998; and 1990s. All diagrams, charts and graphs should be referred to as figures and consecutively numbered. Tables should be kept to a minimum and contain only essential data. Each figure and table must be given an Arabic numeral, followed by a heading, and be referred to in the text. Appropriate places of tables should be indicated in the text and tables should be submitted in a separate file. If copyrighted material is used in the article, it is the author's responsibility to obtain permission from the copyright holder.

Names of the authors, places and the publishing houses are required to be written in their original forms. The styles of the references in endnotes should conform the following examples:

Books

John Smith, The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. John E. Smith (ed.), The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, pp. 100-102. John Smith and Mary Jones, The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, The Book Title, p. 100. In endnotes 'Ibid.' should be used where possible, but it should not be used where the previous note contains more than one source.

Articles in Journals

John Smith, "Article Title", Journal Name, Vol. #, No. # (Month Year), p. #. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, "Article Title", p. #.

Articles in Edited Books

John Smith, "Article Title", in Mary Jones (ed.), Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100.

Newspaper Articles

Christopher Hooton, "Japan is Turning Its Abandoned Golf Courses into Solar Power Plants", The Independent, 21 July 2015.

Manuscript References

PRO King's Remembrancer's Memoranda Roll, E159/69, m. 78. BM Add. MS 36042, fo.2 (plural fos.). Four-figure numerals without comma or space: 2572. Titles of other record repositories, and names of collections of papers, in full in first reference: Scottish Record Office (hereafter SRO), Airlie Papers, GD 16, section 38/82, April 5, 1844. Compton Papers, kept at the estate office of the Marquess of Northampton, Castle Ashby (hereafter CA), bdle. 1011, no.29.

Official Papers

Parliamentary Papers: Select Committee on Manufacturers (Parl. Papers, 1833, VI), 0.456. Subsequent references as: SC on ... (PP, 1839, VII), 00.2347. Hansard (Commons), 4th ser. XXXVI, 641–2, 22 Aug, 1895.

Theses

For titles of published and unpublished theses use italics: John E. Smith, Title of Thesis, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Name of the University, Year, Chapter #, p. #

Internet References

Azam Ahmed and Julie Hirschfeld Davis, "U.S. and Cuba Reopen Long-Closed Embassies", The New York Times, 20 July 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/2015/07/21/world/americas/cuba-us-em-bassy-diplomatic-relations.html?ref=world&_r=0 (Accessed 21 July 2017).

Title of Book Reviews

Türk Basınında Dış Habercilik (Foreign News Reporting in the Turkish Media), by M. Mücahit Küçükyıl-maz and Hakan Çopur. Ankara: SETA, 2010, 168 pages, ISBN 9786054023073.



